# DISSERTATION

An Urban Geomorphic Assessment of the Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek Watersheds in San Jose, California

> Submitted by: Brett Jordan Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

> > In partial fulfillment of the requirements For the Degree Doctor of Philosophy Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado Spring 2009

UMI Number: 3374671

# INFORMATION TO USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleed-through, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

# UMI®

UMI Microform 3374671 Copyright 2009 by ProQuest LLC All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

#### COLORADO STATE UNIVERSITY

March 28, 2008

WE HEREBY RECOMMEND THAT THE DISSERTATION PREPARED UNDER OUR SUPERVISION BY BRETT JORDAN ENTITLED AN URBAN GEOMORPHIC ASSESSMENT OF THE BERRYESSA AND UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK WATERSHEDS IN SAN JOSE, CALIFORNIA BE ACCEPTED AS FULFILLING IN PART REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY.

Committee on Graduate Work

Dr. William K. Annable

Dr. Pierre Y. Julier

lu lo

Dr. Ellen E. Wohl,

Dr. Chester C. Watson

(Advisor)

Dr. Luis A. Garcia

(Department Head)

# **ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION**

# AN URBAN GEOMORPHIC ASSESSMENT OF THE BERRYESSA AND UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK WATERSHEDS IN SAN JOSE, CALIFORNIA

A paired watershed study for two adjacent urbanized watersheds in San Jose, California was conducted to investigate vastly different channel morphologic response to urbanization and valley subsidence. The urbanized portion of Berryessa Creek (15.5 km<sup>2</sup>) exhibits system-wide channel instability, meanwhile Upper Penitencia Creek (61.3 km<sup>2</sup>) has remained stable despite similar urban build out trends. Currently, there is a paucity of field measurements documenting channel response to urbanization and subsidence in the academic literature. Detailed geomorphic field surveys were undertaken to establish 90 permanent cross sections over 9.2 km of urban channel. These surveys were used for sediment transport modeling in this study and will provide a permanent monitoring network. Historic data sources were utilized to establish a baseline context and chronicle change in the watersheds. The historic data sources, field data, and numerical modeling were used to investigate the relative effects of hydrologic alteration, valley subsidence, and river infrastructure on water yield, sediment yield, and channel stability.

Drainage area capture by the urban storm sewer network, a component of urbanization that has not previously been addressed in the scientific literature, and engineered river infrastructure elements are the primary causes of system-wide channel instability in the urbanized valley portion of Berryessa Creek. Hydrologic and sediment transport modeling indicates that drainage area capture and urban land use change has increased water yield 48% and sediment yield up to 61% from 76 to 121 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>. These hydrologic changes have transformed historically depositional reaches into incised reaches leading to system wide instability. An on-line sedimentation basin and a 1.85 m grade-control structure have reduced downstream sediment yield by 15% from 88 to 76 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> and increased channel incision rates by capturing coarse bed material in transport. Models indicate that measured valley subsidence of 0.23 m results in upstream incision, however sediment yield is not affected and the morphologic response to subsidence is likely obscured by current instability processes dominant in the system.

In the current hydrologic regime of Upper Penitencia Creek, flow diversion and basin reduction by the storm sewer network offset increased runoff produced by the urban landscape and channel stability is not adversely affected by the hydrologic alteration. Water yield is increased by 7%, however sediment yield is reduced by 4% from 41.7 to 39.8 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> at the outlet. River infrastructure in the form of a system of small grade-control structures aids in the stability of the upstream reaches. Valley subsidence of 1.1 m is predicted to cause incision that would progress 1800 m upstream of the zone of maximum subsidence. Modeling results were verified by reach-scale instability observed upstream of the subsidence zone. The reach scale instability is a result of increase stream power resulting from valley subsidence and channel realignment.

Brett Jordan Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering Colorado State University Fort Collins, CO 80523 Spring 2009

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to thank Dr. Chester Watson, my advisor, for the opportunity to make this happen. Dr. Watson has always given me the freedom to explore new ideas and concepts, while providing valuable direction in focusing my efforts. It has been a pleasure to work with you over the years. Your guidance, direction, encouragement, and insight have made this a great experience.

A special thanks is due to Dr. William K. Annable, who secured the funding with the Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD) to study these streams. He provided the primary direction on field data collection procedures and played a pivotal role in gathering the survey data provided in this study. Without Bill this work would not have happened. In addition to his mentorship in fluvial geomorphology, I appreciate his friendship and humor, which made long days in the field a fun adventure rather than toilsome labor. Thanks Bill for making this possible.

I would also like to thank Dr. Pierre Julien and Dr. Ellen Wohl for their valuable insight and thoughtful review of this study. Your expertise on the subject matter is much appreciated.

During my years at Colorado State University I have had the privilege of working with an amazing group of people particularly at the Engineering Research Center. This opportunity has allowed me to form friendships and professional contacts that will last a lifetime. These people include Mark Velleux, Gloria Garza, Christopher Cuhaciyan, Max Shih, Dave Dust, Kevin Knuuti, Tim Straub, Blair Hurst, Barry Tanaka, Kent Walker, David Mooney, Jason Albert, Jamis Darrow and many others.

David Mooney and Blair Greimann developed the sediment transport tools utilized in the study and were very helpful in answering questions and modifying code if necessary.

This was a field based study and many friendships were formed during the field seasons. The SCVWD staff, University of Waterloo, and outside consulting staff who worked with us through the years have been fantastic. Their enthusiasm for the project and expertise made for many great days in the field, particularly the long days of long profile surveying and bulk sediment sampling! How many metric tonnes of material did we sample? There must be a new headcut out there somewhere. Hard work is best when shared in good company and followed by good beer afterwards. My field cohorts include Bill Annable, Chester Watson, Terry Ridgeway, Rob Vandenberg, Justin Pierce, Kevin Sibley, Robert Cooper, Dipankar Sen, Hilary Ewing, and countless others who share the river ethic.

I would also like to thank my immediate and extended family. They have encouraged me through the entire process and have always been there as a support group. Thanks Mom, Dad, Chris, Kris, Ed, Barb, Harold, Georganne, and Joe.

I have to give props to my animals, no one has more patience for their friend to sit and peck away at a computer all day than a good dog. Thanks Wes, Adam, Bobby, Lou (the cat), Grace and Breeze (our fine steeds).

Lastly, I want to thank my beautiful wife Barb. She knows more than anyone else all the hard work, heart and soul that have gone into this project (and she knows where bankfull is!). She has been there through it all, when we started this "back to school" adventure many moons ago to the creation and completion of this manuscript. Without her love, friendship and support I could not have done it. Writing a dissertation can be a long and lonely road and she was there with me every step of the way. Barb, you are the greatest joy in my life.

This dissertation is dedicated to my mother and father. Their love knows no bounds.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURESxi
LIST OF TABLESxvii
1.0 RESEARCH NEEDS AND OBJECTIVES
1.1 Research needs
1.2 Research objectives
1.3 Site introduction
1.4 Dissertation organization
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Hydrologic changes due to urbanization
2.2.1 Physical changes to the watershed landscape
2.2.2 Storm scale effects
2.2.3 Inter-annual to decadal scale effects
2.2.4 The role of catchment characteristics
2.2.5 Baseflow effects
2.3 Geomorphic implications of urbanization
2.3.1 Overland sediment supply and delivery
2.3.2 Stream channel geomorphic response
2.4 Thresholds and biotic response to urbanization
2.5 Subsidence effects
2.6 Literature review summary
3.0 DESKTOP DATA COLLECTION AND MORPHOMETRIC ANALYSIS 28
3.1 Desktop data collected

3.2	Vall	ey subsidence analysis	29
3.3	Hist	oric longitudinal profile data	34
3.4	Aeri	al photograph and topographic map time series analysis	
	3.4.1	Planform measurements of time series aerial photographs	
	3.4.2	Time series urbanization analysis	53
	3.4.3	Time series analysis of drainage network structure	55
3.5	Tect	tonic setting	61
3.6	Stre	am gage and rainfall data collected by other agencies	64
	3.6.1	Historic stream gage data	64
	3.6.2	Rainfall data	64
3.7	Sum	nmary of desktop Analysis	65
4.0	URBA	AN GEOMORPHIC ASSESSMENT FIELD DATA	69
41	Inter	advation (	60
4.1	Intro		
4.2	Prei	situdia di una fila sussenza	70
4.5	Lon		12
4.4		Surveys	75 75
	4.4.1	Survey procedures	75
	4.4.2	Channel cross section cut and fill analysis.	
	4.4.3	Bankfull channel characteristics	85
4.5	Resi	istance estimates	
4.6	Bed	material gradation data	
	4.6.1	Pebble count sampling	
	4.6.2	Bulk sediment sampling	
4.7	Stre	am bank characterization	
	4.7.1	Bank stratigraphy and vegetation inventory	96
	4.7.2	Bank geometry and stability survey	
	4.7.3	Bank rod database	101
	4.7.4	Bank-material gradation	103
4.8	Stre	amflow and sediment transport measurement	106
4.9	Stor	m sewer culvert inventory	113
4.10	) Sum	mary of field data collection efforts	114

5.0		FLON BERR	V REGIME CHANGES DUE TO URBANIZATION FOR THE EYESSA AND UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK WATERSHEDS	.117
5.	.1	Intro	duction	. 117
5.	.2	Mod	el development	.118
5.	3	Mod	el calibration	. 121
5.	.4	Qua	ntification of flow regime changes	. 123
	5	5.4.1	Berryessa Creek	. 123
	5	5.4.2	Upper Penitencia Creek	. 132
5.	.5	Sum	mary of hydrologic modeling results	. 142
6.0	2	SEDI	MENT TRANSPORT MODELING	. 146
6.	.1	Intro	duction	. 146
6.	.2	Mod	eling tools	. 148
	e	5.2.1	Hydraulic modeling (HEC-RAS)	. 148
	e	5.2.2	SIAM	. 148
	6	5.2.3	Continuous hydraulic and sediment transport modeling GSTARS-1D.	. 150
6.	.3	Sedi	ment transport model geometry	. 151
6.	.4	Sedi	ment transport reaches	. 157
6.	.5	Strea	am bed material parameterization	. 165
6.	.6	Hyd	rologic model input data	. 167
	e	5.6.1	Continuous simulation hydrographs	. 167
	e	5.6.2	Continuous simulation lateral inflows and outflows	. 169
	e	5.6.3	Annual flow duration relationships	. 170
6.	.7	Sedi	ment supply	. 173
	e	5.7.1	Upstream watershed sediment supply	. 173
	e	5.7.2	Inter-reach sediment supply	. 174
6.	.8	Vall	ey subsidence rates	. 176
6.	9	Sedi	ment transport equation selection	. 178
6.	.10	Sedi	ment transport Modeling results	. 182
	6	5.10.1	Comparison of existing conditions models to field observations	. 183
	6	5.10.2	Investigation of hydrologic changes due to urbanization	. 189
	e	5.10.3	Investigation of the effects of valley subsidence on channel stability	. 197

	6.10.4 Sediment transport investigation into the effects of urban channel stability	infrastructure on 205
6.1	1 Summary points from the sediment transport analysis	
7.0	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS.	
7.1	Conclusions	
7.2	Unique contributions provided by this research	
7.3	Recommendations for future research	
8.0	REFERENCES	
Appen	dix A	
Appen	dix B	
Appen	dix C	

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

.

Figure 1.1	General site map of Upper Penitencia and Berryessa Creeks, San Jose, California	5
Figure 2.1	Expected changes in mean annual discharge as a function of watershed imperviousness and storm sewer coverage (from Leopold (1968))	10
Figure 2.2	Hypothetical unit hydrographs and changes expected from urbanization processes (from Leopold (1968)).	11
Figure 2.3	Relation of centroid lag time to length slope index for basins with varying degrees of storm sewer infrastructure (from Anderson (1968)).	12
Figure 2.4	Cycle of land-use changes, sediment yield, and channel behavior (from Wolman (1967)).	18
Figure 2.5	Left: Relationship between stream health (Benthic index of Biological Integrity (B-IBI) and urban development (percent total impervious area (TIA). Right: Recommended management strategy (from Booth <i>et al.</i> (2004)).	21
Figure 2.6	Anticipated geomorphic response of varying channel types to subsidence modified from (Ouchi 1985 and Schumm <i>et al.</i> 2000)	24
Figure 3.1	Subsidence from 1934 to 1967 in Santa Clara Valley, California (modified after Poland and Ireland (1988))	31
Figure 3.2	Time sequence of valley subsidence from 1934-1969 for the Santa Clara Valley, California (from Poland and Ireland (1988))	32
Figure 3.3	Base level subsidence profile for Berryessa Creek.	33
Figure 3.4	Base level subsidence profile for Upper Penitencia Creek.	33
Figure 3.5	Historic longitudinal profiles for Berryessa Creek	36
Figure 3.6	Historic and current longitudinal profiles for Upper Penitencia Creek	37
Figure 3.7	Large scale planform changes for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek from 1899 to present	39
Figure 3.8	Channel realignment on Upper Penitencia Creek in the vicinity of the Interstate I-680 crossing.	41
Figure 3.9	Meander metrics used for aerial photograph measurements (from Federal Interagency Stream Restoration Working Group (FISRWG) (1998)).	43
Figure 3.10	Valley trend and meander belt width conceptualization (from Annable (1996)).	44

Figure 3.11	Meander amplitude and valley trend schematic	44
Figure 3.12	Meander arc length and wavelength schematic	44
Figure 3.13	Sinuosity changes from 1939 to 2004 for Berryessa Creek	47
Figure 3.14	Meander belt width changes from 1939 to 2004 for Berryessa Creek.	48
Figure 3.15	Sinuosity changes from 1939 to 2004 for Upper Penitencia Creek	50
Figure 3.16	Channel incision in reach 2 of Upper Penitencia Creek upstream of the I-680 crossing	50
Figure 3.17	Meander belt width changes from 1939 to 2004 for Upper Penitencia Creek	51
Figure 3.18	Observed vs. sine-generated radius of curvature for Berryessa Creek.	53
Figure 3.19	Observed vs. sine-generated radius of curvature for Upper Penitencia Creek	53
Figure 3.20	Urbanization time series from 1899 to 2002	55
Figure 3.21	Berryessa Creek watershed with the historic topographic and current effective catchments delineated.	58
Figure 3.22	Upper Penitencia Creek watershed with the historic topographic and current effective catchments delineated.	59
Figure 3.23	Channel widening observed downstream of Crosley Creek culvert on Berryessa Creek	60
Figure 3.24	Channel headcut observed downstream of Crosley Creek culvert on Berryessa Creek	60
Figure 3.25	Hayward fault map for the San Francisco Bay region (from USGS Earthquake hazard mapping website).	62
Figure 3.26	Sedimentation basin constructed on Berryessa Creek at the upland to valley transition portion of the watershed	63
Figure 3.27	Sediment dredging records for the Berryessa Creek sedimentation basin immediately downstream of Piedmont Avenue	63
Figure 4.1	Surveyed cross-section location map of Berryessa Creek	71
Figure 4.2	Surveyed cross-section location map of Upper Penitencia Creek	71
Figure 4.3	2004 longitudinal profile survey of Berryessa Creek	73
Figure 4.4	2004 longitudinal profile survey of Upper Penitencia Creek	74
Figure 4.5	Plan view layout of cross-section transects	76
Figure 4.6	Aggradation or degradation rate from 2004 to 2006 as a function of river station for Upper Penitencia Creek	78

Figure 4.7	Aggradation or degradation rate from 2004 to 2006 as a function of river station for Berryessa Creek	78
Figure 4.8	Time series photographs and cross section survey data for GCS 18 near river station 2450 m on Upper Penitencia Creek	80
Figure 4.9	Probability distributions for the Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek cross section erosion and deposition measurements	84
Figure 4.10	Cumulative distributions for the Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek cross section erosion and deposition measurements	84
Figure 4.11	Surface bed material as a function of river station for Berryessa Creek bends and riffles	89
Figure 4.12	Surface bed material as a function of river station for Upper Penitencia Creek bends and riffles	90
Figure 4.13	Bulk sediment-sampling locations for a typical riffle	92
Figure 4.14	Combined pavement, sub-pavement, and pebble count gradations for Berryessa cross-section 25	93
Figure 4.15	Bulk bed material sampling data as a function of river station for Berryessa Creek	94
Figure 4.16	Bulk bed material sampling data as a function of river station for Upper Penitencia Creek	95
Figure 4.17	Bank stratigraphy survey photograph from Berryessa Creek cross- section 16	96
Figure 4.18	Measured bank heights and angles for stable and unstable bends	100
Figure 4.19	Bank height ratio as a function of bank angle for bends and incised stream banks on Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks	101
Figure 4.20	Bank rod and cross section measurements of bank retreat and deposition for Berryessa Creek.	102
Figure 4.21	Bank rod and cross section measurements of bank retreat and deposition for Upper Penitencia Creek.	103
Figure 4.22	Stream bank on Berryessa Creek with bank-material gradation varying with stratigraphic unit.	104
Figure 4.23	Photograph grid utilized to visually determine bank-material gradation.	105
Figure 4.24	Example of bank toe armoring by failed coarse bank material, Upper Penitencia Creek	105
Figure 4.25	Sediment rating curve for Berryessa Creek upstream of the Piedmont Road crossing (river station 1750 m)	109
Figure 4.26	Sediment rating curve for Berryessa Creek near the pedestrian bridge crossing (river station 800 m).	109

Figure 4.27	Sediment rating curve for Upper Penitencia Creek near the Piedmont Road crossing (river station 4508 m)110
Figure 4.28	Sediment rating curve for Upper Penitencia Creek near the crossing near Berryessa Industrial Park (river station 10 m)
Figure 4.29	Sediment rating curves for all data on Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 5.1	Predicted vs. observed storm peak for calibration storms
Figure 5.2	Predicted vs. observed storm volume for calibration storms
Figure 5.3	Berryessa Creek current (effective) catchment and historic (topographic) catchment
Figure 5.4	Flow duration curve for Berryessa Creek below the Sweigert Creek storm sewer outfall
Figure 5.5	Flow duration curve for Berryessa Creek below the Crosley Creek storm sewer outfall
Figure 5.6	Simulated runoff below the Crosley Creek outfall on Berryessa Creek for a storm occurring January 14, 2006
Figure 5.7	Percent increase in flood peak as function of discharge for Berryessa Creek below the Crosley storm sewer outfall
Figure 5.8	Percent increase in flood volume as function of discharge for Berryessa Creek below the Crosley storm sewer outfall
Figure 5.9	Upper Penitencia Creek current (effective) catchment and historic (topographic) catchment
Figure 5.10	Hydrographs for the Dorel and Piedmont gaging locations during a March 25, 2006 storm event
Figure 5.11	Hydrographs for the Dorel, Piedmont, and Berryessa Industrial Park gaging stations for a storm occurring April 4, 2006
Figure 5.12	Flow duration relationship simulated for the Piedmont Avenue gaging location
Figure 5.13	Flow duration relationship simulated for the Berryessa Industrial Park gaging location
Figure 5.14	Percentage increase or decrease in flood peak as a function of discharge for the Berryessa Industrial Park gaging site at the outlet of Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 5.15	Percentage increase or decrease in flood volume as a function of discharge for the Berryessa Industrial Park gaging site at the outlet of Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 6.1	Conceptual longitudinal profile for the historic Berryessa Creek sediment transport models

Figure 6.2	Planview of the geometric infrastructure of Berryessa Creek at the upland/valley interface
Figure 6.3	Drop structure location map of Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 6.4	Slope of the measured bankfull stage and drop structure inverts located on Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 6.5	Slope of the measured bankfull stage and drop structure invert on Berryessa Creek
Figure 6.6	Sediment transport reaches for Berryessa Creek16
Figure 6.7	Sediment transport reaches for Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 6.8	Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek field estimated bankfull cross section dimensions figure adapted from (Dunne and Leopold 1978)
Figure 6.9	Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek field estimates of bankfull discharge Figure adapted from (Dunne and Leopold 1978)164
Figure 6.10	Annual maximum flood frequency analysis for Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 6.11	Berryessa Creek bed material pavement gradations upstream and downstream of the constructed sediment basin
Figure 6.12	Frequency analysis of storm events at the San Jose airport rainfall gage from water years 1934 to 2006
Figure 6.13	Example of clear water discharge from the Sweigert Creek culvert into Berryessa Creek
Figure 6.14	Bank failure on Berryessa Creek cross section 16-2 (Bank rod location marked with orange)
Figure 6.15	Overland sediment supply to Berryessa Creek for service road rill and gully formation
Figure 6.16	Base level subsidence profile for Berryessa Creek
Figure 6.17	Base level subsidence profile for Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 6.18	Modeled and observed values of erosion and deposition for Upper Penitencia Creek
Figure 6.19	Modeled and observed values of erosion and deposition for Berryessa Creek
Figure 6.20	Thalweg lowering due to subsidence along the Berryessa Creek longitudinal profile
Figure 6.21	Thalweg lowering due to subsidence along the Upper Penitencia Creek longitudinal profile202
Figure 6.22	Base-level, aggradation/degradation, and stream power trends due to subsidence and slope change on Upper Penitencia Creek

Figure 6.23	Incised reach upstream of I-680 Upper Penitencia Creek (approximate river station 2800 m)	205
Figure 6.24	Grade control structure and sedimentation basin present on Berryessa Creek	206
Figure 6.25	Examples of grade control structures located on Upper Penitencia Creek.	207
Figure 6.26	Gravel sediment yield changes downstream of the Berryessa Creek sediment basin predicted by GSTARS modeling	210

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1	Summary of desktop data	29
Table 3.2	Base-level lowering rates at the downstream extent of the field surveys for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks	32
Table 3.3	Valley trend reaches defined for planform analysis	45
Table 3.4	Changes in effective catchment area from 1899 to 2002 for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek	56
Table 3.5	Summary of rain gage data available in the vicinity of the study site.	65
Table 3.6	Urbanization summary for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks from 1899 to 2002.	66
Table 4.1	Aggradation and degradation statistics for Upper Penitencia and Berryessa Creeks from cut and fill analysis for 2004 to 2006 cross section data	83
Table 4.2	Bankfull characteristics using 3-year average values for Upper Penitencia and Berryessa Creeks	85
Table 4.3	Channel resistance (Manning's n) summary	86
Table 4.4	Sediment properties recorded in bank stratigraphy survey	97
Table 4.5	Stream bank summary data for Berryessa Creek.	98
Table 4.6	Stream bank summary data for Upper Penitencia Creek.	99
Table 4.7	Summary of the sediment rating curve regression coefficients for Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek	111
Table 5.1	Methods used HEC-HMS modeling.	118
Table 5.2	Summary of the sub-basin delineation for the HEC-HMS models	120
Table 5.3	Summary statistics for calibration storms common to both streams	123
Table 5.4	Summary of flood peaks and volumes for six calibration storms on Berryessa Creek accounting for increases in impervious area and drainage area capture	126
Table 5.5	Summary of flood peak and volume for the urbanized topographic drainage area and current urbanized drainage area on Berryessa Creek.	127
Table 5.6	Changes in water yield due to urbanization and effective catchment area changes on Berryessa Creek.	129

Table 5.7	Summary of flood peaks and volumes for six calibration storms on Upper Penitencia Creek accounting for increases in impervious area, drainage area reduction and flow diversion
Table 5.8	Summary of flood peak and volume for the urbanized topographic drainage area and current urbanized drainage area on Upper Penitencia Creek
Table 5.9	Changes in water yield due to urbanization and effective catchment area changes on Upper Penitencia Creek
Table 6.1	Sediment transport modeling scenarios147
Table 6.2	Sediment transport scenario comparison summary
Table 6.3	Historic longitudinal profile reaches for the Upper Penitencia Creek sediment transport models153
Table 6.4	Upper Penitencia drop structure summary
Table 6.5	Sediment reach summary characteristics for Berryessa Creek
Table 6.6	Sediment reach summary characteristics for Upper Penitencia Creek
Table 6.7	Sediment size gradations modeled in the GSTARS-1D and SIAM sediment transport models
Table 6.8	Flow duration relationship for Berryessa Creek
Table 6.9	Flow duration relationship for Upper Penitencia Creek
Table 6.10	Comparison of sediment transport relationship to collected sediment transport data
Table 6.11	Comparison of the Yang and Engelund and Hansen transport functions to measurement of cross section erosion or deposition
Table 6.12	Summary data for existing conditions model comparison to measured data on Upper Penitencia Creek
Table 6.13	Summary data for existing conditions model comparison to measured data on Berryessa Creek185
Table 6.14	Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the conceptual historic Berryessa Creek models
Table 6.15	Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the current geometry Berryessa Creek models
Table 6.16	Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the conceptual historic Upper Penitencia Creek models
Table 6.17	Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the current geometry Upper Penitencia Creek models
Table 6.18	Summary data from subsidence comparison for Berryessa Creek 199

Table 6.19	Summary data from subsidence comparison for Upper Penitencia Creek.	202
Table 6.20	Summary data from infrastructure comparison for Berryessa Creek.	207
Table 6.21	Summary data from infrastructure comparison for Upper Penitencia Creek	212
Table 6.22	Sediment yield summary for sediment transport modeling simulations.	215
Table 7.1	Summary of comparative watershed analysis.	222

## **1.0 RESEARCH NEEDS AND OBJECTIVES**

## 1.1 RESEARCH NEEDS

The deleterious effects of watershed urbanization on stream channel stability and stream corridor health are well documented in the literature (Wolman 1967, Leopold 1968, Hammer 1972, Morisawa and Laflure 1979, Booth 1990, Booth and Jackson 1997, Trimble 1997). However, measured data concerning the effects of urbanization on stream channel form are lacking (Bledsoe and Watson 2001). In a similar fashion, river response to valley subsidence has been studied conceptually from topographic mapping (Schumm *et al.* 2000) and with experimental flume studies (Ouchi 1985), but measured field data of stream channel response to valley subsidence is also lacking.

A unique comparative paired watershed case study of two adjacent stream channels in the Santa Clara Valley region of California provided an opportunity to study the relative effects of multi-faceted watershed urbanization and valley subsidence on channel form, stability and response. Berryessa (15.5 km<sup>2</sup>) and Upper Penitencia (61.3 km<sup>2</sup>) Creeks have similar innate watershed characteristics (i.e. surficial geology, soils, relief, and vegetation characteristics); however, urbanization processes have imposed distinctly different scenarios for each watershed with respect to drainage network manipulation, hydrologic change and engineering infrastructure. Additionally, historic valley subsidence, as a result of ground-water withdrawal has resulted in differing degrees of base-level lowering for each watershed.

This study couples field measurements and numerical modeling to provide a computational assessment of urbanization and valley subsidence on water and sediment delivery and flux processes. Investigations were conducted to deduce the relative effects of each component driving channel change or stability within the respective watersheds. The three primary methods of investigation utilized in this study were:

1. Time series aerial photo, topographic mapping and longitudinal profile analysis.

2. Field data collection; and

3. Numerical hydrologic and sediment transport modeling.

Numerical computational models were supplied with and validated by detailed field data collected by the investigating author including: stream channel cross-section, planview, and longitudinal profile data; urban infrastructure surveys; streambed and bank material gradation; stream bank stratigraphy and vegetative composition; continuous stream flow gaging; and bed load and suspended load sediment transport measurements. Both the Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek watersheds were studied at a high level of detail consistent with the methods outlined by Annable (1996), to properly characterize a stream channel in a state of urbanization. The end result of this study provides insight into the relative effects of multiple concurrent external forcing variables on stream channel response, particularly within an urban context. These results illustrate the fact that computational tools are most valuable if used in conjunction with rigorous field data-collection procedures and protocol.

#### **1.2 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES**

The research objectives of this study are as follows:

- 1. Perform a comparative analysis of the factors leading to channel instability and/or stability in two adjacent watersheds that have encountered vastly different morphologic response to urbanization despite similar upland watershed characteristics. This will be accomplished through historical data analysis, field observations and measurements, and numerical hydrologic and sediment transport modeling.
- 2. Investigate the relative effects of drainage area manipulation via the storm sewer network, increased imperviousness due to urbanization infill and flow diversion on typical storm hydrographs. The effects of the urban hydrologic changes on water yield, sediment yield, and channel stability will be quantified via numerical modeling for both streams.
- 3. Investigate the effect of valley subsidence on channel stability and sediment yield for both streams using numerical modeling, historic data sources and field observations.

#### **1.3 SITE INTRODUCTION**

A historical perspective of urban watershed land use, natural channel form, and anthropogenic changes to channel planform and profile is essential to understanding the present processes dictating the stability or degradation of an urban stream system. The sedimentation processes currently observed within both Berryessa (15.5 km<sup>2</sup>) and Upper

Penitencia (61.3 km<sup>2</sup>) Creeks are the result of land-use and channel changes made historically (Trimble 1981). This study combines the historical data available, detailed field data-collection efforts, and a numerical sediment continuity assessment to elucidate the reaches on both creeks that exhibit morphologically stable and unstable conditions.

Upper Penitencia Creek and Berryessa Creek are located in Santa Clara County, California (Figure 1.1). Both watersheds are tributary to the Coyote Creek watershed (826 km<sup>2</sup>), which ultimately drains to the San Francisco Bay. Both watersheds have similar basin relief, upland land use, geology, urbanization trends, and precipitation regimes. The basin relief for the upland portion of the watershed is 628 m and 933 m, for Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek respectively. The relief ratio, which is the total relief divided by the stream length is 0.076 m/m for Berryessa Creek and 0.072 m/m for Upper Penitencia Creek. Both watersheds were historically alluvial fan systems that have been anthropogenically manipulated along the valley floor to facilitate agricultural and urban development. Berryessa Creek has been subjected to channel realignment, engineering infrastructure, floodplain encroachment, and drainage area expansion via the urban storm sewer network, whereas Upper Penitencia Creek has remained relatively untouched within the bankfull channel and historic meander belt width floodplain since the early 1900s. Upper Penitencia Creek is supplied with a continuous base flow from an upstream reservoir and groundwater sources to support abundant vegetative growth. Peak flows have been extracted from the Upper Penitencia storm hydrographs since the late 1960s to supply groundwater percolation ponds that were built to halt valley subsidence due to agricultural ground water extraction. Primarily as a result of management practices, Upper Penitencia Creek has remained relatively stable, whereas Berryessa Creek has suffered severe erosion and sedimentation problems. In the summer of 2004, approximately 7,100 m<sup>3</sup> of sediment were dredged from two reaches of Berryessa Creek. Meanwhile, two fish ladders that are used on Upper Penitencia Creek for steelhead migration only needed 30 m<sup>3</sup> of sediment removed from the structure (Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD) 2004). The economic long-term maintenance benefits of geomorphic stable channel design are readily apparent.



Figure 1.1 General site map of Upper Penitencia and Berryessa Creeks, San Jose, California.

#### 1.4 DISSERTATION ORGANIZATION

This document is organized by data collection and analysis methods followed by the subsequent use of the data for hydrologic and sediment transport numerical simulation. Data collection will be broadly classified into desktop data, data that can be collected without stepping foot onto the site being investigated and field data collection. Chapter 2 presents a concise literature review on physical response of streams to urbanization and subsidence. Chapter 3 details the collection and analyses of desktop data sources. These data sources include; Geographic Information System (GIS) and Auto-cad morphometric analyses conducted via time series aerial photographs, local historic precipitation and stream flow gaging records, and engineered structure design data. Strom sewer construction design data were utilized to delineate the timing and extent of drainage area manipulation via the constructed urban storm sewer network. Chapter 4 presents all field data collected, including: preliminary reconnaissance data, longitudinal profiles, repeated monumented cross-section surveys, bed and bank material composition analysis; stream flow and sediment transport data; bank stability, vegetation and stratigraphy surveys; and culvert outfall inventories. Chapter 5 investigates the hydrologic changes to the historic flow regimes due to urbanization and groundwater percolation pond construction. Chapter 6 investigates the morphologic changes in both of the streams due to urbanization and valley subsidence via numerical sediment transport modeling. The dissertation concludes with Chapter 7: a concise summary of the findings related to the research objectives and proposed future research questions to be investigated with these data or other similar datasets.

## **2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 INTRODUCTION

Stream channels are dynamic and respond to alterations of water and sediment flux from their contributing watersheds with changes in longitudinal, cross-section, and planview form. Two primary alterations have occurred in the Santa Clara Valley region of California where both of the creeks being studied are located: urbanization and land subsidence. Urbanization is considered a land-use change, whereas subsidence is a topographic change in the land surface. Four effects of watershed land-use change (urbanization in this case) on watershed hydrology and stream response are (Leopold 1968):

- 1. Changes in peak flow characteristics;
- 2. Changes in total runoff volume;
- 3. Changes in water quality; and
- Changes in hydrologic amenities (appearance or impression the river leaves with the observer).

The first two address changes in water and sediment delivery to the channel system. The third point primarily affects chemical and biotic response. The fourth point indirectly addresses channel stability and biotic response.

Another driver of channel change in the streams being studied is valley subsidence. Land subsidence is associated with a lowering of valley base level and a subsequent increase in valley gradient for the streams. This change must be examined in addition to the urbanization processes to gain a complete understanding of channel changes occurring in the study area.

#### 2.2 HYDROLOGIC CHANGES DUE TO URBANIZATION

#### 2.2.1 PHYSICAL CHANGES TO THE WATERSHED LANDSCAPE

Urbanization is a multifaceted and permanent alteration of the watershed landscape. The alterations can be broadly classified as follows:

- 1. Surface alterations decreasing infiltration, increasing runoff, and increasing susceptibility to erosion
- 2. Increased routing efficiency of runoff waters to the stream channel
- 3. Drainage network extension via storm sewers
- 4. Increased drainage network density via storm sewers

As ground is cleared for construction, landscape vegetation, root structure and protective canopy are lost, making the exposed soil more prone to erosion and increasing sediment supply to the channel system thus leading to a period of channel aggradation (Wolman 1967, Leopold 1973, Graf 1975, Roberts 1989, Clark and Wilcock 2000, Grable and Harden 2006). This cleared ground is then paved for roads, driveways and sidewalks, creating an impermeable surface resulting in vastly increased runoff (Leopold 1968, Hammer 1972, Hollis and Luckett 1976, Neller 1988). The overland flow runoff waters are typically routed in a curb and gutter storm water system ultimately leading to a piped

storm sewer system. This system vastly increases runoff efficiency and reduces storm lag time (Hammer 1972, Graf 1975, Doyle *et al.* 2000). The storm sewer network also alters the overall catchment network through network extension (Swezey 1991) and increased catchment drainage density (Whitlow and Gregory 1989). These alterations to the watershed landscape result in significant changes in urban rainfall storm hydrographs and rapid changes in urban stream channel morphology.

#### 2.2.2 STORM SCALE EFFECTS

Two effects of urbanization frequently addressed in the literature are decreased lag time and increased magnitude of the flood hydrograph peak (Leopold 1968, Hollis 1975, Hollis and Luckett 1976, Knighton 1998). These effects can primarily be attributed to two factors: (1) the percentage of impervious area in an urbanized basin; and (2) the improved delivery efficiency due to the storm sewer network. Impervious areas will have essentially no infiltration capacity and the storm sewer and curb and gutter infrastructure provide a routing mechanism with much less resistance to flow than overland processes. The hydrologic effects of urbanization will depend on the basin characteristics, particularly basin length and slope as well as the soil characteristics of the basin. Some observers have found that watersheds with high runoff rates before urbanization will be least affected by the urbanization changes (Dunne and Leopold 1978). Conversely, Roberts (1989) found that channel enlargement was two times greater for "less permeable" watersheds when compared to "more permeable" ones. The flows with more frequent return intervals (bankfull and below) have been found to be the most affected (Hollis 1975, Doyle et al. 2000). A recurrence interval of 1.5 to 2 years on the annual maximum series would be expected to be 2 to 3 times as large for a fully urbanized drainage net (Hammer 1972, Hollis 1975, Hollis and Luckett 1976). Leopold (1968) plotted isopleths of the mean annual discharge (2.33 annual return frequency) for varying levels of imperviousness and storm sewer drainage (Figure 2.1) from earlier studies (Carter 1961, Wiitala 1961, Martens 1966, Wilson 1966, Espey *et al.* 1966, Anderson 1968). These indicate that a fully urbanized drainage area (50% impervious (Dunne and Leopold 1978)), with approximately 50% of the area serviced by storm sewers, would expect a two to three fold increase in the mean annual discharge. Larger floods with recurrence intervals in the range of 20 years are less intensified by the urbanized landscape, since overland and subsurface flow from completely saturated soils drowns out drainage efficiency and infiltration differences between urban and rural landscapes (Hollis and Luckett 1976).



Figure 2.1 Expected changes in mean annual discharge as a function of watershed imperviousness and storm sewer coverage (from Leopold (1968)).

A common hydrologic effect of watershed urbanization is a decrease in the storm hydrograph lag time (Anderson 1968, Leopold 1968, Knighton 1998, Byrom and Lahm 2004). The lag time is defined as the time interval between the center of mass of the rainfall hyetograph and the center of mass of the resulting storm hydrograph (Figure 2.2). The lag time is reduced with the increased routing efficiency of watersheds serviced by storm sewers and the decreased resistance to flow offered by impervious surfaces when compared to overland flow routing over natural areas. Decreases in centroid lag time have been found to be a function of drainage basin slope and runoff length (Figure 2.3), as well as the intensity of storm sewer construction in the basin (Anderson 1968). In fully developed and channelized basins, urban lag times could be expected to be 12 to 15% of the natural basin lag times. In partly developed basins, urban lag times were 20 to 25% of their natural counterparts.



Figure 2.2 Hypothetical unit hydrographs and changes expected from urbanization processes (from Leopold (1968)).



Figure 2.3 Relation of centroid lag time to length slope index for basins with varying degrees of storm sewer infrastructure (from Anderson (1968)).

#### 2.2.3 INTER-ANNUAL TO DECADAL SCALE EFFECTS

The annual flow regime is comprised of a culmination of all the yearly individual storm flows. It is this collection of flows along with the concomitant sediment loads and channel resilience that influence erosion and deposition processes as well as biotic function of a stream channel. Recent work by Konrad and Booth (2005) integrates stormscale effects into three stream flow metrics:

- 1.  $T_{Q Mean}$ : the fraction of time that stream flow exceeds the mean stream flow;
- 2. CV<sub>AMF</sub>: the coefficient of variation of annual maximum stream flow; and
- 3.  $T_{0.5}$ : the fraction of time that stream flow exceeds the 0.5-year flood.

They found that urban streams had low inter-annual variability of annual maximum stream flow and short durations of frequent high flows, when relating all variables to road density as a surrogate for urbanization in the Puget Sound area of Washington. A key point of the study was that the peak flow characteristics were significantly altered but the cumulative stream flow was not. Leopold (1968) had similar findings and attributed the lack of change in the cumulative duration to overbank floodplain storage. Konrad and Booth (2005) suggested that hillslope processes are altered for zero order basins as ground water storage and transmission are substituted for runoff, thereby affecting timing but not cumulative stream flow in the higher-order streams downstream. A caveat to this finding is offered for basins where water is imported to or exported from the basin. This is the case for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks.

Urbanization can be linked to increased frequency of storm events that mobilize the stream bed material. The benchmark field study for quantifying these hydrologic changes is Leopold's (1973) twenty-year study of Watts Branch near Rockville, Maryland. In this study, monumented cross sections and continuous stream gaging data were in place prior to, during and after significant watershed urbanization. The frequency of bankfull flood events increased from 2 per year prior to urbanization to 12 per year after urbanization. The increased frequency was not limited to the smaller bankfull events, larger storm events up to 4 times bankfull revealed similar trends with regard to frequency of occurrence. Surrogate methods to direct observation have been utilized by other researchers, Doyle et al. (2000) utilized incipient motion analysis and stream gaging data to compare the frequency of a critical discharge index (discharge where the median bed material is mobilized) for urban and rural streams. Their findings indicated that stream bed mobilizing events occur twice as frequently; 4 days per year compared to 2 days per year, for urbanized watersheds. Comparative watershed studies on small watersheds in New South Wales, Australia measured a four-fold increase in the frequency of runoff events for urban streams when compared to their rural counterparts (Neller 1988). Hydrologic modeling studies can also be used to quantify land use effects on urban hydrology and incorporated into frequency analysis (Booth 1990, Bledsoe and Watson 2001). The modeling studies revealed similar trends with regard to urban bankfull discharge frequency.

Long term impacts of urbanization on catchment hydrology have been investigated and compared with hydrologic changes induced by climate change. Statistical techniques were used by DeWalle *et al.* (2000) to differentiate the potential impacts of urbanization and climate change on mean annual stream flow in the United States. In their study, urbanization increased mean annual stream flow in proportion to population density increases, with up to a 100% increase for complete urbanization. These changes offset flow declines or augmented flow increases due to climate change alone. Fifty years of hydrologic, land use and climate data on Laurel Creek in Waterloo, Ontario indicated that the long-term runoff ratio computed as the ratio of storm event runoff to event precipitation increased marginally with a thousand-fold increase in urban land use (Morgan *et al.* 2004). However, long-term flood peaks did not substantially increase nor did flood recession time decrease due to increased urban drainage efficiency.

#### **2.2.4 THE ROLE OF CATCHMENT CHARACTERISTICS**

Catchment characteristics certainly play an important role in watershed response to urbanization. Watershed permeability was found to influence channel enlargement rates (Roberts 1989), with less permeable watersheds being more susceptible to channel enlargement. The Roberts (1989) study was conducted in the United Kingdom on perennial limestone and chalk (permeable) and sand or clay (impermeable) streams. Less permeable watersheds may be adjusted to floods with shorter return frequencies, which are preferentially affected by the urbanization (Hollis 1975, Knighton 1998). Studies in the Puget Sound area of the Pacific Northwest indicate that more permeable watersheds are adversely affected by urbanization as subsurface drainage is converted to surface drainage resulting in increased runoff peaks (Booth and Henshaw 2000).

Streams that include alluvial fan deposits in arid environments may be expected to respond quite differently than perennial streams in more humid environments (Schick *et al.* 1999, Chin and Gregory 2001). Arid streams typically have a large upstream sediment supply and unstable banks (Leopold and Miller 1956) resulting in relatively high bedload and suspended load sediment concentration. Although extreme events may be relatively infrequent, occurring less than 5% of the time for the total flow regime, they can transport up to 65% of the total sediment load (Garcia 1995). Adjustment processes and recovery times to these extreme events are usually much longer for ephemeral channels than channels in more humid environments (Wolman and Gerson 1978, Chin and Gregory 2001). These aspects make linkages between channel form and process more complex in arid environments than humid environments, where more consistent spatial and temporal adjustments of channel form to hydrologic and sediment supply regimes are the norm (Graf 1983, Rhoads 1988).

Numerous investigations have shown that urbanization has a stronger impact on catchment hydrology for smaller basins than larger basins (Hammer 1972, Hollis and Luckett 1976, Booth 1990, Booth and Henshaw 2000). This is partially due to the
dampening effects on runoff processes present in larger drainages and the susceptibility of smaller drainages to relatively subtle changes in runoff, particularly if flow concentration occurs at point outfalls in the stream channel (Gregory et al. 1992, Booth and Henshaw 2000).

### 2.2.5 BASEFLOW EFFECTS

The effects of urbanization on base flow characteristics are variable. Base flows have been found to decrease due to a reduction in ground water storage resulting from the reduced infiltration on impervious land (Sawyer 1963, Simmons and Reynolds 1982, Rose and Peters 2001, Konrad and Booth 2002). Other researchers have found no effect or increases in base flow due to urbanization (Lerner 1986, Lerner 2002, Meyer 2005, White and Greer 2006). Base flow increases have been attributed to water importation, ground water surcharge from leaky water supply and stormwater systems, and effluent releases (Lerner 2002). Base flows have been found to be unaffected by urbanization in watersheds with high relief and low permeability (Meyer 2005). Baseflow modifications also depend on the seasonality of the precipitation regime. Utilizing road density as a surrogate for urbanization Konrad and Booth (2005) found urbanization to be inversely correlated with unit area base flow for the wet season in the western Washington area, whereas no trend was found during the dry season. The effects of urbanization on base flow characteristics are not straightforward, and depend on infrastructure and basin characteristics, location of the watershed in the regional groundwater flow system, as well as precipitation seasonality.

### 2.3 GEOMORPHIC IMPLICATIONS OF URBANIZATION

### 2.3.1 OVERLAND SEDIMENT SUPPLY AND DELIVERY

The commonly accepted temporal sequence for sediment supply and delivery in an urbanizing watershed is that of Wolman (1967) (Figure 2.4). Initially there is a spike in sediment supply during the construction phase, followed by a gradual decline in sediment supply as build out proceeds and areas are rendered impervious. The initial spike of sediment may result in downstream aggradation, which may take years or decades to move through the fluvial system (Wolman 1967, Leopold 1973, Graf 1975, Roberts 1989). Nelson and Booth (2002) found that new construction sediment sources were minimal when compared to landslide activity and channel sources in the Pacific Northwest. After the construction phase of urbanization, sediment sources will decline due to imperviousness and detention. After this stage channel processes, incision and bank failure, will dictate the sediment supply to downstream reaches. In many cases urbanization is preceded by land clearing and denudation for agriculture (Wolman 1967, Clark and Wilcock 2000). In this case the sediment introduced from the agricultural land practices may still be moving through the channel system, making the task of identifying the relative contribution of the urbanization sediment supply speculative at best.



Figure 2.4 Cycle of land-use changes, sediment yield, and channel behavior (from Wolman (1967)).

### 2.3.2 STREAM CHANNEL GEOMORPHIC RESPONSE

Stream channel response to altered urban flow and sediment supply regimen can be quite complex. An initial aggradation phase may be expected due to the spike of sediment from the construction phase, followed by increases in width and depth. Aggradational features, however, may persist for periods up to 20 years (Leopold 1973). A space-for-time channel evolution model (CEM) for incised channels (Schumm *et al.* 1984) suggests that a depth increase would be expected first, followed by channel widening and a final quasi-equilibrium stage once the channel has adjusted to the new water and sediment regime. Channel enlargement of some form is expected, particularly in the upstream urbanized reaches. The magnitude of enlargement will be dictated by the degree of urbanization, storm sewer connectivity, channel and bank materials, pre-urbanization runoff and sediment supply characteristics, watershed and channel slopes, and sediment supplied from the construction phase (Hammer 1972, Leopold 1973, Roberts 1989, Gregory *et al.* 1992, Booth and Henshaw 2000, Pizzuto *et al.* 2000, Chin and Gregory 2001). Typically,

space-for-time substitution is used to identify changes between the pre-disturbance rural condition and the urbanized state. Oftentimes, urban channels are compared to rural counterparts that exhibit similar watershed and channel characteristics (Hammer 1972, Pizzuto et al. 2000). An enlargement ratio, defined as the ratio of the urbanized cross section to a similar rural cross section, was utilized by Hammer (1972). He found that the enlargement ratio can range from 0.7 to 3.8, with most of the data lying between 1 and 2. Other investigators (Roberts 1989, Pizzuto et al. 2000) found that urban channels are generally wider (26%), larger (60%), smoother (10%), and straighter (8%) than similar rural channels. Little is known about the relative contributions of width and depth changes (Knighton 1998). Long-term field measurements of channel change are rare. In a ten-year study of the rapidly urbanizing San Diego Creek in southern California, Trimble (1997) found that about 2/3 of the total sediment yield comes from channel sources. In his twenty-year study of Watts Branch, Maryland, Leopold (1973) found that depth had increased 23%, primarily as a result of overbank sedimentation, and width had decreased 35%, counter to the channel enlargement that would be expected. He attributed the width decrease to the initial sediment pulse from the construction phase and incomplete channel adjustment to this sediment input. Similar trends of decreasing width in the downstream longitudinal direction were found by Clark and Wilcock (2000).

Clearly, the geomorphic implications for channel change are complex and involve multiple interacting variables. Location in the fluvial system plays a key role in the expected channel response. The spatial context of the urban development is a critical component of channel response (Roberts 1989, Gregory *et al.* 1992, Chin and Gregory 2001). Transport and response reaches may see opposite adjustments as sediment from

failing stream banks and channel degradation are deposited in downstream reaches, which lack the transport capacity to carry the increased upstream load (Booth and Henshaw 2000). Dredging and channelization in the downstream response reaches of urbanized systems are common, and can create a positive feedback mechanism as the increased stream power in the channelized downstream reach can lead to further upstream degradation and bank failure (Brookes 1988). Stream channel response to urbanization is oftentimes spatially discontinuous (Gregory *et al.* 1992). The spatial discontinuity of urban land use change and in-stream engineering structures can lead to system fragmentation (Chin and Gregory 2001). The spatial location of channel change measurements in the fluvial network and the interconnected watershed processes occurring at these spatial locations are crucial in determining cause and effect relationships of the measured change.

### 2.4 THRESHOLDS AND BIOTIC RESPONSE TO URBANIZATION

Riverine ecology and biotic health are adversely affected by watershed urbanization. Water quality is degraded with the addition of treated sewage effluent, nutrients, artifacts of civilization, and the transportation of pollutants to the stream (Leopold 1968, Schueler 1994, Paul and Meyer 2001). Many studies underscore the importance of imperviousness and its deleterious effects on stream benthos. Previous researchers have inferred typical threshold values between 10 to 15% imperviousness (Steedman 1988, Schueler and Galli 1992, Booth and Jackson 1997, Wang *et al.* 2000, Wang *et al.* 2001, Morley and Karr 2002, Freeman and Schorr 2004). These imperviousness threshold values should not be taken as a distinct threshold, but rather a range of potential impairment values that will be dependant upon urbanization type, spatial location, connectivity, and watershed

resilience. Impairment is often related to increased deposition of fine sediment, introduction of chemical pollutants, and loss of habitat variability and complexity (Morley and Karr 2002, Booth *et al.* 2004, Freeman and Schorr 2004). This indicates that both channel and overland processes degrade biotic health. Channel rehabilitation intervention can be used to improve biotic health, but the degree of impairment and watershed urbanization can dictate the potential strategies used to restore biotic integrity (Figure 2.5) (Booth *et al.* 2004).



Figure 2.5 Left: Relationship between stream health (Benthic index of Biological Integrity (B-IBI) and urban development (percent total impervious area (TIA). Right: Recommended management strategy (from Booth *et al.* (2004)).

### 2.5 SUBSIDENCE EFFECTS

Land subsidence is associated with change in valley base level. Common causes of land subsidence include aquifer system compaction due to groundwater mining, drainage of organic soils, underground mining, hydrocompaction, natural compaction, sinkholes, and thawing permafrost (Galloway *et al.* 1999). Land subsidence of up to 3.5 meters has been measured in the Santa Clara Valley from 1934 to 1967 due to ground water pumping

(Poland 1976, Poland and Ireland 1988). The expected channel response upstream of the subsidence axis is either increased sinuosity or channel degradation depending on channel and valley characteristics. Channels that are free to migrate along the valley floor would be expected to increase sinuosity, whereas channels that are confined laterally would be expected to degrade (Ouchi 1983, Schumm et al. 2000). Within the subsidence area, channel response is typically aggradation, leading to in- channel bar development or anastomosing channel forms (Ouchi 1985). Downstream of the subsidence axis, channel degradation can take place due to a decrease in downstream sediment supply resulting from aggradation and sediment capture in the subsidence zone (Ouchi 1985, Schumm et al. 2000). Channel pattern response upstream and downstream of the subsidence axis will vary depending on pre-existing channel form, sediment transport regime and channel confinement (Figure 2.6). Channel pattern response to subsidence in flume studies (Begin et al. 1981) revealed that channel degradation rates are attenuated exponentially with distance upstream from the disturbance location. Pattern adjustment (increased sinuosity) coupled with channel cross section adjustment (width increase and bar development resulting in increased channel roughness) compensate for slope changes due to base-level lowering from valley subsidence (Jorgensen 1990, Schumm and Galay 1994).

Field measurements of channel response to valley subsidence are lacking. Field studies of channel response have been limited to topographic map analysis (Ouchi 1985, Schumm *et al.* 2000) and one field-based study (Jorgensen 1990). Topographic mapping analysis of Coyote Creek, the stream that both creeks in this study are tributary to, showed a 35% increase in planform sinuosity from 1895 to 1961 in the vicinity where channel gradient was increased due to rapid valley subsidence of 3.5 meters (Schumm *et al.* 2000). Up to

8.5 meters of land subsidence have been recorded in the San Joaquin Valley region of southern California due to groundwater extraction (Tolman and Poland 1940, Galloway et al. 1999). Ouchi (1985) found no significant channel pattern response in the San Joaquin River due to this rapid subsidence. This may be due to the highly controlled nature of the San Joaquin River, which has been heavily engineered (Ouchi 1985). Longitudinal increases in sinuosity and fluctuations were noted, and it was postulated that these longitudinal increases in sinuosity may have been the result of slow geologic-scale subsidence patterns in the area (Ouchi 1985). A field-based study of the Humboldt River, NV subject to geologic time scale subsidence documented: a 40% increase in sinuosity coupled with active lateral migration upstream of the subsidence axis (Jorgensen 1990). Downstream of the subsidence he noted channel aggradation, a 120 % increase in bankfull channel area, and a 46 % increase in bankfull channel width. Downstream fining of the channel bed material through the subsidence axis further validated the depositional trend. Land subsidence in the Santa Clara Valley has been halted since 1967, due to water importation, altered ground water pumping practices, and water table recharge (Poland and Ireland 1988). A time sequence of these base level changes is available and will be discussed in Chapter 3. These geometric changes to the channel and valley profile must be examined in conjunction with urbanization effects to ascertain the relative effects of both processes on current channel form.



Figure 2.6 Anticipated geomorphic response of varying channel types to subsidence modified from (Ouchi 1985 and Schumm *et al.* 2000).

### 2.6 LITERATURE REVIEW SUMMARY

Stream channels are dynamic and respond to alterations of water and sediment flux from their contributing watersheds with changes in longitudinal, cross-section, and planview form. Two primary alterations have occurred in the Santa Clara Valley region of California: urbanization and land subsidence. Urbanization is considered a land-use change, whereas subsidence is a topographic change in the land surface. Urbanization is a multifaceted and permanent alteration of the watershed landscape. The alterations can be broadly classified as follows:

- 1. Surface alterations decreasing infiltration, increasing runoff, and increasing susceptibility to erosion
- 2. Increased routing efficiency of runoff waters to the stream channel
- 3. Drainage network extension via storm sewers
- 4. Increased drainage network density via storm sewers

An initial pulse of sediment is introduced during the construction phase of the urban development (Wolman 1967, Leopold 1973, Graf 1975). This increase in supply can manifest itself in the form of channel aggradation for many years following the initial construction phase. Increased runoff quantity and runoff efficiency, particularly for frequent rainfall/runoff events capable of transporting bed material load (Hollis 1975), leads to channel erosion and incision being the dominant channel process as time proceeds (Hammer 1972). Space-for-time substitution has been utilized by many investigators to quantify channel enlargement during this phase (Hammer 1972, Hollis

and Luckett 1976, Pizzuto *et al.* 2000). The incision process and subsequent channel instability leads to degradation of biotic health, loss of habitat complexity, and overall watershed impairment (Steedman 1988, Schueler and Galli 1992, Booth and Jackson 1997, Wang *et al.* 2001, Morley and Karr 2002, Freeman and Schorr 2004). Watershed urbanization and resulting channel response can be spatially discontinuous throughout the watershed (Roberts 1989, Gregory *et al.* 1992, Chin and Gregory 2001, Booth and Henshaw 2000, Doyle *et al.* 2000). Channel rehabilitation intervention can be used to improve biotic health, but the degree of impairment and watershed urbanization can dictate the potential strategies used to restore biotic integrity (Booth *et al.* 2004).

Land subsidence is associated with change in valley base level. Land subsidence of up to 3.5 meters has been measured in the Santa Clara Valley from 1934 to 1967 due to ground water pumping (Poland and Ireland 1988). The expected channel response upstream of the subsidence axis is either increased sinuosity or channel degradation, depending on channel and valley characteristics. Both of these mechanisms serve to reduce the stream gradient that has been previously increased by the base-level lowering. Channels that are free to migrate along the valley floor would be expected to increase sinuosity, whereas channels that are confined laterally would be expected to degrade (Ouchi 1983, Schumm *et al.* 2000). Within the subsidence area, channel response is typically aggradation, leading to in-channel bar development or anastomosing channel forms (Ouchi 1985). Downstream of the subsidence axis, channel degradation can take place due to a decrease in downstream sediment supply resulting from aggradation and sediment capture in the subsidence zone (Ouchi 1985, Schumm *et al.* 2000). Field measurements of channel

26

response to valley subsidence are lacking, but limited data corroborate flume study results.

# 3.0 DESKTOP DATA COLLECTION AND MORPHOMETRIC ANALYSIS

### 3.1 DESKTOP DATA COLLECTED

A variety of data sources have been gathered for both watersheds being studied. Data not collected in the field by the investigating author, will be hereafter termed "desktop data", referring to data that can be collected without stepping foot in the stream being studied. A summary of all desktop data collected is presented in Table 3.1.

The data have been categorized into digital data that were previously available and required no manipulation by the research staff, digital data that have been created or manipulated by the research staff, and previously published reports and maps concerning the creeks being studied.

Desktop data serve a myriad of uses including: planform analysis of stream channel change through time; tracking and quantifying land use changes with time series aerial photographs; flood and precipitation frequency analysis from historic stream gaging records; soils and geologic mapping to understand the underlying basin stratigraphy; and basin delineation and upland catchment characterization with DEM data. Desktop data assist the investigator in understanding the watershed-scale processes that aren't readily apparent with site-specific field investigations. The timing of urbanization build out and in channel infrastructure works can be gleaned from desktop data. Desktop data provide an opportunity to investigate the history that has led to the present channel condition and possibly forecast future changes based on observed historical trends.

Data type	Data piece			
Original GIS-digital data	Digital Elevation Models (DEM)			
	Stream vector coverage			
	Digital Raster Graphic (DRG) Maps (1899, 1943, 1953, 1961, current)			
	Scanned aerial photographs (1939, 1950, 1960, 1980, 1987)			
Computed GIS-digital data performed by CSU	Watershed delineations (1899, 1950, 1960, 1980, 1987, 1999, 2002)			
	Ortho-rectified digital aerial photographs (1939,1950,1960,1980,1987)			
	Stream traces from aerial photographs (1939, 1950, 1960, 1980, 1987, 1999, 2002)			
	Urbanization grid delineated from aerial photographs (1939, 1950, 1960, 1980, 1980, 1987, 1999, 2002)			
	Expanded storm sewer network drawn from recent mapping efforts by William Lettis and Associates (WLA)			
	Flow direction and accumulation grids computed from DEM and storm sewer network connectivity			
Computed GIS-digital data performed by other agencies	Ortho-rectified digital aerial photograph (2002) Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD)			
	Ortho-rectified digital aerial photograph (1999) State of California			
	Storm sewer network (current) (WLA)			
	Land use grid			
	Soils grid (WLA and United States Department of Agriculture -USDA)			
	Bedrock and Quaternary geology grids (United States Geological Survey-USGS)			
	Catchments and outfalls (storm sewer)-(WLA)			
Print data sources	Historical stream channel and storm sewer network maps (WLA)			
	Geologic fault mapping			
	Previous stream channel improvement project reports and construction plans (United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE),United States Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service-(USDASCS),and others			
Historical field data	USGS and SCVWD stream gaging records			
	SCVWD and NCDC precipitation records			
	Historic longitudinal profile data constructed from archived engineering construction documents (Santa Clara County Flood Control and Water District (SCCFCWD) 1967, USDASCS 1985, USACE 1993)			
	Land subsidence and groundwater Table mapping (Poland and Ireland 1988)			

# Table 3.1Summary of desktop data.

# 3.2 VALLEY SUBSIDENCE ANALYSIS

Detailed records of resurveyed vertical control benchmarks were available from the National Geodetic Survey (NGS) and other researchers (Poland 1976, Poland and Ireland

1988). Valley subsidence contour maps and vertical time series profiles from 1934 to 1969 were created from these records (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). Resurveyed vertical benchmark data were available for the years 1934, 1936, 1940, 1954, 1960, 1963, 1967, and 1969. Utilizing this data source and GIS mapping of the field survey extents and stationing, valley subsidence profiles from 1934 to 1969 for the reaches surveyed on Berryessa Creek (Figure 3.3) and Upper Penitencia Creek (Figure 3.4) were constructed from these records at known locations along the longitudinal profile by the investigating author. Results show that the maximum base level drop was much larger for Upper Penitencia Creek (1.1 m) compared to Berryessa Creek (0.23 m). This is in part due to the length of channel surveyed within the valley corridor on Upper Penitencia Creek. The base level drop increases substantially from the mountain valley interface to the central portion of the valley. The Upper Penitencia Creek survey extended 5000 m downstream of the mountain front, whereas the Berryessa Creek survey extended 2000 m downstream of the mountain front. The base level subsidence on Upper Penitencia Creek 2000 m downstream from the mountain front was 0.38 m, which is 0.15 m greater than the drop on Berryessa Creek indicating that the stream corridor of Upper Penitencia Creek is in closer proximity to the zone of maximum valley subsidence, located near downtown San Jose. The constructed subsidence profiles reveal that the zone of maximum base-level drawdown is in the vicinity of river stationing zero to 550 meters for Berryessa Creek and river stationing 250 to 2750 meters for Upper Penitencia Creek. Subsidence total fall and yearly rates decrease substantially upstream of these locations. The 1950s and 1960s showed the largest rates of base-level decline at the most downstream leveling location (Table 3.2). The peak base-level lowering rate for Upper Penitencia Creek was 7.4

(cm/yr) from 1960 to 1963. The peak base-level lowering rate for Berryessa Creek was 1.7 (cm/yr) from 1948 to 1954. These data indicate that base-level lowering was nearly an order of magnitude larger for Upper Penitencia Creek during the groundwater drawdown period. The anticipated geomorphic responses within this maximum subsidence region are either increase channel sinuosity or channel degradation depending on the degree of boundary material and urban infrastructure restraint on lateral channel mobility (Schumm *et al.* 2000).



Figure 3.1 Subsidence from 1934 to 1967 in Santa Clara Valley, California (modified after Poland and Ireland (1988)).

	Upper Penitencia		Berryessa	
Year	Total drop (m)	Base-level lowering rate (cm/yr)	Total drop (m)	Base-level lowering rate (cm/yr)
1934	0		0	
1936	0.09	4.3	0.02	0.9
1940	0.15	1.7	0.04	0.5
1948	0.17	0.2	0.04	0.0
1954	0.51	5.7	0.14	1.7
1960	0.68	2.8	0.16	0.5
1963	0.90	7.4	0.20	1.2
1967	1.11	5.1	0.23	0.7
1969	1.11	0.0	0.23	0.0

Table 3.2Base-level lowering rates at the downstream extent of the field surveys<br/>for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks.



Figure 3.2 Time sequence of valley subsidence from 1934-1969 for the Santa Clara Valley, California (from Poland and Ireland (1988)).



Figure 3.3 Base level subsidence profile for Berryessa Creek.



Figure 3.4 Base level subsidence profile for Upper Penitencia Creek.

### **3.3 HISTORIC LONGITUDINAL PROFILE DATA**

Archived construction drawings from the Santa Clara County Flood Control and Water District (SCCFDWDO), the United States Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service (USDA-SCS) and the USACE were utilized to construct historic longitudinal profiles for both streams. The location of the cross sections surveyed in 2004 by the investigate author were reconstructed on the archived engineering drawings. The stationing of the cross sections was measured from the channel centerline on the drawing and the resulting elevation at the time of the drawing was measured on the profile data accompanying the drawing. These constructed profiles were then reconciled to the 2004 profiles that we surveyed to compare historic and current longitudinal profiles (circa 2004) (Figures 3.5 and 3.6). Historic longitudinal profiles from 1967 and 1987 were generated for Berryessa Creek (SCCFDWD 1967, USACE 1993). A longitudinal profile from 1985 was constructed for Upper Penitencia Creek (USDA-SCS 1985). This allows comparison of a 39-year trend for Berryessa Creek and a 21-year trend for Upper Penitencia Creek. These profiles were examined for longitudinal aggradation and degradation trends.

Results from these profiles indicate that Berryessa Creek has undergone up to 1.5 m of incision and or dredging in the reach of channel where the steep upland stream transitions to the valley flat. This is an area that would be expected to be depositional. The primary reason for this incision is channelization and floodplain encroachment. Downstream of this reach there is a short (350 m) depositional reach in the vicinity of a constructed sediment detention basin. Bedload capture in this sediment basin and flow regime

changes from urbanization have resulted in incision in the downstream reaches. Portions of this reach have incised up to 1.4 m. The general trend along the profile is incision.

The Upper Penitencia profile shows deposition in the upper reaches where the upland stream transitions to the alluvial valley. This is the trend that would be anticipated in this portion of the watershed as the steeper, more confined upland stream transitions to a lower gradient, less confined alluvial fan valley portion of the watershed. This deposition is at a maximum (0.52 m) at the most upstream cross section and decreases along the profile, until the stream becomes incised approximately 1000 m downstream of the upland/valley transition where urban encroachment on the floodplain has occurred. The stream is depositional for a short reach (500 m), then incises again upstream of the zone of subsidence. In the zone of maximum subsidence the stream is generally depositional. These profiles and factors leading to the observed adjustment will be examined in further detail in the sediment transport discussion in chapter 6.





Erosion or Deposition (m)

36



River station (m)

**GVAN** (m) noitsval3

# 3.4 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH AND TOPOGRAPHIC MAP TIME SERIES ANALYSIS

A historical GIS-based morphometric analysis was conducted for both watersheds. The primary goal of the investigation was to provide insight regarding the historical planform characteristics, land-use changes, and channel realignments of both creeks within the rapidly urbanizing valley floor. Historical maps and aerial photographs of both watersheds were gathered from a variety of sources. Data sources included historical maps of the area dating from 1899 to present and a series of aerial photographs (from 1939, 1950, 1960, 1980, 1987, 1999, and 2002). The time-sequenced aerial photographs were digitally reconciled to the 2002 geo-referenced aerial photographs using common geodetic control points. Examining the historical planform changes (Figure 3.7) of both creeks provided valuable insight into the cause of many of the erosion and sedimentation trends observed.

The 1899 topographic maps of the area indicated that a morphologically defined channel was not present for Berryessa Creek below the terminus of the mountain range, because the lower lands to San Francisco Bay are dominated by alluvial fan deposits to the limit of the estuarial low-land deposits. Between 1899 and 1939, a single-threaded creek channel was coalesced and channelized to permit agriculture on the alluvial fan terminus. This channel was made tributary to Lower Penitencia Creek, which is tributary to Coyote Creek. Anthropogenic channel lengthening for development and flood control on Berryessa Creek has resulted in significant decreases in channel slope through time, particularly in the downstream reaches, which are outside of the surveyed reach extents.

The channel slope at the terminus of the alluvial fan in 1899 was 0.02 m/m, the lengthening in the 1930s decreased the average longitudinal slope to 0.01 m/m, and the final lengthening stage in the 1950s decreased the slope to 0.005 m/m. The natural stream response to slope reduction is aggradation. This has been the observed result in the lower reaches of the stream leading to the San Francisco Bay.



## Figure 3.7 Large scale planform changes for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek from 1899 to present

The Upper Penitencia Creek channel outlet to a larger receiving body (Coyote Creek) has remained consistent from 1899 to the present. The only changes made to this creek were the addition of a small upstream reservoir in 1936, the addition of an irrigation diversion canal in the 1940s, the removal of Silver Creek as a tributary close to the channel outlet to Coyote Creek in the 1940s, and channel realignment in the vicinity of the interstate 680 crossing in the early 1970s (Figure 3.8). Planform changes induced by urbanization have been local reach scale changes. Generally, the stream has remained stable in planform for the past 100 years. Localized instability has been introduced due to stream alignment modifications in the vicinity of the I-680 crossing, roadway encroachment on the floodplain in the upper reaches and subsidence effects.

In the vicinity of I-680, the channel has been straightened from the original planform alignment, shortening the stream reach by 155 feet and increasing the channel slope from 0.0075 m/m to 0.0087 m/m a 16 % increase. This interstate was constructed in 1973. Localized channel stability problems have been documented upstream and downstream of the channel realignment.



# Figure 3.8 Channel realignment on Upper Penitencia Creek in the vicinity of the Interstate I-680 crossing.

# 3.4.1 PLANFORM MEASUREMENTS OF TIME SERIES AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS

#### **3.4.1.1 DATABASE DEVELOPMENT**

A series of aerial photographs (from 1939, 1950, 1960, 1980, 1987, 1999, and 2002) were collected to examine channel planform functional relationships and changes through time. The time record of the database was expanded by including the field survey of both streams conducted in the summer of 2004. Historical aerial photograph analysis serves to extend the period of record of the field database. Bends surveyed during the 2004 field survey were included in the historical analysis to examine present bend stability as a function of historical evolution. The time-sequenced aerial photographs were digitally reconciled to the 2002 SCVWD geo-referenced GIS aerial photographs using common geodetic control points. The centerline of the stream channel was then digitized in the GIS environment and exported to AutoCAD for measurement. Due to the dense vegetation in the riparian zone and relatively small width of the channel, it was sometimes difficult to know the exact location of the bankfull channel centerline. This fact leads the investigator to have minimal confidence in channel migration rates and bankfull width measurements through time. However, estimates of larger scale planform characteristics can be inferred from this photograph time series. Sinuosity characteristics were calculated for reaches along the general valley trend. Reaches were delineated where there were changes in the course of the valley trend. Planform measurements were also calculated for the time series for ten meander wavelengths along Upper Penitencia Creek and eleven meander wavelengths along Berryessa Creeks that were visibly present in all aerial photographs. The same meanders were measured for each year to maintain a consistent data set. The metrics presented in Figure 3.9 were measured for each meander. In addition to these metrics, the reach characteristics of meander belt width and reach sinuosity were also measured.



## Figure 3.9 Meander metrics used for aerial photograph measurements (from Federal Interagency Stream Restoration Working Group (FISRWG) (1998)).

To facilitate the comparison of similar river planform features through multiple years of

historical aerial photographs, some measurement rules were incorporated in the analysis

procedures.

1. The stream must be separated into reaches that have a consistent valley trend

(Figure 3.10) for morphometric analysis.

- 2. The meander amplitude is measured from the crest of the upstream bend along a line parallel to the valley trend, and ending in the trough of the downstream bend along a line perpendicular to the valley trend (Figure 3.11).
- 3. The meander arc length and meander wavelength beginning and end, are measured at the channel station that would correspond to the tangential point at which the radius curvature circle intersects the stream (Figure 3.12).



Figure 3.10 Valley trend and meander belt width conceptualization (from Annable (1996)).



Figure 3.11 Meander amplitude and valley trend schematic.



Figure 3.12 Meander arc length and wavelength schematic.

### 3.4.1.2 DATABASE ANALYSIS

An extensive database has been developed from the planform measurements, which can be used to analyze channel pattern changes through time. Changes in the water and sediment regimes will manifest via changes in channel form. The channel pattern relationships may change as a function of time due to historic perturbations of the system, particularly channel coalescence in the historic alluvial fan in the earlier part of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, valley subsidence from 1940 to 1970 and the urbanization infill from 1970 to the present. Database analysis of planform response to the external forcing variables of watershed urbanization and valley subsidence was conducted for large scale planform adjustments of channel sinuosity, meander belt width, and bankfull channel radius of curvature relationships. For each stream, the stream channel within the urbanized valley portion of the watershed was discretized into reaches based upon changes in the valley trend. Three reaches of consistent valley trend were defined for Berryessa Creek and four reaches were defined for Upper Penitencia Creek (Table 3.3).

Stream	Reach	River Stationing (m)	Valley subsidence at downstream extent of reach (m)
Upper Penitencia	1	4030-6100	0.19
	2	2200-4030	0.6
	3	1363-2200	0.85
	4	290-1363	1.11
Berryessa	1	1125-2000	0.11
	2	710-1125	0.14
	3	250-710	0.23

Table 3.3Valley trend reaches defined for planform analysis.

The expected planform adaptation to base-level lowering due to valley subsidence is an increase in channel sinuosity (Schumm *et al.* 2000). The anticipated planform adjustment

due to urbanization would be a decrease in sinuosity as lateral migration will be restrained by urban infrastructure, bank protection and stream channelization, prohibiting natural channel migration. Qualitative inspection of Lane's (1955) relationship (Equation 3.1) indicates that if the channel slope is steepened and lateral channel adjustment is restrained, the channel would be expected to degrade, armor, or increase sediment discharge. However, at the same time urbanization would be expected to qualitatively increase discharge and possibly decrease upstream sediment supply over the long-term. The adjustments in sediment supply are spatially and temporally discontinuous (Wolman 1965, Leopold 1973, Graf 1975). The anticipated slope response to urbanization would be slope reduction, which could be in the form of increased sinuosity or channel degradation.

### $QS \approx Q_s d_s$ Equation 3.1

Q = water discharge S = channel slope  $d_s$  = bed material size, and;  $Q_s$  = sediment discharge

Planform analysis can detect slope adjustment due to increases in sinuosity, channelization efforts to decrease sinuosity and meander belt width, and urban infrastructure encroachment on the historic meander belt width. These will be examined for each stream.

### 3.4.1.3 PLANFORM ANALYSIS OF BERRYESSA CREEK

In reach 1, the most upstream reach of Berryessa Creek, time series data from 1939 to the present indicate a long-term decrease in sinuosity. This is primarily due to channelization (Figure 3.13). The channelization occurred between 1960 and 1980. After 1980 the sinuosity has increased marginally, but infrastructure elements have limited lateral migration. The stream is highly incised within this reach from field observations. Reaches 2 and 3 have not been channelized and indicate a trend of increasing sinuosity, likely a response to increased urban water discharges and decreases in sediment supply due to an in channel sedimentation basin. In reach 2, channel incision and moderate channel migration are the dominant channel processes. Reach 3 shows the strongest increases in subsided 0.23 m. Longitudinal profile time series data from 1967 to 2004 indicate historic incision in this reach, but the current dominant channel process is lateral migration.



Figure 3.13 Sinuosity changes from 1939 to 2004 for Berryessa Creek.

Examination of the changes in meander belt width for Berryessa Creek reveals similar trends (Figure 3.14). The upstream portion of the channel, reach 1, has been laterally restrained, resulting in a reduction of the meander belt width, whereas reach 2 has maintained the historic meander belt width. Reach 3 has responded with increases in meander belt width, particularly in recent years as it adjusts to the altered urban flow regime and lateral migration is the dominant channel process.



Figure 3.14 Meander belt width changes from 1939 to 2004 for Berryessa Creek.

### 3.4.1.4 UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK PLANFORM ANALYSIS

The subsidence effect on base-level lowering at the downstream extent of the survey data is stronger for Upper Penitencia Creek (1.11 m) compared to Berryessa Creek (0.23 m). Examination of the sinuosity trends with time (Figure 3.15) reveals that Upper Penitencia creek has shown a trend of increasing sinuosity, particularly in the more downstream reaches (2, 3 and 4) that have been subject to the strongest rates of historic base-level lowering. Reach 1, which has encountered relatively small levels of historic subsidence (0.19 meters), has not significantly increased sinuosity since the end of the subsidence era  $(\sim 1970)$ . Inspection of these data reveals the channelization in the vicinity of Interstate 680 in the time series. This is indicated by the abrupt decrease in sinuosity in reach 2 from 1960 to 1980. After this abrupt sinuosity change, the stream has shown a trend of increasing sinuosity within this reach. Sinuosity increases are rather small in the response reaches. The sinuosity increases for reaches 2, 3 and 4, respectively, are 5%, 3%, and 1.5% since the end of the subsidence period in 1969. Channelization at the Interstate 680 crossing resulted in a 16% increase in local slope. This indicates that the majority of the slope re-adjustment is taking place via channel incision rather than sinuosity increases. This is corroborated by field observation of local channel incision upstream of the I-680 crossing (Figure 3.16) where lateral migration has been restricted on the left bank due to urban infrastructure.



Figure 3.15 Sinuosity changes from 1939 to 2004 for Upper Penitencia Creek.



Figure 3.16 Channel incision in reach 2 of Upper Penitencia Creek upstream of the I-680 crossing

Examination of the Upper Penitencia meander belt width time trends (Figure 3.17) reveals urban encroachment on historic meander belt width within reach 2. This reach has decreased in meander belt width from 127 meters to 83 meters from 1939 to 2004, a 35% decrease. The reach has responded to valley subsidence and channelization through incision. Reach 1 is an exemplary urban stream that exhibits stable channel morphology; this stream has had minimal urban encroachment on the historic meander belt width. Likewise, reach 4 at the downstream portion of the channel has encountered minimal urban encroachment on the historic meander belt width. This illustrates the importance of determining historic meander belt widths for channel stability in the urban planning and zoning process.



Figure 3.17 Meander belt width changes from 1939 to 2004 for Upper Penitencia Creek.
# 3.4.1.5 COMPARISON OF MEASURED URBAN MEANDER GEOMETRY TO THEORETICAL VALUES

Meander geometry relationships have been examined by other researchers for lowgradient alluvial streams (Leopold *et al.* 1964, Langbein and Leopold 1966, Williams 1986), but little is known about meander geometry for urbanized streams. Langbein and Leopold (1966) proposed that the most probable shape of a meander curve is that of a sine-generated curve. This shape has the characteristic that the deviation angles from the downstream direction are minimized. Using this theory, the radius of curvature can be predicted from the sinuosity (k) and the meander wavelength ( $\lambda$ ) with the following equation:

$$R_c = \frac{\lambda}{13} \frac{k^{3/2}}{\sqrt{k-1}}$$

**Equation 3.2** 

Where:  $R_c$  = radius of curvature;

- $\lambda$  = meander wavelength; and
- k = sinuosity.

Analysis was conducted to test this theoretical estimate for the planform measurements made on Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks. The sine-generated result tends to underestimate radius of curvature in both streams (Figures 3.18 and 3.19). This may be a result of the coarse consolidated bank material present in these alluvial fan systems as well as urbanized restraint on the meander development process. The deviation is particularly strong for bends with a larger observed radius of curvature; in these cases, historic meander belt width constriction can lead to elongated bends that have been restrained from full meander development.



Figure 3.18 Observed vs. sine-generated radius of curvature for Berryessa Creek.



Figure 3.19 Observed vs. sine-generated radius of curvature for Upper Penitencia Creek.

## 3.4.2 TIME SERIES URBANIZATION ANALYSIS

Urbanized areas in the Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek watersheds were mapped using GIS for each of the time sequenced aerial photographs (1939 to 2002). The urbanization polygons were separated into the upland and valley portions of the watershed. The urbanization time series for each watershed are presented in Figure 3.20. The vast majority of the urbanization has taken place in the valley area of the watersheds between 1960 and 1980. Little urbanization has taken place in the upland portion of the watersheds. The urbanization trends are quite similar. The Upper Penitencia Creek watershed was urbanized earlier than the Berryessa Creek watershed, but the final infill has been greater in the Berryessa Creek watershed, indicating that the development in the Upper Penitencia area is older and the stream has had a longer time to adjust to the urban flow and sediment regime. The majority of urbanization within both watersheds occurred from 1960 to 1980, indicating that much of the urbanization has been in place for nearly 30 years on both streams. Upper Penitencia Creek has had a longer period of time to adjust to the alerted urban hydrologic and sediment regime. The present total urbanization percentages of Berryessa Creek (14%) and Upper Penitencia Creek (7%) are in the range of thresholds for ecological impairment proposed by other researchers (Wang et al. 2001, Wang and Kanehl 2003, Ourso and Frenzel 2003). Upper Penitencia Creek has a larger upland drainage area to buffer the urbanization effects on the flow regime in the valley portion of the creek. The present valley urbanization percentages for Berryessa Creek (85%) and Upper Penitencia Creek (76%) are well beyond proposed threshold limits for impairment.



Figure 3.20 Urbanization time series from 1899 to 2002.

# 3.4.3 TIME SERIES ANALYSIS OF DRAINAGE NETWORK STRUCTURE

Typically, urbanization impacts are quantified through a percent impervious measurement for a fixed catchment area. However, in this study area the storm sewer network build out has also significantly altered the catchment area size for both watersheds. The total drainage area flowing to the creek via the storm sewer network and overland connectivity will hereafter be termed the effective catchment area. The drainage area flowing to the stream via overland connectivity will be termed the topographic catchment area. Berryessa Creek has encountered drainage area expansion from the storm sewer network due to the addition of two adjacent historic alluvial fan streams, Sweigert Creek and Crosley Creek (Figure 3.21). Conversely, drainage area reduction has occurred

on Upper Penitencia Creek, particularly in the valley portion of the watershed (Figure 3.22). The catchment area reduction is due to construction of the storm sewer network serving to route flow paths to adjacent watersheds, from areas that historically drained to Upper Penitencia Creek. Catchment area alterations with time are summarized in Table 3.4.

	Berry	essa	Upper Penitencia		
	Effective		Effective		
	catchment area	Total effective	catchment area	Total effective	
Year	on valley floor	catchment area	on valley floor	catchment area	
	(km²)	(km²)	(km²)	(km²)	
1899	0.9	13.0	6.6	63.5	
1940	1.1	13.2	6.9	67.1	
1950	1.1	13.2	6.6	63.5	
1960	1.1	13.2	6.6	63.5	
1980	1.9	15.5	4.7	61.6	
1987	1.9	15.5	4.7	61.6	
1999	1.9	15.5	4.7	61.6	
2002	1.9	15.5	4.7	61.6	
Percentage increase or decrease	40.0%	2017	201/	29/	
(1899-2002)	123%	20%	-29%	-3%	

Table 3.4Changes in effective catchment area from 1899 to 2002 for Berryessa<br/>and Upper Penitencia Creek.

The results of this analysis illustrate the substantial alterations to the effective catchment area that both watersheds have undergone over time. In the case of Berryessa Creek, the effective catchment area within the highly urbanized valley floor portion of the watershed has increased 123% from 1899 to 2002. Within the same time period, the total watershed effective catchment area has increased from 13 km<sup>2</sup> to 15.5 km<sup>2</sup>, which is a 20% increase. These drainage area changes have had detrimental effects on channel stability

within the urbanized valley portion of the watershed. Rapid channel widening as well as headcut formation and migration have been observed downstream of the inflowing culvert from the Crosley Creek drainage that was added to Berryessa Creek within the study area (Figures 3.22 and 3.23).

In the same time period the total effective catchment area of Upper Penitencia Creek has decreased 3% and the effective catchment area within the urbanized valley portion of the watershed has decreased 29%. The decreased catchment size has served to mitigate increased flow runoff volumes produced by the impervious urbanized areas.

Quantification of the observed changes in channel form, along with results of the numerical modeling performed to quantify the hydrologic and morphologic changes, will be detailed in chapters 5 and 6.







Upper Penitencia Creek watershed with the historic topographic and current effective catchments delineated. Figure 3.22



Figure 3.23 Channel widening observed downstream of Crosley Creek culvert on Berryessa Creek.



Figure 3.24 Channel headcut observed downstream of Crosley Creek culvert on Berryessa Creek.

### 3.5 TECTONIC SETTING

Both watersheds are located along the tectonically active Hayward fault (Figure 3.25). The active tectonics result in a relatively large amount of landslide activity introducing significant sediment loads to the streams. Changes in channel gradient from the steeper upland portion of the watershed to the valley transition have created historically depositional environments at these interfaces. An engineered sediment/debris basin was first constructed on Berryessa Creek in 1962 to capture upstream sediment loads (Figure 3.26). The current basin at the site was re-designed and updated in the early 1990's (USCACE 1993). This basin has been effective in inducing sediment deposition in an area that can be excavated conveniently; however, by inducing sediment deposition at this point, sediment continuity to downstream reaches has been disrupted. Sediment dredging records were available from the SCVWD from 1984 to 2004 (Figure 3.27). Records indicate that this sediment basin is dredged on average every other year. The mean annual sediment dredging volume is  $620 \text{ m}^3$ . This sediment basin is particularly effective in capturing any larger particles (> 16 mm) transported via bedload transport processes. The downstream repercussion of this bedload discontinuity is channel incision. Sediment loads remain high due to landslide activity in the upland portion of the watershed within the fault zone.



Figure 3.25 Hayward fault map for the San Francisco Bay region (from USGS Earthquake hazard mapping website).



Figure 3.26 Sedimentation basin constructed on Berryessa Creek at the upland to valley transition portion of the watershed



Figure 3.27 Sediment dredging records for the Berryessa Creek sedimentation basin immediately downstream of Piedmont Avenue.

# 3.6 STREAM GAGE AND RAINFALL DATA COLLECTED BY OTHER AGENCIES

# 3.6.1 HISTORIC STREAM GAGE DATA

The SCVWD operates two stream gaging stations on Upper Penitencia Creek in the region where the creek leaves the upland area and enters the valley portion of the watershed. Historical record is available from 1946 to present. These gages are located at the Piedmont and Dorel road crossings. The USGS maintained the Dorel road gage from 1961 to 1987. These data, coupled with the field measured data collected during this study, will be used to calibrate the hydrologic models, and implement and calibrate the sediment transport models.

# 3.6.2 RAINFALL DATA

No rainfall data were collected by the investigating author; however, there are numerous sources of rainfall data dating from 1874 to present (Table 3.5). Data at time intervals of 15 minutes are available from 1963 to present. Hourly data are available from 1948 to present and daily data are available from 1874 to present. These rainfall data will be used as input for the hydrologic models to supply long-term flow duration information where stream flow measurements are lacking.

Rain gage station	Elevation above sea level (m)	Operating agency	15-minute period of record	1-hour period of record	Daily period of record
Upper Penitencia water treatment plant	: 143	SCVWD	1967-present	x	x
Curtner ranch	610	SCVWD	1963-present	x	x
Haskins ranch	195	SCVWD	1936-present	x	x
San Jose airport	20	National Weather Service cooperative	1981-present 1	948-presen	t 1893-present

#### Table 3.5Summary of rain gage data available in the vicinity of the study site.

x- Indicates record not available

#### 3.7 SUMMARY OF DESKTOP ANALYSIS

Urbanization analysis reveals that both Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks have undergone significant urbanization infill as well as drainage area changes in the past 100 years (Table 3.6). The upland portions of both watersheds have been relatively unaffected by the urbanization process. However, within the valley portion of the watershed both streams are highly urbanized. The land cover for Berryessa Creek is 85 % urban within the valley portion of the watershed, and Upper Penitencia is Creek is 76 % urban. For the entire catchment area, Berryessa Creek is 14% urban and Upper Penitencia Creek is only 7 % urban, indicating there is a substantially larger non urbanized upland portion of the watershed available to Upper Penitencia Creek to buffer the downstream urban effects. The effective drainage area of Berryessa Creek has been expanded 20% for the entire catchment and 123% in the valley corridor. Conversely, the effective drainage area of Upper Penitencia Creek has been decreased 3% for the entire catchment and 29% in the valley corridor. The effective catchment area for both streams has been altered by the constructed urban storm sewer network. In essence, water has been exported from Upper Penitencia Creek and imported to Berryessa Creek from historic drainage conditions.

Creek	Catchment Valley urbanization (%) urbanization (%		Increase or decrease in full catchment area (%)	Increase or decrease in valley catchment area (%)
Upper Penitencia	7	76	-3	-29
Berryessa	14	85	+20	+122

Table 3.6Urbanization summary for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks<br/>from 1899 to 2002.

In addition to the alterations imposed by the storm sewer network on the hydrologic regime, off channel percolation ponds have been constructed on Upper Penitencia Creek. Water diversions to these ponds have been operated to extract a portion of the peak flows from the upland basin to allow slow percolation to the local groundwater table providing more consistent base-flows promoting and sustaining riparian vegetation growth.

The hydrologic modifications magnify hydrograph peaks and duration of flows capable of producing bedload transport in the urban valley portion of the Berryessa Creek watershed. Conversely, peak flows and bedload transport duration have been attenuated by the storm sewer network structure and percolation pond diversions in Upper Penitencia Creek.

Historic longitudinal profiles for both streams were determined from archived construction drawings. By combining our longitudinal survey data with the archived construction drawings profiles from 1967 to 2004 were created for Berryessa Creek and

profiles from 1985 to 2004 were created for Upper Penitencia Creek. Analysis of the data indicates an overall degrading trend for Berryessa Creek, with up to 1.5 meters of incision from 1967 to 2004 downstream of the on-line sedimentation basin. Additionally, up to 1.5 meters of incision or channelization has occurred at the mountain/valley interface downstream of Old Piedmont Rd. from 1967 to 2004. The Upper Penitencia Creek data shows up to 0.8 m of deposition at the mountain/valley interface. Approximately 1.1 m of incision has occurred upstream of Capitol Ave. since 1985, this area is located upstream of the zone of maximum valley subsidence. The trend within the zone of maximum subsidence is deposition, which corroborates with the flume studies and mapping analysis available from past studies (Ouchi 1985, Schumm et al.2000).

Valley subsidence magnitude and rate were quantified for each stream from the NGS historic benchmark data. This analysis reveals that the lower reaches of Upper Penitencia Creek have encountered valley subsidence of 1.1 m at the downstream extent of our surveyed reach, whereas the Berryessa Creek valley has only subsided 0.23 m. These data indicate that the degree of base-level lowering has been much stronger for Upper Penitencia Creek.

Time series planform analysis for Berryessa Creek indicates that sinuosity has been decreased from 1.14 to 1.09 in the upstream reach as a result of channelization. Downstream reaches of Berryessa Creek show an increasing trend in channel sinuosity from 1.04 to 1.1 due lateral migration in response to drainage area capture in the lower reaches. The increase in sinuosity indicates that this reach is currently responding to the increased urban discharges by reducing slope via lateral migration rather than incision.

Significant planform change was detected for a reach on Upper Penitencia Creek in the vicinity of the I-680 crossing. During construction of the interstate in the early 1970s the channel was straightened and a historic meander was abandoned. This planform change resulted in a 16% local increase in the channel slope. The meander belt width in this reach has decreased from 120 m to 80 m from 1939 to 2004, indicating that the reach has responded to valley subsidence and channelization by incising. This was corroborated by field investigation.

# 4.0 URBAN GEOMORPHIC ASSESSMENT FIELD DATA

# 4.1 INTRODUCTION

The investigating author implemented a rigorous field data-collection program for both Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek beginning in the summer of 2004 and continuing until the summer of 2008. Three field seasons were completed. Colorado State University (CSU) and SCVWD staffs have performed all the field work to date, with the exception of the continuous flow monitoring and some of the sediment transport measurements, which have been conducted by a local San Francisco Bay Area consulting company, Balance Hydrologics. CSU staff designed all survey, sampling, and measurement protocols. The field data-collection program consists of:

- preliminary field reconnaissance;
- detailed initial longitudinal and cross sections surveys;
- repeated cross section and headcut migration surveys;
- channel resistance estimates;
- pebble count and bulk sampling bed material gradation analysis;
- bank stratigraphy and vegetation composition surveys;
- measurement of bank material gradation and shear stress characteristics;
- bank rod installation and monitoring on unstable bends;
- supplementary bank height and bank angle survey to assess bend stability characteristics;
- continuous stream flow gaging;

- bedload and suspended load sediment transport measurement; and
- a culvert inventory of all storm sewer outfalls.

This dataset was utilized to assess channel hydraulic and sediment transport characteristics for both streams, and the resulting effects on channel stability in an urban setting.

## 4.2 PRELIMINARY STREAM RECONNAISSANCE

Subsequent to the morphometric analysis, preliminary field reconnaissance was undertaken. The goals of the field reconnaissance were to; (1) Gain a perspective of the processes forming the channel and creating channel change longitudinally; (2) Map with global positioning system (GPS) technology potential cross-section locations for riffles and bends to implement long-term cross-sectional monitoring stations; (3) Plan logistics for the longitudinal survey (i.e., potential turning points, existing control, and feasible upstream and downstream limits); and (4) Ground-truth potential areas of channel stability noted during the desktop morphometric study, for future stable reference reach data. The GIS field reconnaissance data were mapped to investigate the spatial distribution of riffle and bend cross-section locations. The end goal was to survey a consistent spatial distribution of riffle and bend cross sections of varying hydraulic and sedimentary characteristics for both stable and unstable bend and riffle morphologies along the surveyed reaches of both streams. Maps of the cross-sections surveyed are presented in Figures 4.1 and 4.2.



Figure 4.1 Surveyed cross-section location map of Berryessa Creek.



Figure 4.2 Surveyed cross-section location map of Upper Penitencia Creek.

#### 4.3 LONGITUDINAL PROFILE SURVEYS

A detailed longitudinal survey was conducted in the summer of 2004 for approximately 3,000 m of Berryessa Creek and 6,200 m of Upper Penitencia Creek. The geomorphic survey was conducted according to methods outlined by Annable (1996). The high degree of longitudinal slope resolution enables accurate modeling of local hydraulics utilized in sediment transport studies. It is important to survey morphologic features (i.e., bends and riffles) rather than fixed intervals because hydraulic characteristics vary significantly in riffle and bend sections. The morphological features surveyed were: riffle top and bottom, step top and bottom, maximum pool depth, bankfull stage, bank top, bankfull channel centerline for planform characteristics, channel thalweg (1 discrete point was acquired approximately every bankfull channel width longitudinally down the channel, and wherever any breaks in slope were noted), point bar slopes, central bar, and chute cutoffs. Infrastructure features recorded during the survey included bridge openings, grade-control structures, storm water detention out flow structures, storm water culvert inflows, and existing control points. Longitudinal profiles for Berryessa Creek (Figure 4.3) and Upper Penitencia Creek (Figure 4.4) are provided.



Figure 4.3 2004 longitudinal profile survey of Berryessa Creek.







#### 4.4 CROSS SECTION SURVEYS

#### 4.4.1 SURVEY PROCEDURES

Cross-section surveys were conducted concurrently with the longitudinal survey. Fortythree transects were surveyed on Upper Penitencia Creek and 47 were surveyed on Berryessa Creek. Transects were located on riffles, bends, and at locations upstream and downstream of headcut locations. Endpoints for the cross-section surveys were monumented with 1.2-m. long, 25-mm. diameter iron bars. These endpoints were acquired during the longitudinal survey (using a total station), and then a relative elevation level survey between the endpoints was conducted after the completion of the longitudinal survey using an automatic level, steel tape, and stadia rod. The level method was selected for each cross section for accuracy and repeatability, allowing the investigator to monitor cross section erosion and deposition over time. The cross sections were resurveyed yearly after the high-flow season, which occurs during the winter months in this region.

The cross-section endpoints were located with three goals in mind: (1) Measure a representative natural cross section that is not affected by extensive foot traffic or urban hardscape; (2) Locate the cross-section perpendicular to the dominant direction of flow at bankfull stage; and (3) Locate the survey endpoints in discrete locations that are unlikely to be disturbed by pedestrian or city maintenance traffic. Riffle locations were placed at the top third of the riffle. These sections are used as hydraulic sections in the computer modeling aspect of the project. Three cross sections were established at the top, middle, and lower third of each bend of interest to determine hydraulic and channel geometry for

stable bends, and to capture rates of lateral channel migration for unstable bends. Both vegetated and non-vegetated banks were surveyed in order to quantify the differences in erosion rates resulting from vegetation contribution to shear resistance. Lastly, two cross sections were typically established at locations upstream and downstream (±20 m) of significant headcuts to capture migration rates of longitudinal erosion. Typical plan cross-section layouts are shown in Figure 4.5, with the dark arrows indicating the direction of flow.



Figure 4.5 Plan view layout of cross-section transects.

Cross-section survey points were collected at the following locations between endpoints: 1-m fixed intervals, breaks in slope, top of bank, bottom of bank, bankfull stage, and channel thalweg. The cross sections were resurveyed yearly in the summers of 2004, 2005, and 2006 to track channel change with time; therefore, a high degree of resolution was recorded to ensure accurate assessment of channel change.

# 4.4.2 CHANNEL CROSS SECTION CUT AND FILL ANALYSIS.

A cut and fill analysis of channel change was conducted for cross sections surveyed in the summers of 2004, 2005 and 2006. AutoCAD drawings of each cross section were used to calculate cut and fill areas for each cross section. Erosion and deposition for channel processes occurring below the field-identified bankfull stage were calculated. Changes in cross sectional area for each year of survey data were tabulated. The changes in cross sectional area were normalized with channel bankfull width to arrive at aggradation or degradation depths at each cross section.

Channel-forming flows in this area occur during the winter months. The winter for water year 2004 was a typical rainfall year for the area, whereas the winter for water year 2005 was wetter than normal. Both sets of aggradation and degradation data, along with a moving average of the data, were plotted along the longitudinal profile for the period of record to examine trends over a three-year period (Figures 4.6 and 4.7). A simple method of comparing stability is to examine the frequency of cross sectional change crossing an equilibrium threshold for yearly channel adjustment. If the assumption is made that the stream is in quasi-equilibrium if aggradation or degradation rates don't exceed 0.05 m/yr. then Upper Penitencia Creek data only cross this threshold once along the surveyed extents. Berryessa Creek crosses this threshold four times along the surveyed reach. Additionally, the surveyed reach extents are significantly shorter for Berryessa Creek compared to Upper Penitencia Creek. Therefore, the relative rate of crossing this threshold is much stronger for Berryessa Creek, indicating that Berryessa Creek exhibits greater channel instability during the period of record for the cross section surveys. These data will be compared to the long-term longitudinal profile data in the sediment transport and stability discussion in chapter 6.



Figure 4.6 Aggradation or degradation rate from 2004 to 2006 as a function of river station for Upper Penitencia Creek.



Figure 4.7 Aggradation or degradation rate from 2004 to 2006 as a function of river station for Berryessa Creek.

The data also show oscillation in aggradation and degradation trends along the longitudinal profile. The Upper Penitencia data indicate that the stream is generally depositional within the valley up to river station 3000 m as bedload from the upstream watershed is deposited in the lower gradient valley. Downstream of station 3000 the channel is in quasi equilibrium with the exception of the vicinity near station 2450. This area was observed to be morphologically unstable in the field. Upon initial reconnaissance during the 2004 field season, a channel reconstruction was in place. This project had created a sinuous stream channel downstream of the I-680 crossing. During the next two field seasons the constructed bend was abandoned and the channel formed a chute cut off on the inside of the bend (Figure 4.8).



The Berryessa Creek longitudinal cross section data show an area of channel degradation immediately upstream of the transition to the valley portion of the watershed in the vicinity of river station 2000 m. The channel then maintains quasi equilibrium until it reaches the sedimentation basin near station 1400 m; at this location coarse bedload is deposited in the sediment basin and the channel is degrading immediately downstream. The stream briefly regains equilibrium until 1200 m, where a depositional trend is observed, likely due to influx of sediment derived from unstable banks in the reach. This reach has been historically degradational, but presently channel widening is the dominant process. The longitudinal trend then becomes briefly degradational near station 750 m, followed by a strong depositional trend at the downstream portion of the reach where failing banks and lateral migration are the dominant channel processes, introducing large volumes of sediment locally.

The channel is currently depositional downstream of the Crosley culvert outlet near station 200 m, despite a substantial increase in water discharge from historic conditions downstream of this culvert. The current Crosley culvert was constructed in 1983, and the downstream channel responded with a period of rapid incision, according to personal communication with local residents and corroborated by the long-term longitudinal profile data. This period of incision has ceased, as inferred from the cross section survey data. Large amounts of sediment are currently being introduced to the reach from failing stream banks due to lateral channel migration at this time. This increase in sediment supply results in channel aggradation downstream of the culvert. A 1.2-m headcut is present downstream of this area, which could cause further incision in the area if the headcut migrates upstream.

Summary statistics for the period of record for cross section resurveys and analysis are presented in Table 4.1. The data indicate that Upper Penitencia Creek has a stronger trend of aggradation than Berryessa Creek by comparison of means (0.016 m/yr versus 0.001 m/yr). The probability distribution (Figure 4.9) is positively skewed, with a value of (0.33) (aggradation) for the Upper Penitencia data, and negatively skewed (degradation), with a value of (-0.74) for the Berryessa data. The Berryessa data show greater dispersion of erosion and deposition amounts, as reflected in the larger range (0.26 m/yr versus 0.14 m/yr) and standard deviation (0.05 m/yr versus 0.03 m/yr). A Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistical test indicates that the erosion and deposition trends of the two streams are not statistically different at the 90% confidence level (D statistic=0.22 p=0.18), implying that both channels may be approaching a quasi-equilibrium state. The altered urban runoff regime has been relatively constant in both watersheds since the early 1980s allowing 20 years of time to adjust channel form. Likewise, the streams have had nearly 40 years to respond to base-level changes from valley subsidence. The data from the current cross section measurements indicate that both channels are approaching re-equilibration to the altered urban flow regimes and base-level changes. This time frame for adjustment is consistent with findings from other researchers (Hammer 1972, Booth and Henshaw 2000).

The urban flow regime has been constant for approximately twenty years, potentially enough time to adjust channel form. However, bedload deposition continues to occur at the constructed sedimentation basin on Berryessa Creek, depriving the downstream reaches of coarse bedload size material necessary for channel stability. This is a process that is ongoing; therefore, the stream continues to adjust to this sediment regime alteration. The cross sections from Berryessa Creek immediately downstream of the sediment basin are currently degrading indicating that the stream continues to incise as a result of this discontinuity in bedload transport. Engineered sedimentation basins do not exist on Upper Penitencia Creek and bedload is routed through the system. Cumulative distribution data (Figure 4.10) indicates that Berryessa Creek currently has a stronger degradation trend in the cross section data. Over 65% of the Berryessa Creek cross sections are currently degrading compared to 45% for the Upper Penitencia Creek sections. This trend is also observed in the long-term profile data. This indicates that Berryessa Creek is still adjusting to the altered hydrologic and sediment regimes caused by urbanization and engineering infrastructure.

Summary tables of the bankfull channel measurements for each stream are provided in Appendix A. Cross section plots for the 2004, 2005 and 2006 survey data along with the identified bankfull stage are provided in Appendix B.

	Upper Penitencia	Berryessa
Mean (m/yr)	0.016	0.001
Standard deviation (m/yr)	0.033	0.050
Range (m/yr)	0.135	0.264
Minimum (m/yr)	-0.045	-0.146
Maximum (m/yr)	0.090	0.118
Skewness	0.331	-0.737
Kurtosis	-0.055	2.072

Table 4.1Aggradation and degradation statistics for Upper Penitencia and<br/>Berryessa Creeks from cut and fill analysis for 2004 to 2006 cross<br/>section data.



Figure 4.9 Probability distributions for the Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek cross section erosion and deposition measurements.



Figure 4.10 Cumulative distributions for the Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek cross section erosion and deposition measurements.

# 4.4.3 BANKFULL CHANNEL CHARACTERISTICS

The bankfull stage was estimated for each year of the cross-section surveys. Field indicators of active floodplain bench development, vegetation change, and point bar crests (Leopold et al. 1964, Williams 1978) were used to identify the bankfull stage for each cross section. There was considerable variability in the estimates from year to year as the investigator became more familiar with the subtle bankfull indicators in this region. The channels are typically entrenched, with only small discontinuous floodplain benches present in the current water and sediment regime. Measurements of bankfull width, maximum and average bankfull depth, width/depth ratio, and bankfull area were calculated for each cross section yearly. Surveyed reach-average bankfull characteristics are provided in Table 4.2. A complete summary of the minimum, maximum, and average values is provided in Appendix A.

		3-year average of bankfull area	3-year average of bankfull width	3-year average of mean bankfull depth	3-year average of maximum bankfull depth	Reach average bankfull slope
Stream	Morphology	(m²)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m/m)
Upper Penitencia	Riffle	4.38	7.84	0.56	0.83	0.0097
	Bend	4.94	8.66	0.57	0.94	0.0097
	Headcut	4.22	8.39	0.47	0.8	0.0097
Berryessa	Riffle	1.5	3.89	0.37	0.56	0.017
	Bend	1.76	4.31	0.4	0.65	0.017
	Headcut	2.00	4.43	0.45	0.76	0.017

Table 4.2Bankfull characteristics using 3-year average values for Upper<br/>Penitencia and Berryessa Creeks.

#### 4.5 **RESISTANCE ESTIMATES**

Channel resistance estimates were conducted for each cross section survey using the Arcement and Schneider (1989) modification of the Cowan (1956) method for channel roughness estimation. Summary results are presented in Table 4.3. These field estimates of channel resistance were be utilized in the numerical models for both creeks. Using this methodology the Manning's roughness coefficient can be systematically estimated using the formulation:

$$n = (n_b + n_1 + n_2 + n_3 + n_4)m$$
 Equation 4.1

#### Where:

 $n_b$  = a base value of n for a straight, uniform, smooth channel in natural materials;

 $n_1$  = a correction factor for the effect of surface irregularities;

 $n_2$  = a value for variations in shape and size of the channel cross section;

 $n_3$  = a value for obstructions;

 $n_4$  = a value for vegetation and flow conditions; and

m = a correction factor for meandering of the channel,

Table 4.3Channel resistance (Manning's n) summary.

Creek	minimum -n	maximum -n	average -n
Berryessa	0.037	0.064	0.047
Upper Penitencia	0.029	0.053	0.038

#### 4.6 BED MATERIAL GRADATION DATA

Random walk pebble count samples (Wolman 1954) and bulk sediment samples were collected in the summer of 2004 to investigate longitudinal trends in bed material gradation and to provide bed material input data for the sediment transport modeling aspect of the project. Pebble counts were conducted at each monumented cross section for a total of 100 samples. Bulk sediment samples were collected on riffles where changes in bed material grain size distribution were noted from analysis of the pebble count data. There were 9 bulk sediment samples of the pavement and sub-pavement bed material collected for each stream, for a total of 18 samples. Bulk samples were also collected on selected bends on the lower third of the point bar to investigate potential grain size distributions of the size fraction of bedload transport. Ten point bar samples were collected in total.

#### 4.6.1 PEBBLE COUNT SAMPLING

A random walk pebble count was conducted for each cross-section location surveyed. Four transects were evenly spaced longitudinally along the morphological feature. Each transect consisted of approximately 25 random counts, evenly spaced along the entire bankfull channel width, resulting in 100 counts per cross section.

Pebble counts provide a quick method of investigating the size distribution of the surface bed material of the study reach and also provide a tool for screening the number of bulk sediment samples required to accurately assess the gradation of the pavement and subpavement of the study reach. Significant grain size change of the larger bed material particles (i.e.,  $D_{84}$ ,  $D_{75}$ ) as a function of river station or channel slope indicates areas
where bulk sediment samples should be collected more intensely. The increased sampling frequency is due to a larger standard deviation among potential sample sites. If the larger particle gradations remain fairly consistent along the longitudinal profile, then less frequency in sampling is sufficient if time or cost factors are limiting.

If the bed material grain size for the  $D_{84}$ ,  $D_{50}$ , and  $D_{16}$  are plotted along the longitudinal profile for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks (Figures 4.11 and 4.12, respectively), one can gain insight into bed material variability along the profile. It is clear from these two graphs that there is greater variability among the Berryessa Creek  $D_{84}$  particles along the profile and less variability of these larger clasts for the Upper Penitencia Creek data. These data indicate that bulk bed-material sampling should be conducted more frequently on Berryessa Creek, whereas Upper Penitencia Creek could be sampled less intensely along the longitudinal profile.

The data also show the influence of the engineered sediment basin on Berryessa Creek, as the  $D_{84}$  decreases from approximately 90 mm to 20 mm from upstream of this feature to downstream. This indicates that the sediment basin is effectively trapping bedload particles larger than 20 mm. This break in the grain size distribution represents a depositional area along the profile and is confirmed via the long-term profile data shown in Figure 3.5. As urban storm water inputs enter the study reach near river station 1200 m, the bed material coarsens and incision has been observed historically. After this break in the profile, typical downstream fining is observed in the pebble count data.

The Upper Penitencia Creek dataset shows less variability along the longitudinal profile of the  $D_{84}$  particles. There is a slight dip downstream of the upland valley transition,

indicating deposition near station 5700 m, followed by another dip near station 5000 m, where peak flows are extracted into off-channel groundwater percolation ponds. The gradation coarsens until station 3000 m, a reach that has been incising historically (Figure 3.6). After this reach, the coarse grain size fraction remains consistent with a slight downstream fining trend that would be expected.



Figure 4.11 Surface bed material as a function of river station for Berryessa Creek bends and riffles.



Figure 4.12 Surface bed material as a function of river station for Upper Penitencia Creek bends and riffles.

### 4.6.2 BULK SEDIMENT SAMPLING

Bulk sampling provides insight into the pavement and sub-pavement stratigraphy of the bed material within the alluvial channel system. It is generally recognized in gravel-bed channels that larger particles are more prevalent on the surface and the subsurface contains a finer gradation of sediments (Leopold 1994). Quantification of the pavement or armor layer is essential to sediment transport and incipient motion studies. A bulk sediment-sampling strategy was employed to quantify this gradation difference. Annable (1996) identified a grain size envelope between sub-pavement and point bar samples, where the typical gradations of sediment transported as bedload are observed. This can be useful for sediment transport model validation if measurements of the grain size

distribution of bedload in transport are unavailable. The bulk sediment samples were utilized as bed material inputs for the sediment transport models.

Bulk sediment sampling was conducted according to field methods offered by Annable (1996). At each riffle section, six pavement and six sub-pavement samples were collected. The approximate riffle sampling locations are illustrated in Figure 4.13, with sampling locations denoted with open triangles. On headcut sites, four pavement and four sub-pavement samples were located upstream and downstream of the headcut. Point bar samples were taken at three locations; on the lower third of bends, half-way between the thalweg of the channel, and the bankfull stage located on the inside of the bend.

The protocol for the bulk-sampling diameter dictated that the largest particle should not occupy more than approximately 16% of the total sampling area. This method helps to avoid having a few large particles dominate the sample mass. Sixteen percent was used to ensure that one particle did not occupy more area than two standard deviations of the total sample area. The sample area was excavated to a depth equal to the median (B) axis of the largest particle. Water obstruction and conducting the sampling at low flows reduced the loss of fine material during the sample-collection process. Sample masses were collected in five-gallon containers, sorted, sieved, and weighed on site from the largest particle sizes to the 16-mm size fraction. The remaining size fractions were labeled and placed in thick plastic bags for laboratory sieve analysis down to 0.04 mm. Sub-pavement samples were collected once the pavement sample had been excavated with the same protocol. Point bar samples were collected from the surface of the depositional feature on the lower third of the bend with the same protocol.



### Figure 4.13 Bulk sediment-sampling locations for a typical riffle.

All of the pavement samples for an individual cross section were combined into one cumulative gradation. This is done because using the individual pavement samples for a particular cross section would introduce bias toward the larger clasts, since individual samples were smaller in weight than what is recommended in the literature for streams where the largest particles are on the order of 90 to128 mm (International Organization of Standardization (ISO) 1977, Church *et al.* 1987. Diplas and Fripp 1992). When samples were combined for each riffle or headcut section, the average sample mass for the pavement samples was 75 kg for the Berryessa sites and 225 kg for the Upper Penitencia sites. Sub-pavement samples were also combined at the sampling sites. The average sub-pavement sample mass for Berryessa creek was 21 kg and Upper Penitencia sub-pavement sample masses averaged 75 kg. A frequency analysis conducted on all bed material sampled providing cumulative and frequency distributions of the bed material gradation, an example is shown in Figure 4.14. These gradations were used as input for the sediment transport modeling.



Figure 4.14 Combined pavement, sub-pavement, and pebble count gradations for Berryessa cross-section 25.

The bulk sediment sampling results are plotted as a function of river station for Berryessa Creek in Figure 4.15. The Berryessa data show a general downstream fining trend from the upland reaches into the valley. The strong influence of the constructed sediment basin is evident in these data. Downstream of the sediment basin, the D<sub>84</sub> particle sizes of the pavement and sub-pavement layers are nearly identical; in fact, the grain size distributions of both layers nearly collapse into one gradation at this point. This is a result of two processes; deposition of coarse bed load size particles in the sediment basin and an overall depositional trend in the reach due to changes in bankfull channel confinement. Downstream of the basin the pavement and sub-pavement distributions diverge and the stream regains a well defined pavement and sub-pavement bed material stratigraphy. Further downstream near station 250 m the influence of channel widening and increased sediment supply from the failing banks is seen. At this site the underlying sub-pavement layer is actually coarser than the pavement layer. This is an indication of deposition in the

reach. The sediment supplied from the failing banks generally has a finer grain size distribution than the bed material and the rate of sediment input exceeds the carrying capacity of the channel at this site.



Figure 4.15 Bulk bed material sampling data as a function of river station for Berryessa Creek.

Figure 4.16 shows the bulk sediment sampling results for Upper Penitencia as a function of river station. These data show a well defined downstream fining trend and well developed pavement and sub-pavement stratigraphy. This indicates that sediment sources from failing banks are relatively minor or the sediment supplied from these failing banks is similar in gradation to the existing bed material.



Figure 4.16 Bulk bed material sampling data as a function of river station for Upper Penitencia Creek.

The end result of the sediment sampling efforts is a series of surface bed material, pavement, and sub-pavement bed material gradations for each cross section. These bedmaterial gradations were utilized in the sediment transport modeling portion of the project. Another benefit of collecting a large amount of bed material data is derived from geomorphic interpretation of longitudinal trends in the bed material data. This provides insight into the erosion and deposition processes taking place at a reach scale without having to perform sediment transport analysis. To some degree, the story of what is happening longitudinally along the stream can be deduced from bed material interpretation. Tables of the bed material sampling results are presented in Appendix C.

## 4.7 STREAM BANK CHARACTERIZATION

## 4.7.1 BANK STRATIGRAPHY AND VEGETATION INVENTORY

A qualitative description of bank material composition and stratigraphy, torvane measurements of shear resistance for the bank material and vegetation characteristics were recorded for each riffle, bend, and headcut cross section. Bank sediment and vegetative components were characterized for each cross section by visual inspection of the dominant woody, herbaceous and grass bank vegetation types, overhead and understory canopy density, rooting depth and density, and bank soil types. Bank soils were inspected by exposing two 0.5-m wide swaths of vegetation (one for each bank) that extended vertically from the bottom of the bank to the top of the bank (Figure 4.17) Soil horizons were classified, demarcated with orange spray paint and photographed, and a stadia rod was used to provide scale for the photographs. The bank sediment information recorded is shown in Table 4.4.



Figure 4.17 Bank stratigraphy survey photograph from Berryessa Creek crosssection 16.

### Table 4.4Sediment properties recorded in bank stratigraphy survey.

Depth of soil layer	Sphericity (rounded, sub-rounded, angular)
Texture and color	Clast/matrix supported sediment structure
Grain size (clay, silt, gravel, cobble)	Sorting

Shear-resistance measurements were collected using a torvane meter for each significant change in soil type along the vertical swaths. The torvane measurements only provide a relative measure of erodibility of the various bank materials and the shear stress is strongly a function of saturation.

Stream banks on Berryessa Creek generally had sparse vegetation consisting of seasonal grasses or were devoid of vegetation. Most banks were buttressed with coarse bed material (cobbles/gravels) at the bank toe. Banks that were devoid of vegetation and lacked buttressing at the bank toe were subject to the highest rates of erosion. Many of the banks actually showed a depositional trend from analysis of the cross section data. Deposition was primarily at the bank toe, indicating active floodplain development. In reaches where lateral migration and active bank erosion were present, erosion rates ranged from 0.01 to 0.11 m/yr. Deposition and erosion rates balance each other, with the average erosion rate equal to 0.004 m/yr. Summary data for Berryessa Creek are provided in Table 4.5.

GCS	River Station (m)	Left or Right bank	Dominant Vegetation Type	Vegetation density (low, moderate, high)	Grain size at bank toe	Grain size upper bank	Failure rate (m/yr) (positive number indicates erosion)
5	1988	LB	woody	Low	cobble	fine matrix	0.06
6	1940	RB	woody	high	cobble	fine matrix	-0.01
8	1808	LB	bare	low	cobble	fine matrix	-0.01
8	1808	RB	bare	low	cobble	fine matrix	-0.01
9	1798	LB	bare	low	cobble	fine matrix	-0.02
9	1798	RB	bare	low	cobble	fine matrix	-0.01
10	1778	LB	grass	low	gravel	fine matrix	-0.05
10	1778	RB	grass	low	cobble	Silt	0.02
11	1768	LB	grass	Low	cobble	coarse matrix	0.01
11	1768	RB	grass	moderate	cobble	fine matrix	-0.06
12	1436	LB	grass	moderate	silt	silt	-0.06
15	1254	RB	grass	high	cobble	silt	-0.06
16	1157	LB	bare	low	gravel	fine matrix	0.08
16-2	1103	LB	bare	low	silt	fine matrix	0.06
17	1091	RB	woody/grasses	moderate	cobble	silt	-0.01
21	773	RB	grass	low	cobble	silt	-0.02
24	577	RB	woody	moderate	gravel	silt	0.04
26	498	RB	grass	low	cobble	silt	0.02
27	353	LB	none	low	silt	silt	0.11

 Table 4.5
 Stream bank summary data for Berryessa Creek.

Generally, the stream banks on Upper Penitencia have more abundant perennial vegetation, but many of the unstable banks are devoid of vegetation, with only the roots from top bank trees providing reinforcement for the exposed alluvial debris flow deposits that compose the majority of the bank soils. The banks on Upper Penitencia Creek have more cobble and gravel material than Berryessa Creek. In many places this material serves to buttress the bank toe if bank erosion occurs. Much like Berryessa Creek, shifting trends of deposition (floodplain development) and erosion are seen along Upper Penitencia Creek. Banks in the downstream reaches (stations 1338 m and 645 m) are typically depositional, with overbank deposition prominent in the most downstream reaches. Erosion rates range from 0.01 m/yr to 0.21 m/yr. Reaches upstream of the historic subsidence axis (from river station 3000 m to 4750 m) exhibit bank instability

and bank erosion is prevalent. This reach has erosion rates that average 0.16 m/yr. Upstream of this area the banks are generally stable, well vegetated and show minimal migration. Summary data for Upper Penitencia Creek are provided in Table 4.6.

GCS	River Station (m)	Left or Right bank	Dominant Vegetation Type	Vegetation density (low, moderate, high)	Grain size at bank toe	Grain size upper bank	Failure rate (m/yr) (positive number indicates erosion)
4	5702	I B	woodu/grassos	moderate	cobblo	coarse	0.01
4	5792	LD	woody/grasses	moderate	copple	maunx	0.01
8	5198	RB	woody/grasses	high	cobble	silt	-0.01
9	5054	RB	woody/bare	low	gravel/cobble	silt	0.03
12	4751	RB	bare/grasses	low	cobble	fine matrix	0.1
16	3590	LB	bare	low	cobble	silt	0.18
17	3102	LB	bare	low	cobble/gravel	fine matrix gravel	0.21
18	2437	RB	bare/grasses	low	gravel	matrix	0.1
21	1338	LB	woody/bare	low	gravel/cobble	fine matrix	-0.06
24	645	RB	grasses	moderate	gravel/cobble	silt	-0.02

 Table 4.6
 Stream bank summary data for Upper Penitencia Creek.

### 4.7.2 BANK GEOMETRY AND STABILITY SURVEY

Due to time and expense constraints, it was not feasible to survey all of the bends with monumented cross sections. To supplement this data set, an additional field survey was conducted on both creeks where bank height and bank angles were measured for visually estimated stable and unstable bends. These field measurement were combined with the surveyed cross section data to plot bank angles and heights for bends that were qualitatively classified as stable, moderate, or unstable (Figure 4.18). This survey reveals some useful information concerning bank geometry and stability within this region. Generally, banks under 2.3 m in height and with bank angles less than 45 degrees were found to be stable. A survey such as this can be conducted in one day and can provide useful guidance to the design engineer for engineering bank protection measures.



Figure 4.18 Measured bank heights and angles for stable and unstable bends.

The bank height ratio, defined as the lowest bank height divided by the maximum depth (Rosgen 2001), has been proposed as a measure of bank stability. This ratio is a measure of confinement of the bankfull channel in relation to the available floodplain. A ratio of 1 would indicate the occurrence of overbank flow at discharges exceeding the bankfull stage. This ratio is plotted as a function of bank angle (Figure 4.19) for the surveyed bends where the bankfull stage was identified in the cross section data collection efforts. These data indicate that both of these channels are incised within the historic alluvial fan present at the upland/ valley front. Generally, the streams do not have access to significant floodplains at the bankfull stage. The data indicate that bends can be stable within this confined channel as long as the bank angle is less than 45 degrees. At the

steeper bank angles (>45 degrees) bends can be unstable regardless of floodplain accessibility to channel forming discharges. Natural lateral migration is present in bends with access to floodplains. Both geotechnical failure and bend migration due to hydraulic forces can take place when banks are steeper than 45 degrees.



Figure 4.19 Bank height ratio as a function of bank angle for bends and incised stream banks on Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks.

### 4.7.3 BANK ROD DATABASE

Bank rods (10-13 mm in diameter and 1.2 m in length) were installed in the winter season of 2004 on six bends on Berryessa Creek and 5 bends on Upper Penitencia Creek to measure rates of bank retreat. The bank rods were installed on actively eroding banks. These bank rods have been monitored and re-measured yearly through the summer of

2006. The length of bank rod left exposed was measured yearly and the bank rods were reset if a significant portion of the rod was left exposed after bank retreat. In some instances the exposed rod length was smaller than the previous year, indicating bank settling. Bank retreat rates ranged from 0 to 0.36 m/yr. These data were measured to supplement the bank retreat data from the time sequenced cross section data. The two data sources showed reasonable agreement on sites where both measurement techniques were used (Figures 4.20 and 4.21). The data from the bank rods predicted larger rates of bank retreat than the cross section data. Estimates from the cross section data incorporate an average rate for the entire bank, whereas the bank rod data represent localized measurements on the mid to upper bank region and don't account for the deposition of failed material at the bank toe. These data, in conjunction with the photo grid grain size analysis described in the next section, were utilized in the numerical modeling portion of the project to quantify sediment sources from bank erosion to the streams.



Figure 4.20 Bank rod and cross section measurements of bank retreat and deposition for Berryessa Creek.



Figure 4.21 Bank rod and cross section measurements of bank retreat and deposition for Upper Penitencia Creek.

### 4.7.4 BANK-MATERIAL GRADATION

Bank materials in the two streams vary drastically between stratigraphic units. Many of the stream banks are composed of coarse alluvial fan deposits, with composition varying between poorly sorted unconsolidated alluvial debris flow deposits, road-fill base, to depositional alluvial silts (Figure 4.22). At sites where the bank material was fairly uniform and consisted of silts, sands, and small gravels, bulk samples were collected and analyzed for gradation via sieve analysis. At sites where the bank material gradation was too coarse to perform sieve analysis, a visual grid photograph analysis was conducted to estimate the bank material gradation (Figure 4.23). Bank grid photos were imported into AutoCAD and a pebble count analysis was conducted at each grid point. In some instances the bank materials were too small to estimate with this procedure. In these cases a generalized fine grained silt and sand grain size distribution was used for the gradation

of the bank material. The resulting data were utilized in the sediment transport models to estimate the grain size distribution of sediment introduced into the system via bank failure. Grain size distributions for bank materials for Upper Penitencia Creek were generally coarser than Berryessa Creek. Deposition of coarse material at the toe of actively failing banks was observed in the field, particularly on Upper Penitencia Creek. This process results in natural bank toe stabilization by the coarse clasts introduced into the stream via bank failure (Figure 4.24). The implications of this process were not quantified but it is possible that this process aids in the stability of stream banks along Upper Penitencia Creek.



Figure 4.22 Stream bank on Berryessa Creek with bank-material gradation varying with stratigraphic unit.



Figure 4.23 Photograph grid utilized to visually determine bank-material gradation.



Figure 4.24 Example of bank toe armoring by failed coarse bank material, Upper Penitencia Creek.

#### 4.8 STREAMFLOW AND SEDIMENT TRANSPORT MEASUREMENT

According to Lane's (1955) relationship (Equation 4.2), the product of the slope and discharge are balanced by the product of the grain size and sediment discharge:

$$QS \propto d_s Q_s$$
 Equation 4.2

The relatively static parameters of slope (S) and bed-material grain size  $(d_s)$  are measured during the geomorphic survey. However, to assess channel stability the dynamic parameters, discharge (Q) and sediment discharge ( $Q_s$ ), must be measured over time for a large range of flow events, from low flows and up to and exceeding bankfull conditions. The discharge and sediment transport rates were measured at several locations within the study reach to examine the effect of the storm sewer network on flow rate and duration, and the subsequent sediment transport from these alterations to the natural drainage network. A continuous stage recorder (15-minute intervals), coupled with a rating curve developed from flow measurements, was utilized to develop continuous flow-records for the wet season in water years 2005 and 2006. Both bedload and suspended load were measured to develop sediment rating curves at the gaging sites. Two gaging sites were monitored on Upper Penitencia Creek and three sites were monitored on Berryessa Creek. The gaging stations for Berryessa Creek were immediately upstream of the Piedmont Road crossing (river station 1750 m), the pedestrian bridge crossing (station 800 m), and the Hillview Avenue crossing, which is far downstream of the study reach. Only the Piedmont Road and pedestrian bridge data will be analyzed in this report. The gaging stations for Upper Penitencia Creek were located at the Piedmont Road crossing (station 4580 m) and the crossing near Berryessa Industrial Park (BIP) (station 10 m).

The suspended load was sampled with a USGS DH-59 depth-integrated suspended sediment sampler. Bedload transport were measured with a handheld 152 mm Helley-Smith sampler when the streams were wadeable, or a cable-suspended 152 mm Helley-Smith sampler for non-wadeable conditions. Bedload gradations were analyzed to gain insight into both the caliber and quantity of bed load transported at the measurement locations. Balance Hydrologics conducted the majority of this sampling effort, with support from CSU and SCVWD staff for select high flow events that were sampled to define the upper end of the rating curve. This was due to the short duration and unpredictable nature of the rainfall events as well as the distant geographic proximity of the investigator to the field sites. CSU staff worked in conjunction with Balance Hydrologics staff to select stream flow and sediment transport measurement locations.

Sediment rating curves were tabulated for all of the gaging locations. The curves were fit as power functions in the form of equation 4.3.

$$Q_s = aQ^b$$
 Equation 4.3

### Where:

 $Q_s$  = Bedload or suspended load sediment discharge (metric tonnes/day)

- $Q = Water discharge (m^3/s)$
- a = regression coefficient
- b = regression coefficient (exponent of water discharge)

These rating curves are presented in Figures 4.25, 4.26, 4.27, and 4.28. An additional rating curve was developed by synthesizing all of the measurements on the individual streams (Figure 4.29).



Figure 4.25 Sediment rating curve for Berryessa Creek upstream of the Piedmont Road crossing (river station 1750 m).



Figure 4.26 Sediment rating curve for Berryessa Creek near the pedestrian bridge crossing (river station 800 m).



Figure 4.27 Sediment rating curve for Upper Penitencia Creek near the Piedmont Road crossing (river station 4508 m).



Figure 4.28 Sediment rating curve for Upper Penitencia Creek near the crossing near Berryessa Industrial Park (river station 10 m).



# Figure 4.29 Sediment rating curves for all data on Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek.

Examination of the regression coefficients provides valuable insight into both the sediment transport and sediment supply characteristics of both streams. A summary of the regression coefficients is presented in Table 4.7.

# Table 4.7Summary of the sediment rating curve regression coefficients for<br/>Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Bedload			Suspended load		
Site	а	b	r <sup>2</sup>	а	b	r <sup>2</sup>
Berryessa at Piedmont	69.8	2.61	0.75	431.4	2.35	0.93
Berryessa at pedestrian bridge	44.1	1.97	0.81	417.3	2.23	0.99
Upper Penitencia at Piedmont	5.2	2.29	0.92	18.2	2.34	0.68
Upper Penitencia at BIP	1.13	3.78	0.85	6.2	2.82	0.99
All Berryessa	50.4	2.09	0.78	413.1	2.31	0.96
All Upper Penitencia	2.4	2.96	0.83	8.7	2.77	0.89

The leading regression coefficient in the rating curve equations (a) can be considered a relative estimate of the amount of sediment supplied to the system. The exponent regression coefficient in the equations is a relative estimate of the capacity of the streams to transport the given supply. Comparison of these coefficients for the streams being studied indicates that Berryessa Creek has a much larger amount of sediment supplied to the system compared to Upper Penitencia Creek. The suspended load coefficient for the Berryessa sites is 47 times larger than the Upper Penitencia sites and the bedload coefficient is 21 times larger. The upland reaches of Berryessa Creek contain many areas of landslide activity and colluvial sediment sources. These features are less prevalent in the upland reaches of Upper Penitencia Creek. The capacity coefficients (b) are greater for Upper Penitencia Creek. The bedload capacity coefficient is 41 % greater and the suspended load coefficient is 20% greater. These capacity coefficients (b) typically fall within the range of 2 to 3 (Leopold et al. 1964, Julien 1994). All of the measured data fit this range with the exception of the gaging site on Upper Penitencia Creek at BIP (3.92). This site is located in a highly incised engineered reach with severe urban encroachment, so the resulting higher exponent is logical due to the limited floodplain and simplified prismatic channel shape in this reach.

It was anticipated that the sediment supply coefficients (a) would decrease in the downstream longitudinal direction in these streams because the majority of the sediment (particularly in the suspended load size fraction) is produced in the upland watersheds. Examining the longitudinal trends in the sediment supply coefficients (a) shows that this trend is present, but the trend is much stronger for Upper Penitencia Creek. The bedload supply coefficient decreases 360% and the suspended load supply coefficient decreases

193% for Upper Penitencia from the upstream gaging station to the downstream gaging station. This indicates that local channel instability within valley is not supplying significant amounts of sediment to the downstream reaches and sediment storage is taking place. On Berryessa Creek the bedload supply coefficient decreases 58% and the suspended load supply coefficient only decreases 3% from the upstream gaging station to the downstream gaging station. This occurs in spite of the presence of a sedimentation basin between the two locations. The sediment basin traps mainly bedload, possibly explaining the larger decrease of this coefficient in comparison to the suspended load coefficient. The lack of a decrease in the supply coefficient indicates that localized channel instability within the valley readily supplies sediment to the downstream reaches, particularly in the finer grained suspended load fraction. This supply likely comes from failing stream banks because overland sources are minimal within the urbanized valley portion of the stream.

In addition to the preceding geomorphic interpretation of the sediment rating curve data, this study utilized the resulting sediment rating curves and gaging data for hydrologic analysis and modeling as well as a calibration tool for the sediment transport modeling.

### 4.9 STORM SEWER CULVERT INVENTORY

A storm sewer culvert inventory was conducted in the winter of 2005. The investigating author walked the entire study reach of both creeks and all storm sewer outfalls were located with GPS waypoints. Pertinent characteristics such as culvert diameter, culvert type and spatial location were noted in the inventory. This inventory was used to fieldverify all culvert characteristics and locations used in the hydrologic modeling analysis.

113

## 4.10 SUMMARY OF FIELD DATA COLLECTION EFFORTS

The investigating author implemented a rigorous field data-collection program for both Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek beginning in the summer of 2004. Three field seasons were completed. CSU and SCVWD staff have performed all the field work to date, with the exception of the continuous flow monitoring and sediment transport measurement, which was accomplished by teaming with Balance Hydrologics. CSU staff designed all survey, sampling, and measurement protocols. The field data-collection program consisted of:

- Preliminary field reconnaissance;
- Detailed initial longitudinal and cross section surveys;
- Repeated cross section and headcut migration surveys;
- Channel resistance estimates;
- Pebble count and bulk sampling bed material gradation analysis;
- Bank stratigraphy and vegetation composition surveys;
- Measurement of bank material gradation and shear stress characteristics;
- Bank rod installation and monitoring on unstable bends;
- Bank height and bank angle survey to assess bend stability characteristics;
- Continuous stream flow gaging;
- Bedload and suspended load sediment transport measurement; and a
- Culvert inventory of all storm sewer outfalls.

This dataset was used to provide geomorphic interpretation of the presently observed erosion and deposition processes observed through field observation. In addition the dataset provided the foundation for all numerical modeling exercises that will be discussed in the following two chapters. Field data collection is not glamorous or easy and post-processing of the data is an arduous task. Detailed notes, hundreds of spreadsheets and countless hours have brought about the final dataset that was collected in a relatively short time in the field (~7 weeks). The robustness and utility of a dataset of this breadth and scope provides a tremendous source of information in understanding the geomorphic and hydrologic processes occurring in these two streams.

In summary, the major findings of the field dataset are:

- Both streams presently show oscillation between cross section erosion and deposition along the longitudinal profile, with rates generally oscillating between +/- 0.05 m/yr.
- Berryessa Creek crosses the 0.05 m/yr threshold more frequently than Upper Penitencia Creek, indicating greater channel instability.
- Both streams have areas of channel instability, with the Upper Penitencia Creek instability being more localized and Berryessa Creek more system-wide.
- Definitive breaks in bed material gradation were observed along Berryessa Creek due to a sedimentation basin and local channel instability; Upper Penitencia Creek data showed a general downstream fining trend.

- Banks with heights less than 2.3 m and bank angles less than 45 degrees were typically stable, even within confined cross sections with minimal floodplain access.
- Bank rod and consecutive cross section survey data showed reasonable agreement on rates of unstable bank retreat, with the bank rod data generally showing higher rates.
- Inspection of measured sediment rating curves indicates a higher rate of sediment supply to Berryessa Creek, with supply remaining high from bed and bank sources due to channel instability within the urban valley portion of the watershed.

# 5.0 FLOW REGIME CHANGES DUE TO URBANIZATION FOR THE BERRYESSA AND UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK WATERSHEDS

# 5.1 INTRODUCTION

There are three processes that have led to flow regime change in the Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek watersheds.

- An increase in impervious area in the valley portion of the watershed due to urban development and construction.
- Increased connectivity and changes in the effective catchment area manipulation as a result of the constructed urban storm sewer network. This process led to an increase in the effective catchment area for Berryessa Creek and a decrease in the effective catchment area for Upper Penitencia Creek.
- 3. Flow diversion and retention due to percolation pond and detention basin construction on Upper Penitencia Creek to recharge groundwater tables and mitigate historic valley subsidence problems in the area.

These processes were modeled using the Hydrologic Engineering Center Hydrologic Modeling System (HEC-HMS) software (HEC 2001) for both basins to produce three hypothetical flow regimes for sediment transport modeling. The HEC-HMS hydrologic model is a lumped parameter, event-based model used to simulate precipitation-runoff processes in dendritic watershed systems (HEC 2001). HEC-HMS models were created for three scenarios for each stream to quantify the relative effects of drainage area modification, increased imperviousness due to urban infill and flow diversion to percolation ponds. The three simulated flow regimes are:

- 1. The historical flow regime without urbanization infill or storm sewer network manipulation of the effective drainage area.
- 2. The urbanized flow regime without the modification of drainage area or flow diversion due to the constructed storm water system.
- 3. An urbanized flow regime that accounts for both the increase in imperviousness of the drainage catchment, the manipulation of the natural or topographic catchment area by the constructed storm sewer network, and flow diversion to the constructed groundwater percolation ponds.

# 5.2 MODEL DEVELOPMENT

The methods used to simulate runoff processes in the HEC-HMS models are summarized in Table 5.1.

Modeling process	Model method	
Overland plane losses	Green-Ampt infiltration	
Overland plane routing	Kinematic wave	
Channel routing	Musingum-Cunge	
Base flow estimates	Base flow recession curve	

Input parameters for precipitation losses, overland plane routing, channel routing, and baseflow recession were obtained from field data, GIS topographic data, and regional soil survey data.

The upland areas of both streams are characterized by steep hill slopes consisting of clay loam to gravelly loam soils with moderate vegetation, and low infiltration rates (USDA 1974). The valley portion of both creeks is characterized by land surfaces with moderate to low relief sandy to gravelly loam soils with higher infiltration rates (USDA 1974).

Hillslope and upland channel metrics (slope and slope length) were quantified from GISbased topographic data. Initial estimates for saturated hydraulic conductivity and wetting front suction were based on soil classification and literature values (Rawls et al. 1982) and the values were modified within the ranges specified in the literature as calibration parameters. Soil infiltration rates for upland soils ranged from 2 to 8 mm/hr for Berryessa and 3-10 mm/hr for Upper Penitencia. The Upper Penitencia rates were typically higher reflecting the more permeable soils in this watershed as well as the effects of increased vegetation density in the upland areas. The valley soils are better drained for both watersheds and an infiltration rate of 13 mm/hr was typically used for both watersheds in the valley area. Antecedent moisture conditions to estimate initial losses, soil suction and soil moisture deficit were also modified within reasonable bounds as calibration parameters to fit observed precipitation and resulting discharge measurements.

The changes in imperviousness and effective catchment area were previously discussed and quantified in the aerial photograph and topographic map morphometric time series analysis and are summarized in Table 3.4. The hydrologic models utilized the final urbanized state in the 2002 aerial photograph as the urbanized condition and the historic catchment circa 1940 was used for the historic condition. A GIS database was available to represent storm sewer network pipe sizes, outfall locations, and pipe run lengths. All storm sewer outfall locations were verified by field investigation and mapping. Flow diversions were only present on Upper Penitencia Creek. The location and geometric configuration of these diversions were also mapped during field reconnaissance. The effects of urbanization were modeled with an imperviousness factor determined for each sub-watershed via aerial photograph GIS analysis.

The sub-basin delineation for HEC-HMS was completed by analyzing the significant changes in drainage patterns and topography for the upland areas as well as capturing all of the urban sub-basins delivering water to the stream from storm sewers within the urban areas. A summary of the sub-basin discretization is provided in Table 5.2. Changes in the valley catchment size reflect the alteration in drainage area resulting from the storm sewer network. The alteration in the size of the Berryessa Creek upland catchment results from the capture of adjacent historic alluvial fan upland watersheds by the storm sewer network that were previously not in direct hydraulic connection to the main stem of Berryessa Creek.

Stream	Historic sub- basins	Current sub- basins	Valley catchment area (km²)	Upland catchment area (km²)
Berryessa	9	16	0.9-1.9	12.1-13.6
Upper Penitencia	21	35	4.7-6.8	56.9

### 5.3 MODEL CALIBRATION

Both streams can be characterized as having an upland portion in the steep topography of the Diablo Mountains and a valley portion in the presently urbanized alluvial flat. The time series morphometric analysis showed little to no urbanization in the upland areas of both watersheds. Therefore, the assumption was made that the presently observed hydrographs at the upland/valley interface are relatively unaffected by the urbanization process and if they are calibrated to existing storm data, the urbanization effects on the hydrograph along the valley portion can be simulated with HEC-HMS modeling.

Stream gaging data at 15-min intervals were available for both streams for water years 2005 and 2006 at the upland valley interface. Fifteen minute rainfall data were also available for both sites, enabling hydrologic simulation of the upland drainage area of both streams. Six storms were selected for each stream and the HEC-HMS simulated runoff peak and volume from the upland drainage was calibrated to the observed hydrographs (Figures 5.1-5.2). Due to varying rainfall patterns and runoff response, four of the storms that were represented were common to both creeks during the calibration process. Summary statistics of the observed hydrographs and rainfall for these storms are provided in Table 5.3. The storms produced flows ranging from 25% to 310% of bankfull discharge calculated from velocity area method and the field-observed bankfull stage.



Figure 5.1 Predicted vs. observed storm peak for calibration storms.



Figure 5.2 Predicted vs. observed storm volume for calibration storms.

		Beri	ryessa	Upper Penitencia	
Storm date	Rainfall (mm)	Flood peak (m³/s)	Flood volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Flood peak (m³/s)	Flood volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )
14-Feb-05	42	1.6	104	6.5	212
14-Jan-06	23	0.9	14	2.2	156
25-Mar-06	33	3.4	51	20.6	518
4-Apr-06	51	3.3	188	25.4	2293

 Table 5.3
 Summary statistics for calibration storms common to both streams.

With the knowledge that the HEC-HMS models were producing storm peaks and volumes similar to those observed in the field, the same storms with the same upland characteristics can be run for the other two scenarios modeled; 1.) The unaltered topographic catchment with the urbanization increase in imperviousness in the valley portion of the catchment, and 2.) The current urban drainage catchment with drainage area modification and flow diversion modification by the constructed storm sewer network and off-channel percolation ponds. These modeling runs will elucidate the changes in the historic flow regime incurred due to the multi-faceted urbanization process in both catchments.

### 5.4 QUANTIFICATION OF FLOW REGIME CHANGES

### 5.4.1 BERRYESSA CREEK

The changes in the hydrologic regime in Berryessa Creek (Figure 5.3) can be summarized by two processes: 1.) Urbanization infill and subsequent increases in impervious area
and, 2.) Drainage area capture via the storm sewer network of land areas that were not previously hydraulically connected to the trunk stream. The result of the first process is a net increase of 14% in urbanized land use for the entire watershed and a 50% increase in impervious area in the valley portion of the watershed where the urbanized land use has increased to 85%. The result of the second process is a 20% net increase in the effective catchment area through time and a 120% increase in effective catchment area along the urbanized valley floor. These changes in land use and effective drainage area should manifest in higher peak flows and flood volumes. The expected changes in storm runoff characteristics were quantified in the HEC-HMS modeling efforts previously described.



Figure 5.3 Berryessa Creek current (effective) catchment and historic (topographic) catchment.

The changes in the calibration storm peaks and volumes (Table 5.4) are summarized at two locations in the watershed. The first location is downstream of the Sweigert Creek storm sewer outfall, which lies within the historic topographic catchment but lacked direct connectivity historically as the flood waters from Sweigert Creek would spill on to the alluvial fan terminus and typically infiltrate the valley alluvium before reaching Berryessa Creek. Presently this drainage does have direct hydrologic and hydraulic connectivity to Berryessa Creek via the constructed storm sewer network. The second location where the storm runoff hydrograph changes were quantified is downstream of the Crosley Creek culvert outfall. The Crosley Creek drainage does not lie within the historic topographic catchment of Berryessa Creek. However, the present storm sewer network does capture both the upland and valley portions of this drainage and delivers the flow to the lower end of the Berryessa Creek study area. This is termed the outlet in Table 5.4. In this table the non-urbanized historic catchment is termed "historic", the topographic catchment area with urban infill is termed "topographic catchment urbanized" and the present effective catchment that accounts for the basin capture from the storm sewer network as well as the urban impervious land use change is termed "current catchment urbanized".

## Table 5.4Summary of flood peaks and volumes for six calibration storms on<br/>Berryessa Creek accounting for increases in impervious area and<br/>drainage area capture.

Downstream of Sweigert Creek outfall	Historic		Topographic catchment urbanized				Current (Effective) catchment urbanized			
Storm	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m³)	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m³)	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)
14-Feb-05	1.7	97	1.8	113	11%	17%	1.8	116	10%	20%
27-Feb-05	1.3	37	1.7	44	31%	20%	1.8	44	34%	19%
14-Jan-06	0.8	22	1.0	30	23%	36%	1.1	31	25%	39%
21-Mar-06	1.9	70	2.1	80	11%	14%	2.1	83	13%	18%
25-Mar-06	3.3	55	3.8	63	14%	15%	3.9	66	16%	20%
4-Apr-06	4.5	182	4.7	193	6%	6%	5.1	197	15%	9%

Outlet	Outlet Historic			Topographic catchment urbanized				Current (Effective) catchment urbanized			
Storm	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m³)	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)	
14-Feb-05	1.7	100	1.9	118	12%	19%	2.4	162	43%	62%	
27-Feb-05	1.4	39	1.8	47	35%	21%	4.1	69	201%	79%	
14-Jan-06	0.8	22	1.1	31	25%	42%	1.5	48	73%	114%	
21-Mar-06	1.9	70	2.1	81	13%	16%	2.7	108	45%	54%	
25-Mar-06	3.3	55	3.8	64	16%	18%	5.1	87	53%	59%	
4-Apr-06	4.5	181	4.8	194	7%	7%	6.5	229	46%	26%	

If we compare the two urbanized scenarios, one with the topographic catchment and one with the effective catchment created by the storm sewer network, the magnification effects on flood peaks and volumes due to the current storm sewer network are most pronounced at the downstream outlet below the Crosley Creek storm sewer outfall (Table 5.5). At this location a net increase of 47% for the flood peak and a 37% increase for the flood volume are quantified. These increases account for both drainage area capture and increased connectivity due to the urban infrastructure. The magnification effects are smaller for the reach below the Sweigert Creek outfall because the Sweigert Creek drainage does lie within the historical topographic drainage; therefore, most of the increase is a result of increased hydrologic connectivity and efficiency facilitated by the storm sewer network.

Table 5.5Summary of flood peak and volume for the urbanized topographic<br/>drainage area and current urbanized drainage area on Berryessa<br/>Creek.

	Topographi urba	c catchment nized	Current ( catchment	Effective) urbanized		
	Average increase in flood peak	Average increase in flood volume	Average increase in flood peak	Average increase in flood volume	Net increase in flood peak due to drainage area capture	Net increase in flood volume due to drainage area capture
Sweigert Creek outfall	16%	18%	19%	21%	3%	2%
Crosley Creek outfall	18%	20%	77%	66%	47%	37%

Flow duration relationships for the three scenarios were calculated for the reaches downstream of the Sweigert Creek and Crosley Creek outfalls (Figures 5.4 and 5.5). The flow duration curves show similar results with regard to the effects of the storm sewer

network at Sweigert Creek; at this location most of the flood peak and volume magnification can be attributed to the increase in impervious area rather than the effect of the storm sewer network. The Crosley Creek curve accounts for both processes. The changes in water yield due to urbanization were computed from the flow duration relationships. Results of this analysis are provided in Table 5.6. These calculations show a 48% increase in water yield at the downstream outlet due to drainage area capture and urban land use change, compared to only a 13% increase in water yield due to urban land use change alone.



Figure 5.4 Flow duration curve for Berryessa Creek below the Sweigert Creek storm sewer outfall.



Figure 5.5 Flow duration curve for Berryessa Creek below the Crosley Creek storm sewer outfall.

Table 5.6	Changes in water yield due to urbanization and effective catchment
	area changes on Berryessa Creek.

	Water Yield Natural	Water Yield from modeled storms (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )/ł Natural Topographic Current(effect			Increase in water yield due to urban land use change and drainage area
Location	conditions	urbanized	urbanized	change	capture
Downstream of Sweigert Creek	31.1	34.6	35.5	11%	14%
Outlet downstream of Crosley Creek	31.2	35.3	46.1	13%	48%

The storm hydrographs for the urbanized watershed exhibit flashy peaks that closely follow the rainfall hyetograph due to the impervious surfaces and direct connectivity to the storm sewer network (Figure 5.6) resulting in multiple peaks for a flood event that would historically have one well-defined runoff peak. This is particularly prevalent for storm events with relatively small flood peaks (< bankfull discharge). Multiple peaks are produced primarily as a result of the impervious urban portions of the drainage network that have efficient routing to the main channel as a result of the storm sewer network.



Figure 5.6 Simulated runoff below the Crosley Creek outfall on Berryessa Creek for a storm occurring January 14, 2006.

Inspecting the relationship of flood peak and volume as a function of discharge illustrates this process (Figures 5.7 and 5.8). Flood volumes and peaks are increased at a greater rate for the smaller storms. This finding is in agreement with the findings of previous researchers (Leopold 1973, Hollis 1975). Flood volumes show a stronger trend than flood peak. It would be expected that the sediment transport capacity for the valley reaches under the current urbanized effective catchment scenario would also be increased if the resulting peaks are large enough to mobilize the bed material. This will be investigated in the following chapter.



Figure 5.7 Percent increase in flood peak as function of discharge for Berryessa Creek below the Crosley storm sewer outfall.



Figure 5.8 Percent increase in flood volume as function of discharge for Berryessa Creek below the Crosley storm sewer outfall.

#### 5.4.2 UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK

Urbanization has affected Upper Penitencia Creek differently from Berryessa Creek. Although both streams have experienced an increase in impervious area, the valley portion of Upper Penitencia Creek is 76% urbanized and the entire catchment is 7% urbanized. The effective catchment area of Upper Penitencia Creek (Figure 5.9) has been reduced due to the storm sewer network. The effective catchment in the valley has been reduced 29% and the total reduction in catchment area due to storm sewer network development is 3%. Additionally, percolation ponds were constructed adjacent to the creek to mitigate groundwater withdrawal and valley subsidence. Water is transferred to these off-channel reservoirs by diversion structures, the result being reduced peak flows and volumes downstream of the diversion. Therefore, there are opposing tendencies altering the flow regime in Upper Penitencia Creek. 1.) Increased imperviousness and hydraulic connectivity from the urbanized valley infill and infrastructure and 2.) Flow diversion and reduction of the topographic drainage catchment. The net result of these processes was quantified in the HEC-HMS analysis. The simulated hydrographs were analyzed at two gaging locations on Upper Penitencia Creek (Figure 5.9).

- 1. The Piedmont Road gage (river station 4580 m) located downstream from the most prominent flow diversion structure and;
- 2. The Berryessa Industrial Park gage (river station 10 m) located near the watershed outlet to Coyote Creek.



### Figure 5.9 Upper Penitencia Creek current (effective) catchment and historic (topographic) catchment.

Measured storm events were analyzed at the Dorel Road and Piedmont Road gaging locations to quantify an average flow percentage that was diverted upstream of the Piedmont gage and a threshold flow when flow diversion could be expected to occur. The Dorel gage is located at the mountain/valley interface, where flow regimes have not significantly changed from historic conditions. Figure 5.10 illustrates an example of measured flow data from a storm on March 25, 2006 where flow diversion took place. The results of this analysis indicated that approximately 25% of the total storm volume over a threshold value of 2 m<sup>3</sup>/s could be expected to be diverted into the percolation ponds; this was incorporated into the hydrologic modeling. Diversion structures located near Mabury Avenue, which is approximately 3.5 km downstream, were operated in a

different manner. At this location a small portion (~  $0.03 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ ) of the wet season base flow was diverted with no effect on the larger storm events.



### Figure 5.10 Hydrographs for the Dorel and Piedmont gaging locations during a March 25, 2006 storm event.

The reduced peaks and volumes are augmented by runoff generated from the urbanized valley floor. By the time the flood wave arrives at the Berryessa Industrial Park gaging site located 6 km downstream, peak flows are slightly smaller than those measured at the Dorel Road gage upstream (Figure 5.11). This data also indicates that the smaller tertiary peak of the hydrograph was amplified at this location. This magnification can be attributed to a short intense burst of rainfall and the efficiency of the urban landscape and storm sewer network in delivering the runoff from the impervious surface to the gaging location. Therefore the response of the hydrograph attenuation or amplification at the downstream outlet can be expected to vary as a function of storm rainfall duration, intensity and volume.



Figure 5.11 Hydrographs for the Dorel, Piedmont, and Berryessa Industrial Park gaging stations for a storm occurring April 4, 2006.

Six storms were simulated using the HEC-HMS modeling procedure described previously. The results of these simulations are summarized in Table 5.7 and 5.8. When analyzing the data in Table 5.7, the small storm on January 14, 2006 was excluded from the summary analysis provided in Table 5.8 because the size of this storm did not reflect the hydrologic regime simulated for the larger channel-forming events. The results from this small outlier would skew the results from the storms that transport the greatest amount of sediment and are responsible for the resulting channel form. The field estimate of bankfull discharge on this stream was approximately 8 m<sup>3</sup>/s, the January 14, 2006 storm was approximately 30% of the bankfull discharge.

Model results indicate that given the current urbanized land cover, trans-basin stormwater diversion and flood flow diversion to off-channel groundwater percolation ponds have resulted in a 23% net decrease in the storm peak and a 19% net decrease in storm volume, when compared to the topographic drainage network with no flow diversion. The current drainage network results in a 12% decrease in storm peak and only a 9% increase in storm volume when compared to the non-urbanized historical drainage network. This is in contrast to the scenario on Berryessa Creek, where the constructed storm sewer network has resulted in both flood peak and volume magnification when compared to the urbanized topographic drainage area scenario.

Piedmont gage	Historic		Topographic catchment urbanized				Current (Effective) catchment urbanized			
Storm	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)
30-Dec-04	7.0	104	7.2	120	3%	16%	5.4	106	-22%	2%
14-Feb-05	6.6	255	6.8	296	3%	16%	5.4	296	-19%	16%
2-Jan-06	24.8	643	25.6	659	3%	3%	19.7	568	-21%	-12%
14-Jan-06	2.3	127	2.6	137	10%	8%	1.9	153	-20%	20%
25-Mar-06	21.5	475	22.4	494	4%	4%	17.1	387	-20%	-19%
4-Apr-06	27.4	2156	27.8	2199	1%	2%	20.8	1719	-24%	-20%

# Table 5.7Summary of flood peaks and volumes for six calibration storms on<br/>Upper Penitencia Creek accounting for increases in impervious area,<br/>drainage area reduction and flow diversion.

Outlet	Historic			Topographic catchment urbanized			Current (Effective) catchment urbanized			
Storm	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)	Peak (m³/s)	Volume (1000 m³)	Peak change from historic condition (%)	Volume change from historic condition (%)
30-Dec-04	7.4	123	9.0	181	22%	47%	6.0	145	-19%	18%
14-Feb-05	7.0	354	8.7	541	23%	53%	6.6	504	-7%	43%
2-Jan-06	24.8	809	27.2	933	10%	15%	22.8	832	-8%	3%
14-Jan-06	2.4	158	3.1	213	31%	35%	4.1	230	72%	46%
25-Mar-06	22.1	501	25.1	612	14%	22%	20.3	477	-8%	-5%
4-Apr-06	27.7	2288	29.3	2521	6%	10%	22.7	1983	-18%	-13%

## Table 5.8Summary of flood peak and volume for the urbanized topographic<br/>drainage area and current urbanized drainage area on Upper<br/>Penitencia Creek.

	Topograph urba	ic catchment inized	Current ( catchmen	(effective) t urbanized		
	Average Average increase in increase flood peak flood volu		Average Average increase in increase in flood peak flood volume		Net change in Net change in flood peak due to flood volume d drainage area to drainage ar reduction and flow reduction and f diversion diversion	
Piedmont Road gage	4%	8%	-21%	-2%	-24%	-9%
Berryessa Industrial Park gage	15%	29%	-12%	9%	-23%	-19%

Flow duration curves for the six storm events were calculated for the three modeled scenarios at the Piedmont Road and Berryessa Industrial Park gaging locations (Figures 5.12 and 5.13). The flow duration relationships indicate a trend of reduced storm peak flow duration at the Piedmont location due to flow diversion. This curve falls below the historic flood flow frequency curve in spite of the valley urbanization. Similar results are found for the Berryessa Industrial Park location. These results show that flood flow frequencies and durations have been reduced by the flow diversions and valley drainage area reduction. The flow duration results calculated for these locations will be used in the SIAM sediment transport analysis to deduce the effects of these flow changes on sediment transport in the stream.

The changes in water yield due to urbanization and flow diversion to the groundwater percolation ponds were computed from the flow duration relationships. Results of this analysis are provided in Table 5.9. These calculations at the outlet show a marginal 7% increase in water yield at the downstream outlet due to urban land use change, drainage

area reduction and flow diversion compared to an anticipated 28% increase in water yield if the valley portion of the watershed were urbanized without flow diversion or drainage area reduction.



Figure 5.12 Flow duration relationship simulated for the Piedmont Avenue gaging location.



Figure 5.13 Flow duration relationship simulated for the Berryessa Industrial Park gaging location.

	Water Yield	from modeled st	orms (1000 m <sup>3</sup> )/km <sup>2</sup>		
Location	Natural historic conditions	Topographic catchment urbanized	Current(effective catchment) urbanized	Increase in water yield due to urban land used change	Change in water yield due to urban land use change, drainage area reduction and flow diversion
Downstream of Noble Ave.diversion	62.5	65.0	54.4	4%	-13%
Outlet downstream of King St.	64.3	82.2	68.6	28%	7%

### Table 5.9Changes in water yield due to urbanization and effective catchment<br/>area changes on Upper Penitencia Creek.

The percentage increase of flood peaks and volumes at the Berryessa Industrial Park gage, the most downstream site, decrease as a function of the storm discharge (Figures 5.14 and 5.15) for the scenario where the topographic watershed is urbanized, illustrating that the urbanization has a stronger effect on small storms where the upland runoff contributions are relatively small compared to the runoff generated by the urbanized valley floor. The scenario for the current drainage network shows no trend for flood peak reduction with increasing discharge. The only trend under this scenario is decreased flood peaks when compared to the historic condition. Flood peaks are smaller even though 76% of the valley floor land use is classified as urbanized. The relatively small peak of 2.4 m<sup>3</sup>/s, approximately 30% of the bankfull discharge, is magnified in the current drainage structure as a result of drainage efficiency from the storm sewer network. Flow diversion and effective catchment changes attenuate all other peaks. The urbanized topographic catchment scenario demonstrates a pattern similar to Berryessa Creek, where the smaller flows show greater magnification than the larger flow events.



## Figure 5.14 Percentage increase or decrease in flood peak as a function of discharge for the Berryessa Industrial Park gaging site at the outlet of Upper Penitencia Creek.

Under the current (effective) catchment scenario flood volumes are increased for flows less than the bankfull discharge of 7.7 m<sup>3</sup>/s for the current (effective) drainage network. Flood volumes show slight attenuation for the discharges greater than 7.7 m<sup>3</sup>/s for this scenario. The urbanized topographic catchment shows a trend similar to the Berryessa Creek results. In this scenario flood flow volume magnification compared to historic flow volumes decreases with increasing discharges, illustrating the stronger influence of the upland runoff sources during larger storm events.



Figure 5.15 Percentage increase or decrease in flood volume as a function of discharge for the Berryessa Industrial Park gaging site at the outlet of Upper Penitencia Creek.

#### 5.5 SUMMARY OF HYDROLOGIC MODELING RESULTS

HEC-HMS modeling was utilized to quantify the changes in the hydrologic regime due to the urban infill, storm sewer network structure and connectivity and flow diversion. Six storm events from water years 2005 and 2006 were simulated for both streams. Upland runoff contributions were calibrated to measured flow data. Subsequently, urban runoff processes and flood routing were modeled with HEC-HMS using the calibrated models.

Results indicate that the hydrologic regimes Upper Penitencia and Berryessa Creek have encountered distinctly different alterations from the construction of the urban storm sewer network and off-channel percolation ponds. Storm peaks and volumes have been magnified on Berryessa Creek due to the alteration of the historic topographic drainage area by the constructed storm sewer network. Model results indicate a net increase at the drainage outlet of 47% for the flood peak and 37% for the flood volume for Berryessa Creek due to drainage area capture and increased hydraulic connectivity provided by the storm sewer network when compared to the historic topographic catchment, if the current urbanized land use is modeled for both scenarios. In the current hydrologic regime flood peaks (77%) and volumes (66%) have been increased from historic non-urbanized conditions at the outlet location of the study site. At the downstream outlet the specific water yield for the typical yearly storm events increases from 31.2 to 46.1 (1000m<sup>3</sup>/km<sup>2</sup>), a 48% increase, due to drainage area capture and urban land use change. If drainage area capture were not considered the net increase in water yield due to urban land use change would only be 13%. These modeling data clearly indicate the strong influence of drainage area capture on the downstream urban flow regime in Berryessa Creek.

At another location on Berryessa Creek, the Sweigert Creek outlet, there was only a 3% net increase in flood peak and a 2% net increase in flood volume, due to the storm sewer network, when the current urban land cover is modeled for the topographic and effective catchment scenarios. This gaging location is located within the historic topographic catchment. Modeling results at this location show a 19% increase in flood peak and a 21% increase in flood volume when comparing the urbanized effective catchment scenario to the historic condition. Specific water yield at this gaging location has only increased from 31.1 to 35.5 (1000m<sup>3</sup>/km<sup>2</sup>), a 14% increase from historic conditions.

Conversely, model results for Upper Penitencia Creek at the downstream outlet location (Berryessa Industrial Park) show a 23% net decrease in flood peak and a 19% net decrease in flood volume due to flow diversion and topographic drainage area reduction, if the topographic and effective catchment scenarios are compared using the current urban land use cover. Modeling results indicate that in the current hydrologic regime the flood peak has decreased 12% and flood volume has increased 9% at the basin outlet compared to historic conditions. If the watershed had not been altered by the storm sewer network and off-channel storage model results predict that peak flows would have increased 15% and flood volumes would have increased 29% due increased watershed imperviousness. Specific water yield analysis shows that the existing urban flow regime produces 7% more water than historic conditions at the gaging outlet, an increase from 64.3 to 68.6  $(1000m^3/km^2)$ . However if drainage area reduction and flow diversion were not present in this system, modeling results indicate that there would be a 28% increase in water yield at the outlet from historic conditions (64.3 to  $82.2 \ 1000 \text{m}^3/\text{km}^2$ ). This indicates that the water diversion and drainage area reduction effectively off-set the effects of urban land use change on the flow regime in Upper Penitencia Creek.

Smaller storms showed greater magnification of flood peak and volume for Berryessa Creek. Multiple flood peaks were also observed for hydrographs that historically would have had one well-defined peak. The Upper Penitencia Creek modeling results indicate peak attenuation for all flows with the exception of events much smaller than the bankfull discharge. Results for flood volumes indicate volume magnification for smaller storms and volume attenuation for large flood events. The break between volume amplification and attenuation was approximately 2 times the bankfull discharge.

The results of the hydrologic modeling analysis will be used as input data for the transport modeling. A variety of scenarios will be modeled in sediment budget and continuous simulation context to deduce the implications on sediment transport and channel stability in the two watersheds.

#### **6.0 SEDIMENT TRANSPORT MODELING**

#### 6.1 INTRODUCTION

Alterations to the pre-urban hydrologic regime, channel cross section and longitudinal geometry, and valley base level would be expected to have concomitant effects on channel stability within the two watersheds studied. Two sediment transport models were used to evaluate these urbanization and valley subsidence impacts on channel stability in Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek. These models are the Sediment Impact Analysis Methods (SIAM) model (Mooney 2007) and the Generalized Sediment Transport for Alluvial River Simulation- One dimension (GSTARS-1D) (Huang and Greimann 2007). The SIAM model assesses reach sediment continuity for fixed boundary cross sections at a snapshot in time (yearly scale) using HEC-RAS hydraulics and a user-specified transport equation, whereas GSTARS-1D is a continuous simulation model that can be used to predict long-term changes in an alluvial channel profile and cross section geometry. A series of sediment transport models was constructed to elucidate the effect of three major influences on channel stability;

- 1. Hydrologic alteration to the historic flow regime due to increased impervious land cover, drainage area manipulation and water diversion;
- 2. Urbanization infrastructure elements including grade-control structures, sedimentation basins, and in-stream culverts and;
- 3. Historic valley subsidence from the period of time between 1939 and 1969.

Six GSTARS-1D and SIAM models were created for each stream, resulting in 24 sediment transport models to elucidate the effects of each factor.

The modeling test matrix is presented in Table 6.1

Scenario	Valley	Cross section	Urban Infrastructure	Hydrology	Simulation length
1	1934	simulated historic	No	Pre-urban	30 years
2	1934	simulated historic	No	Urban	30 years
3	2004	simulated historic	No	Pre-urban	30 years
4	2004	Surveyed	Yes	Urban	3 years
5	2004	Surveyed	No	Urban	3 years
6	2004	Surveyed	Yes	Pre-urban	3 years

				•
Tabla 6	Sodimont	transnart	modoling	COOD OF INC
1 AUIC 0.1	Scument	u ansivu i	mouching	SUMALIUS
			<b>-</b>	

These six scenarios allow the comparison of the relative effects of each process on channel stability. The process relationships for the scenario comparisons are summarized in Table 6.2.

T 11 ( A	<b>A 1</b>		•	•	
ahlah /	Nodimont	transnart	COMATIA	comparison	cummory
1 AUIC U.2	Scument	u anspui i	SUCHAIN	Comparison	summary
					<i></i>

Scenario comparison	Process	
1 and 2	Hydrology changes	
1 and 3	Subsidence	
4 and 5	Urban infrastructure	
4 and 6	Hydrology changes with current geometry	

Scenario 4 represents the existing condition scenario for both creeks and will be compared to measured data collected from the time period from 2004 to 2006. Other modeling scenarios will simply be compared amongst each other to elucidate the relative effect of each process on modeled channel response.

#### 6.2 MODELING TOOLS

#### 6.2.1 HYDRAULIC MODELING (HEC-RAS)

The HEC-RAS modeling software provides one-dimensional water surface profile computations for both steady and unsteady flow simulations (HEC 2002). The onedimensional channel hydraulic calculations are utilized to calculate reach sediment transport capacity in the SIAM model. The HEC-RAS model can be utilized to calculate both channel and overbank hydraulics and concomitant sediment transport. Hydraulic structures such as culverts, bridge openings, and drop structures can be modeled in the HEC-RAS program. These infrastructure elements are crucial to hydraulic and sediment transport processes in urban watersheds. HEC-RAS models have been created from the 2004 field survey data for both Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek. These models will be utilized in conjunction with the SIAM sediment accounting tool to create reach-scale sediment budgets for the watersheds.

#### 6.2.2 SIAM

The SIAM model, developed at CSU (Mooney 2006), consists of a series of interconnected dendritic sediment reaches. The individual sediment reaches should be homogenous with respect to annual hydrologic flow-duration curves, sediment supply, hydraulic characteristics, sediment transport capacity, and bed-material composition.

SIAM defines a stable reach as one in which the sediment-transport capacity of the reach is balanced equally by the bed material load supplied to the reach from the upstream reach and the bed material size sediment contributed from local sources within the reach. This concept of equilibrium is similar to one proposed by Mackin (1948) in which a stable or graded channel is defined as one that has "just the velocity required for the transportation of the load supplied from the drainage basin." SIAM defines these measures of sediment continuity and equilibrium as local balance. The local sediment supply within a reach is estimated from field data or other sources and is specified by the model user. The sediment supply from upstream reaches is calculated by a sediment accounting algorithm which compares the sediment supply and sediment transport capacity by size fraction for each flow specified in the reach flow-duration analysis. Reach sediment transport capacity is calculated utilizing reach-average channel hydraulics from a steady state, step-backwater model such as HEC-RAS and a userspecified sediment transport function. The SIAM model then calculates reach sediment continuity throughout a channel network.

SIAM is a powerful assessment tool that represents the watershed as a multi-component system. Hydrology, hydraulics, sediment transport capacity, sediment supply, and bed-material characteristics can be isolated and altered within the SIAM model and the effect of each component on sediment continuity, system equilibrium and sediment yield can be evaluated. Other researchers have indicated the importance of estimating sediment supply and sediment continuity in watershed modeling and stream restoration design (Shields *et al.* 2003, Knighton 1998).

SIAM is a robust model that is strongly dependent on an accurate assessment of watershed conditions. The input data include:

- flow-duration curves for all sediment reaches;
- annual sediment loading estimates for overland, gully, and bank erosion;
- channel hydraulics for all sediment reaches;
- sediment transport capacity by size fraction for all sediment reaches;
- upstream boundary sediment influx;
- downstream boundary conditions for the hydraulic model;
- bed material and wash-load characteristics throughout the watershed; and
- when applicable, cohesive sediment scour from the channel bed.

Because this model is in the initial stages, no standard procedures have been developed for creating the input data needed to run the model. This open functionality is beneficial because the user can employ a wide variety of techniques to develop the database for their particular watershed, based on current data availability, project budget, and the level of detail needed to meet the project goals.

#### 6.2.3 CONTINUOUS HYDRAULIC AND SEDIMENT TRANSPORT MODELING GSTARS-1D

The SIAM modeling framework provides a snapshot in time of the stability characteristics of an alluvial stream, but a long-term analysis is necessary to investigate time dependent stability characteristics. The mobile boundary sediment transport model selected for this task was the GSTARS-1D model developed by the United States Bureau of Reclamation (USBR). The continuous simulation transport models utilized a steady

flow solution and Exner equation sediment routing (Exner 1920, 1925). The model is capable of simulating lateral inflows from culverts or tributaries. Multiple bed layers were also utilized to simulated varying bed material pavement and sub-pavement gradations. Further information on the specific capabilities of this model can be found in the documented user manual (Huang and Greimann 2007).

#### 6.3 SEDIMENT TRANSPORT MODEL GEOMETRY

Three geometric configurations were created for each stream;

- 1. Historic (circa 1939)
- 2. Current (As surveyed in 2004) with urban infrastructure and;
- 3. Current (As surveyed in 2004) without urban infrastructure.

Scenarios 1-3 utilized a simulated historic model of channel conditions in 1939. These models incorporate the cross section geometry of a stable surveyed cross section in the upper portion of both streams that was outside of the influence of urbanization and subsidence impacts. The channel profile slope was calculated from the historic valley slope and sinuosity measured from the historic aerial photography (circa 1939) for each reach. The historic Berryessa Creek model profile consisted of three specific reaches (Figure 6.1). The modeled conceptual reaches are the upland reaches above the mountain/valley interface (slope = 0.024 m/m), a transition reach located at the mountain/valley interface of the historic alluvial fan (slope = 0.019 m/m), and the more gently sloping valley reach (slope = 0.015 m/m).



### Figure 6.1 Conceptual longitudinal profile for the historic Berryessa Creek sediment transport models.

The historic model for Upper Penitencia Creek consisted of five discrete reaches (Table 6.3) where there were breaks in the longitudinal slope, planform characteristics or bed material. The sediment transport models for Upper Penitencia Creek did not extend into the upland areas due to lack of survey data available in those reaches. The models began at the mountain/valley interface and extended to the downstream extent of the longitudinal profiles survey in 2004.

Reach	Stationing	Valley slope	Sinuosity	Channel Slope
	(m)	(m/m)		(m/m)
1	4541-5977	0.0143	1.06	0.0135
2	2953-4541	0.0112	1.1	0.0102
3	1895-2953	0.0087	1.16	0.0075
4	1294-1895	0.0078	1.09	0.0071
5	289-1294	0.0071	1.04	0.0068

Table 6.3Historic longitudinal profile reaches for the Upper Penitencia Creek<br/>sediment transport models.

Scenarios 4 and 6 utilized approximately 50 surveyed cross sections from each stream from the initial 2004 baseline survey, as well as all urban infrastructure elements surveyed including:

- Culverts
- Grade control structures
- Diversion structures
- Sedimentation basins
- Bridge openings

Scenario 5 utilized the 2004 surveyed cross sections but did not include any of the urban infrastructure elements. Additional cross sections were interpolated to reduce the maximum cross section spacing to 100 meters in all of the modeling scenarios.

A planview example of the current geometric configuration for Berryessa Creek (Figure 6.2) includes the construction of a box culvert and sedimentation basin at the interface of

the mountain front and valley portion of the watershed, stream channelization, and the construction of a 1.85 m grade control structure.



### Figure 6.2 Planview of the geometric infrastructure of Berryessa Creek at the upland/valley interface.

The primary infrastructure elements present on Upper Penitencia Creek (Figure 6.3) are a series of drop structures in the upper reaches that range in drop height from 0.3 to 1.25 meters (Table 6.4). These structures may contribute to increased channel stability in the upstream reaches of Upper Penitencia Creek by stabilizing the bed at fixed points along

the longitudinal profile. The slope of the invert elevations of these structures (0.0128 m/m) was very similar to the measured bankfull stage slope in this reach (0.0138 m/m) as shown in Figure 6.4. A similar plot for Berryessa Creek (Figure 6.5) shows the location of the grade control structure on this stream. There is only one gradient control present on Berryessa Creek and it has a drop height of 1.85 m. All of these structures were input into the current conditions geometry of Upper Penitencia Creek and the invert elevations were assumed to not degrade in the GSTARS-1D modeling.



Figure 6.3 Drop structure location map of Upper Penitencia Creek

River station-m	Drop height-m	Invert Elevation-m	Туре
1495	0.6	34.06	Diversion
4096	0.3	56.03	Low drop check dam
4418	0.8	59.7	Low drop check dam
4541	0.3	61.12	V weir for flow measurement
4680	1.25	63.5	Low drop check dam
5371	0.3	71.4	Low drop check dam
5543	1.1	74.95	Diversion/Fish ladder

Table 6.4Upper Penitencia drop structure summary.



Figure 6.4 Slope of the measured bankfull stage and drop structure inverts located on Upper Penitencia Creek.



Figure 6.5 Slope of the measured bankfull stage and drop structure invert on Berryessa Creek.

#### 6.4 SEDIMENT TRANSPORT REACHES

The SIAM model requires that the user specify sediment reaches along the channel profile that are homogenous with respect to sediment transport capacity, bed material size, sediment supply, and hydrologic regime. Some judgment is required in assessing appropriate sediment reaches along the stream profile. Breaks in channel slope, bed material size, hydrologic regime, and cross-section geometry are assessed and new sediment reaches are created at these breaks. This procedure was performed for both streams being studied. Tables 6.5 and 6.6 provide a summary of river stationing, bankfull hydraulics and bed material grain size characteristics for each sediment reach in the current geometry models for Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks, respectively. Figures 6.6 and 6.7 show the spatial location of the sediment reaches for Berryessa and

Upper Penitencia creeks, respectively. The values of bankfull discharge were estimated from reach average cross section, slope and resistance properties for the field-identified bankfull stage from three years of data collection. The estimated bankfull discharge values were 2.5  $m^3$ /s for Berryessa Creek and 7.7  $m^3$ /s for Upper Penitencia Creek. These estimates showed good agreement with regional curve data provided by Dunne and Leopold (1978) (Figures 6.8 and 6.9), as well as the 1.5 year recurrence interval for the annual maximum series flood frequency analysis plotted in Figure 6.10. The data plot well below the regional curve for the San Francisco Bay area, with 30 inches (762 mm) of annual precipitation. However, the eastern side of the Santa Clara valley receives only 370 mm of annual precipitation on average from 93 years of rainfall record at the San Jose airport. Thus, it would be expected that the streams draining the dry eastern Diablo Range would have smaller bankfull cross section dimensions and discharge that are better simulated by the regional curve data for the Upper Green River and Salmon River watersheds. All further sediment transport modeling data analysis will be conducted at the reach scale with these aforementioned transport reaches as the analysis unit.

			Bankfu	ill hydrauli	ic characte	ristics		avemen		Sub	-Pavem	ent
Sediment Reach	Reach stationing	Reach length	Bankfull width	Bankfull hydrauli c depth	Bankfull velocity	Bankfull slope	D-16	D-50	D-84	D-16	D-50	D-84
	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m/m)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)
GCS 2	2298-2213	85	3.92	0.35	1.85	0.036	18	91	242	0.7	9	25
GCS 4	2213-2020	193	4.74	0.36	1.5	0.023	18	91	242	0.7	9	25
Upstream of Old Piedmont	2020-1854	166	4.48	0.34	1.68	0.025	18	91	242	0.7	9	25
Old Piedmont to Cropley	1854-1521	333	4.48	0.36	1.59	0.019	12	71	153	0.6	æ	26
Sediment basin	1521-1447	74	12.92	0.27	0.9	0.011	12	71	153	0.6	œ	26
Sediment basin to Sweigert Creek outfall	1447-1247	200	5.43	0.34	1.38	0.017	-	12	27	0.7	ω	23
Sweigert to footbridge	1247-768	479	3.6	0.45	1.6	0.015	2	21	88	1.7	16	41
Footbridge to Crosley Creek outfall	768-491	277	4.53	0.39	1.47	0.013	S	41	145	0.9	10	38
Crosley to headcut	491-250	241	6.07	0.45	0.92	0.008	←	1	25	0.9	10	38
Downstream of headcut	250-0	250	3.69	0.51	1.41	0.015	2	12	47	2.9	32	88

Sediment reach summary characteristics for Berryessa Creek. Table 6.5
		•		•								
			Bankf	ull hydraulic	: character	istics		avemen		Sub	-Pavem	ent
Sediment Reach	Reach stationing	Reach length	Bankfull width	Bankfull hydraulic depth	Bankfull velocity	Bankfull slope	D-16	D-50	D-84	D-16	D-50	D-84
	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(s/ш)	(m/m)	(mm)	(uu)	(mm)	(աա)	(mm)	(mm)
GCS 1-5	5988-5530	458	6.47	0.60	2.07	0.0137	30	143	295	ю 1	26	201
GCS 6-12	5530-4745	785	7.95	0.57	1.77	0.0092	19	89	183	ო	27	110
GCS 12-16	4745-3484	1261	6.38	0.66	1.87	0.0093	14	74	136	ო	23	92
GCS 16-1680	3484-2523	961	6.89	0.66	1.78	0.0084	14	74	136	7	19	73
GCS 18-19	2523-2096	427	7.88	0.61	1.60	0.0074	10	70	130	7	14	52
GCS 20-22	2096-1051	1045	8.60	0.61	1.54	0.0067	15	71	136	7	17	48
GCS 23-24	1051-542	509	7.62	0.62	1.59	0.0075	10	59	109	7	13	44
GCS 25-26	542-289	253	6.13	0.77	1.63	0.0062	18	66	109	ო	21	52

Sediment reach summary characteristics for Upper Penitencia Creek. Table 6.6



Figure 6.6 Sediment transport reaches for Berryessa Creek.



Figure 6.7 Sediment transport reaches for Upper Penitencia Creek



Figure 6.8 Berryessa Creek and Upper Penitencia Creek field estimated bankfull cross section dimensions figure adapted from (Dunne and Leopold 1978).



Figure 6.9 Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek field estimates of bankfull discharge Figure adapted from (Dunne and Leopold 1978).



Figure 6.10 Annual maximum flood frequency analysis for Upper Penitencia Creek.

### 6.5 STREAM BED MATERIAL PARAMETERIZATION

Field data collected by the investigating author was utilized to estimate the bed material characteristics for each sediment reach. The sediment transport modeling bed gradations were based on bulk sediment sampling carried out in September 2004. The protocols used for data collection are detailed in chapter 4. The requisite input data for the sediment transport models are a decimal fraction of each grain size present in the channel bed for all sediment sizes modeled. Due to the relatively coarse nature of both stream bed and the uncertainty associated with modeling the transport capacity of supply-limited washload components of the sediment load, only sediment sizes greater than silt (0.062mm) were modeled. In the pavement samples, size fractions less than 0.062 mm represented at most 0.6 % of the bed material in Berryessa Creek and 0.1 % in Upper Penitencia Creek. In the sub-pavement samples, size fractions represented at most 1.4 % of the bed material in Berryessa Creek and 0.2 % in Upper Penitencia Creek. The sediment size gradations were represented in 1 phi class sizes up to 32 mm and <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> phi size classes from 32 mm and larger. The sediment size gradations modeled and the representative grain size (geometric mean) of those gradation intervals are presented in Table 6.7. Where bulk sediment samples were not available, pebble count data were used to estimate the bed material size gradation. This only occurred in the sediment reach below Crosley Creek in the Berryessa Creek models.

	Representative diameter
Grain size interval	(mm)
Very fine sand (0.0625 - 0.125mm)	0.09
Fine sand (0.125 - 0.25mm)	0.18
Medium sand (0.25 - 0.5mm)	0.35
Coarse sand (0.5 - 1mm)	0.71
Very coarse sand (1 - 2mm)	1.4
Very fine gravel (2 - 4mm)	2.8
Fine gravel (4 - 8mm)	5.7
Medium gravel (8 - 16mm)	11.3
Coarse gravel (16 - 32mm)	22.6
Very coarse gravel (32 - 45mm)	37.9
Very coarse gravel (45 - 64mm)	53.7
Small cobble (64-90mm)	75.9
Small cobble (90-128 mm)	107.3
Large cobble (128-181 mm)	152.2
Large cobble (181-256 mm)	215.3
Small boulder (256-362 mm)	304.4
Small boulder (362-512 mm)	430.5

# Table 6.7Sediment size gradations modeled in the GSTARS-1D and SIAM<br/>sediment transport models

A sediment basin was initially constructed in 1962 and re-engineered in 1983 on Berryessa Creek. The re-engineered structure is the one that is currently in place. Deposition of coarse bed load resulted in bed material fining in the reach immediately downstream of the sediment basin, this illustrated in Figure 6.11. Due to this man-made impact, the historic bed gradation for Berryessa Creek had to be estimated utilizing field data outside of the immediate influence of the structure.



# Figure 6.11 Berryessa Creek bed material pavement gradations upstream and downstream of the constructed sediment basin.

All other historic bed gradations were assumed to have not changed with time and are based on spatial averages of field samples collected within the modeled sediment reaches.

### 6.6 HYDROLOGIC MODEL INPUT DATA

### 6.6.1 CONTINUOUS SIMULATION HYDROGRAPHS

Two hydrologic regimes were utilized for flow inputs in the sediment transport models; a historical flow regime consisting of flood hydrographs for six storms without urban influence and an urban flow regime which consisted of the same six storms with simulated effects of urbanization described in Chapter 5. A detailed description of the effects of urbanization on the flood runoff for both watersheds is provided in chapter 5. The most pronounced change on the flood hydrograph from urbanization is an increase in

the magnitude of runoff peak and volume from relatively small rainfall events. This has been documented by other researchers (Leopold 1968, Hollis 1975). Six measured storms with rainfall depths from 23 to 51 mm were used for HEC-HMS model calibration of upland rainfall runoff response, and rainfall runoff response alteration due to urbanization was modeled within the HEC-HMS modeling framework. Long-term rainfall data were available at the San Jose airport for 72 years of record from 1933 to 2006. Frequency analysis of rainfall data from this time period indicates that on average 6 rainfall events of 20 mm or greater occur each year (Figure 6.12).



# Figure 6.12 Frequency analysis of storm events at the San Jose airport rainfall gage from water years 1934 to 2006.

Storm hydrographs in this region are flashy and rainfall driven, therefore a yearly hydrograph was assumed to consist of six storm hydrographs with base flow recession. For the GSTARS-1D continuous simulation models, three of these simulated yearly hydrographs were used as the flow input for the three year simulations (scenarios 4-6) and thirty of the yearly hydrographs were used for the thirty year simulations (scenarios 1-3). The SIAM models utilize a yearly flow duration relationship developed from the hydrologic modeling analysis in Chapter 5.

#### 6.6.2 CONTINUOUS SIMULATION LATERAL INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS

Storm sewer culvert inflows and percolation pond diversions were simulated in the GSTARS-1D models via lateral inflow or outflow records. These records are simply a lateral inflow or outflow and a time of the inflow or outflow. These records were mined from the HEC-HMS modeling results and input into the GSTARS-1D models. For the modeling simulations it was assumed that the culvert inflows were clear-water discharge with no sediment transport. Certainly some sediment transport does take place in the closed conduit storm culvert, but the long travel distance from the upland sediment sources through the storm sewer culvert and the relatively flat slope of the storm sewer culvert will minimize bed material transport within the culvert and most of the sediment transported through the culvert will be in suspension, with grain size distributions favoring particle sizes less than 0.062 mm which were not modeled in the simulations. Figure 6.13 shows an example of clear-water discharge from the Sweigert Creek culvert on Berryessa Creek. Because clear water discharge is modeled in the continuous simulation models, the results will represent a worst case scenario of the effects of urbanization and storm sewer discharge on downstream scour.



Figure 6.13 Example of clear water discharge from the Sweigert Creek culvert into Berryessa Creek.

#### 6.6.3 ANNUAL FLOW DURATION RELATIONSHIPS

The SIAM sediment transport model utilizes a yearly flow duration relationship in calculating sediment budgets between user-specified sediment reaches. These flow duration relationships were constructed using frequency analysis from HEC-HMS modeling results for both watersheds. The six modeled storms were assumed to represent the yearly storm flows capable of transporting significant amounts of sediment through the catchment network, thus representing a yearly hydrologic cycle. Flow duration relationships for the historic and urbanized hydrology of Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creeks are presented in Tables 6.8 and 6.9. These flow duration relationships account for

storm sewer culvert inflows and flow diversions in the urbanized condition. The Upper Penitencia Creek historic hydrologic models indicated that changes in flow duration relationship were very small along the valley portion of the watershed due to high rates of infiltration and relatively small additions of drainage area along the profile. Therefore, the historic hydrologic regime can be estimated by the flow duration relationship for the most upstream reach indicated by the GCS 1-5 designation in Table 6.9.

	Upland watershed	Non urbanized watershed below Sweigert Creek culvert	Non urbanized watershed below Crosley Creek culvert	Urbanized watershed below Sweigert Creek culvert	Urbanized watershed below Crosley Creek culvert
Q	Time	Time	Time	Time	Time
(m <sup>3</sup> /s)	(days)	(days)	(days)	(days)	(days)
0.175	3.927	4.769	4.779	4.794	3.608
0.450	1.142	1.201	1.199	1.378	1.966
0.750	0.927	1.015	1.026	1.132	1.047
1.050	0.607	0.631	0.634	0.649	0.848
1.350	0.499	0.563	0.560	0.651	0.737
1.650	0.305	0.332	0.336	0.425	0.566
1.950	0.228	0.230	0.230	0.289	0.373
2.250	0.114	0.132	0.133	0.122	0.219
2.550	0.037	0.038	0.038	0.063	0.169
2.850	0.039	0.040	0.040	0.031	0.103
3.150	0.053	0.053	0.052	0.031	0.044
3.450	0.013	0.020	0.020	0.033	0.026
3.750	0.014	0.014	0.014	0.042	0.035
4.050	0.016	0.016	0.016	0.016	0.033
4.350	0.033	0.038	0.038	0.012	0.018
4.650	х	x	×	0.013	0.020
4.950	x	x	x	0.027	0.031
5.250	×	x	×	0.006	0.013
5.550	x	x	x	x	0.009
5.850	×	x	×	x	0.010
6.150	×	x	×	x	0.020
6.450	х	×	×	×	0.013

## Table 6.8Flow duration relationship for Berryessa Creek.

x indicates given flow rates were not present

	GCS 1-5	GCS 6-12	GCS 12-16	GCS 16-I 680	GCS 18-19	GCS 20-22	GCS 23-24	GCS 25-26
Q	Time	Time	Time	Time	Time	Time	Time	Time
(m <sup>3</sup> /s)	(days)	(days)	(days)	(days)	(days)	(days)	(days)	(days)
0.1	0.094	0.106	0.09	0.122	0.122	0.14	0.14	0.14
0.3	1.354	0.599	0.46	0.483	0.483	0.24	0.24	0.24
0.75	1.924	2.213	1.75	1.006	1.006	0.90	0.90	0.90
1.5	1.669	2.433	2.64	3.011	3.011	2.91	2.91	2.91
3	1.372	1.899	2.05	2.261	2.261	2.42	2.42	2.42
5	1.262	1.381	1.46	1.474	1.474	1.63	1.63	1.63
7	0.975	1.323	1.42	1.47	1.47	1.36	1.36	1.36
9	1.231	0.335	0.37	0.39	0.39	0.57	0.57	0.57
12	0.463	0.299	0.30	0.30	0.30	0.33	0.33	0.33
16	0.217	0.122	0.16	0.17	0.17	0.18	0.18	0.18
20	0.117	0.024	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.06	0.06	0.06
24	0.041	x	x	x	x	x	Х	x
27.5	0.015	x	<u>x</u>	x	x	x	X	<u> </u>

 Table 6.9
 Flow duration relationship for Upper Penitencia Creek.

x indicates given flow rates were not present

#### 6.7 SEDIMENT SUPPLY

#### 6.7.1 UPSTREAM WATERSHED SEDIMENT SUPPLY

The most upstream cross sections on both streams surveyed by the investigators were determined to be stable cross sections from field observation, historic morphometric analysis, and yearly cross section re-surveys. Mass conservation would then dictate that at these cross section locations the sediment transport capacity of the cross section and the upstream sediment supply would also be in equilibrium, thus the assumption was made that the upstream sediment supply to the modeled reaches was equal to the sediment transport capacity of the most upstream cross section. This is a simplifying assumption; however, it is a reasonable estimate of sediment supplied to the downstream valley reaches, given the uncertainty in predicting sediment supplied from the upland watersheds. There is limited data availability on the quantity and caliber of upstream sediment sources and little is known about the timing of the release of these sources and expected transport time to the upstream boundary of the transport models. The model

results will be useful and valid with this assumption, given the breadth and complexity of all of the other processes being modeled in the study,

### 6.7.2 INTER-REACH SEDIMENT SUPPLY

Inter-reach sediment supply consists of sediment supplied to the catchment network within the vicinity of the modeled sediment reaches. The sediment reaches are located within the urban valley corridor of both watersheds and the sediment supplied to these reaches consists of channel bank failures (Figure 6.14) and a small amount of overland sediment supplied from gravel service roads adjacent to the urban channels (Figure 6.15).

Inter-reach sediment supply is a required input for the SIAM sediment models. A loading mass by sediment size fraction is the required input. The sediment supplied to the system from bank failure was computed using a combination of time series cross section data for all bends and headcut sections and bank rod data collected by the investigators. Failure widths were computed from the cross section and bank rod data. Bank failure height and longitudinal length were measured in the field. Bank material gradations were calculated using a photo grid pebble count procedure outlined in chapter 4 section 4.7.4 for banks with a large amount of cobble and gravel size material. Sieve analysis from field-collected bank material samples was used to compute the grain size distribution for banks with finer grained material. Service road gully locations dimensions were all measured in the field. Gully sediment size distribution was determined from sieve analysis.



Figure 6.14 Bank failure on Berryessa Creek cross section 16-2 (Bank rod location marked with orange).



Figure 6.15 Overland sediment supply to Berryessa Creek for service road rill and gully formation.

#### 6.8 VALLEY SUBSIDENCE RATES

Detailed records of resurveyed vertical control benchmarks were available from other researchers (Poland 1976, Poland and Ireland 1988). Valley subsidence contour maps from 1934 to 1969 were created from these records. Valley subsidence profiles from 1934 to 1969 for the reaches surveyed on Berryessa Creek (Figure 6.16) and Upper Penitencia Creek (Figure 6.17) were constructed from these records by the investigating author. Results show that the maximum base level drop was much larger for Upper Penitencia Creek (1.1 m) compared to Berryessa Creek (0.23 m). This is in part due to the length of channel surveyed within the valley corridor on Upper Penitencia Creek. The base level drop increases substantially from the mountain valley interface to the central portion of the valley. The Upper Penitencia survey extended 5000 m downstream of the mountain front, whereas the Berryessa survey extended 2000 m downstream of the mountain front. The base level subsidence on Upper Penitencia Creek 2000 m downstream from the mountain front was 0.38 m, which is 0.15 m greater than the drop on Berryessa Creek. This indicates that Upper Penitencia Creek was closer to the zone of maximum subsidence. The maximum valley subsidence for Upper Penitencia Creek was 1.1 m, compared to a maximum subsidence of 0.23 m for Berryessa Creek. This indicates that valley subsidence was a stronger driver of geomorphic change for Upper Penitencia Creek within the surveyed reaches.

Base level lowering rates were calculated for each cross section surveyed and modeled in the GSTARS-1D and SIAM models by amortizing the total base level drop over the 35year observation period. Subsidence rates for Berryessa Creek ranged from 0.0004 to 0.006 m/yr and rates from Upper Penitencia Creek ranged from 0.0001 to 0.032 m/yr. The GSTARS-1D model code was modified by the USBR to assimilate this base level drop in the continuous simulation models. The SIAM model does not utilize a time step in the sediment budgeting. Therefore, only two geometric configurations were used in this model; one historic profile with no base level lowering and another profile with the complete base level lowering.



Figure 6.16 Base level subsidence profile for Berryessa Creek.



Figure 6.17 Base level subsidence profile for Upper Penitencia Creek.

### 6.9 SEDIMENT TRANSPORT EQUATION SELECTION

Determining an appropriate equation to model sediment transport can be a difficult task. Various equations were developed for differing ranges of grain size and varied flow conditions. Additionally, some transport equations were developed for bed load transport only, whereas others are used to calculate total bed material load transport capacity. The GSTARS-1D model allows the user to select from 12 different sediment transport equations; 10 transport relationships were chosen to test their applicability for use in this project. Some equations were eliminated because they were strictly limited to modeling sand size bed material or were direct derivations of the selected equations. A total bed material load equation was the preferred alternative but bedload equations were considered due to the high rate of bedload transport in these streams.

Two methods were used to select the transport relationship.

- Comparison with bedload and suspended load measurements collected during storm events at the gaging sites.
- 2. Comparison with the measured morphologic change collected from the cross section data.

In the first analysis, GSTARS-1D model results were mined for the transport rates predicted for steady flow simulations at the same discharge at which the bedload and suspended load measurements were collected. This was used as an initial screening tool. The total root mean square error (RMSE) was calculated for each relationship for all the measurements collected on both streams; summary of this analysis is presented in Table 6.10.

		Berryessa	Upper Penitencia	Total
Equation	Rank	RMSE (metric tonnes/day)	RMSE (metric tonnes/day)	RMSE (metric tonnes/day)
Engelund and Hansen (1972)	1	1014	46	1060
Yang (1973 +1984)	2	810	956	1766
Wilcock and Crowe (2003)	3	1029	890	1919
Laursen-Madden (1993)	4	423	1974	2397
Parker (1990)	5	1854	988	2842
Wu et al. (2000)	6	1431	1923	3354
Ackers and White Modification (HR Wallingford 1990)	7	2582	2691	5273
Meyer-Peter and Muller (1948)	8	5180	3236	8416
Laursen (1958)	9	21084	1075	22159
Ackers and White (1973)	10	14286	75019	89305

Table 6.10Comparison of sediment transport relationship to collected sediment<br/>transport data.

After this initial screening, the existing conditions GSTARS-1D models were run for both streams for a simulated three-year time period and the resulting simulated longitudinal profile data were compared to field-observed data collected from the multiple years of cross section re-surveys. A more detailed analysis was conducted for the Engelund and Hansen (EH) (1972) and the combination of the Yang (1973) and Yang (1984) relationships. Both of these relationships utilize a form of the stream power concept to predict sediment transport. It has been shown that stream-power-based relationships provide the best predictions, particularly in streams with high rates of bedload transport (Gomez and Church 1989). A summary of the comparison with the cross survey data is provided in Table 6.11. The comparison was done on a reach basis, using the sediment reaches described earlier. The most upstream cross section was not used for comparison because this cross section is used as a measure of supply to the downstream reaches and remains unchanged through the simulations. The RMSE for the simulated and measured aggradation and degradation rates was used for the analysis. A negative number indicates degradation in this table. The analysis indicates that the combination of the Yang (1973) and Yang (1984) equation provides the best prediction of the observed morphology, with a total RMSE of 1.53 for the Berryessa data and 0.92 for the Upper Penitencia data. The RMSE values for the Engelund and Hansen relationship were 2.2 for Berryessa and 2.37 for Upper Penitencia.

Furthermore, the Yang relationship provided the most realistic prediction of the observed longitudinal erosion and deposition trends. On Berryessa Creek the Engelund and Hansen relationship predicted channel deposition on the order of 0.5 m/yr downstream of the sedimentation basin, which is not observed. On Upper Penitencia Creek, EH predicted

consistent channel degradation in the range of 0.2 to 0.3 m/yr along the entire longitudinal profile. This does not agree with field observations on this stream.

# Table 6.11Comparison of the Yang and Engelund and Hansen transport<br/>functions to measurement of cross section erosion or deposition.

Reach	River stationing	Observed aggradation or degradation	Computed aggradation or degradation (Yang)	Computed aggradation or degradation (EH)	RMSE (Yang)	RMSE (EH)
GCS 2	2298-2213	0.02		n/a	((()))	
GCS 4	2213-2020	0.02	-0.084	0.01	0.10	0.0
Upstream of Old Piedmont	2020-1854	-0.031	-0.25	-0.01	0.22	0.0
Old Piedmont to Cropley	1854-1521	-0.003	-0.06	0.07	0.06	0.1
Sediment basin	1521-1447	0.56	0.16	0.31	0.40	0.3
Sediment basin to Sweigert Creek outfall Sweigert to footbridge	1447-1247 1247-768	-0.031 -0.003	-0.29 -0.16	0.33 0.51	0.26 0.16	0.4 0.5
Footbridge to Crosley Creek outfall	768-491	0.001	-0.11	0.27	0.11	0.3
Crosley to headcut	491-250	0.061	0.14	0.39	0.08	0.3
Downstream of headcut	250-0	0.035	0.18	0.45	0.15	0.4
Sum of RMSE					1.53	2.2

#### Upper Penitencia Creek

Berryessa Creek

Reach	River stationing	Observed aggradation or degradation	Computed aggradation or degradation (Yang)	Computed aggradation or degradation (EH)	RMSE (Yang)	RMSE (EH)
	(m)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)
GCS 1-5	5988-5622	0.031	-0.132	-0.49	0.15	0.52
GCS 6-12	5622-4745	0.013	-0.052	-0.24	0.11	0.25
GCS 12-16	4745-3484	0.038	-0.056	-0.22	0.12	0.26
GCS 16-I 680	3484-2523	0.133	0.173	-0.15	0.04	0.28
GCS 18-19	2523-2096	0.001	0.125	-0.23	0.12	0.24
GCS 20-22	2096-1051	0.011	-0.065	-0.33	0.07	0.34
GCS 23-24	1051-542	0.029	-0.150	-0.35	0.19	0.38
GCS 25-26	542-289	0.045	-0.066	-0.06	0.12	0.10
Sum of RMSE					0.92	2.37

The combination of the Yang (1973) and Yang (1984) transport functions was selected for the transport analysis. The EH relationship provided a better fit to the measured sediment transport data collected, but the Yang function had better agreement with the measured cross section data. The author has far greater confidence in the uncertainty related to the cross section measurements compared to the measurements of sediment transport rate collected. Furthermore, the Yang relationship fits the observed morphologic longitudinal trends and therefore offers a better chance of elucidating the relative changes in morphology to the urbanization and subsidence variables being investigated.

#### 6.10 SEDIMENT TRANSPORT MODELING RESULTS

Twelve sediment transport models were created for each creek (a GSTARS-1D and SIAM model for each of the six scenarios described in Table 6.1), resulting in 24 models. These models will attempt to elucidate the relative effects of the hydrologic, subsidence, and engineered river infrastructure changes that have taken place on these streams. These processes are complex and inter-related therefore isolating each change within a given scenario is ideal. For each stream there are 3 scenarios that utilize historic conceptual models of the streams and a 30-year simulation length. Comparison of these scenarios will isolate the hydrologic changes due to urbanization and subsidence changes to valley base level. The existing conditions scenario for both streams will be compared to the observations collected in this study.

Three of the scenarios utilize the surveyed cross section data from 2004 with variations in hydrology and river infrastructure to determine the relative effect of each on channel stability. These models do not include subsidence as subsidence rates were halted in the late 1960s and urbanization began to increase rapidly in the 1970s. Certainly the streams were still responding to the base-level change as the urbanization impacts were starting, but given the data available, modeling concurrent channel response to base-level lowering and urbanization within the same model was not feasible. The GSTARS-1D models using the 2004 cross section data use a simulation length of three years.

## 6.10.1 COMPARISON OF EXISTING CONDITIONS MODELS TO FIELD OBSERVATIONS

Reach-average GSTARS-1D and SIAM model results were compared to the measured rates of cross section erosion and deposition observed from 2004 to 2006. Two estimates of erosion and deposition were formulated from the field measurements:

- 1. The change in cross sectional area below the bankfull stage divided by the bankfull width. This was termed the normalized erosion and deposition rate and reported in m/year. A negative value represents erosion.
- 2. The change in the thalweg elevation over the monitoring time. This was also reported in m/year. A negative value represents erosion.

The two values typically followed similar trends. The SIAM model was created to compare gross sediment balances between reaches. The depth of channel change can be estimated by assuming a mass density for the solid particles and porosity for the bed material and dividing the calculated volume by the reach length and average width. The bed material was assumed to have a mass density of 2650 kg/m<sup>3</sup> and a porosity of 0.3

(Dunne and Leopold 1978). The SIAM model results for the computed depth of channel change were compared with the normalized erosion and deposition rate parameter.

The GSTARS-1D models incorporate a time step and channel change throughout the simulations and the simulated thalweg depth at the end of the simulation can be extracted from the model results. Because this elevation was readily available from the model results, the final thalweg elevation from GTARS simulations was compared to the measured elevations collected from the field data. Summary data from the comparisons are presented in Tables 6.12 (Upper Penitencia) and 6.13 (Berryessa).

# Table 6.12Summary data for existing conditions model comparison to measured<br/>data on Upper Penitencia Creek.

_Reach name	Reach stationing (m)	SIAM erosion or deposition (m/yr)	GSTARS erosion or deposition (m/yr)	Observed normalized erosion or deposition (m/yr)	Observed elevation change of thalweg (m/yr)	RMSE SIAM	RMSE GSTARS
GCS 1-5	5988-5622			0.013	0.031	x	x
GCS 6-12	5622-4745	0.159	-0.097	0.005	0.013	0.15	0.11
GCS 12-16	4745-3484	-0.060	-0.081	0.061	0.038	0.12	0.12
GCS 16-I 680	3484-2523	0.057	0.176	0.05	0.133	0.01	0.04
GCS 18-19	2523-2096	0.078	0.121	-0.015	0.001	0.09	0.12
GCS 20-22	2096-1051	0.019	-0.054	0.008	0.011	0.01	0.07
GCS 23-24	1051-542	-0.036	-0.162	0.016	0.029	0.05	0.19
GCS 25-26	542-289	0.099	-0.078	0.024	0.045	0.08	0.12
RMSE Sum						0.51	0.77
RMSE average				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		0.07	0.11

data on Bo	erryes	sa Creek.			-		
Re	ach	SIAM erosion or	GSTARS erosion or	Observed normalized erosion or	Observed elevation change of	DMSE	DMCE

### Summary data for existing conditions model comparison to measured Table 6.13

Reach name	stationing (m)	deposition (m/yr)	deposition (m/yr)	deposition (m/yr)	thalweg (m/yr)	RMSE SIAM	RMSE GSTARS
GCS 2	2298-2213			0.002	0.02	x	x
GCS 4 Upstream of Old	2213-2020	1.11	-0.08	0.011	0.02	1.10	0.10
Piedmont	2020-1854	-0.34	-0.25	-0.037	-0.031	0.30	0.22
Old Piedmont to Cropley	1854-1521	0.11	-0.06	0.013	0	0.10	0.06
Sediment basin	1521-1447	0.63	0.16	0.56	0.56	0.07	0.40
Sediment basin to							
Sweigert Creek outfall	1447-1247	-2.01	-0.29	0.006	-0.031	2.02	0.26
Sweigert to footbridge	1247-768	0.70	-0.16	0.013	-0.003	0.69	0.16
Footbridge to Crosley							
Creek outfall	768-491	0.02	-0.11	-0.002	0.001	0.02	0.11
Crosley to headcut	491-250	0.22	0.14	0.088	0.061	0.13	0.08
Downstream of headcut	250-0	0.07	0.18	-0.058	0.035	0.13	0.15
RMSE Sum						3.45	1.44
RMSE average						0.43	0.18

The RMSE for the predicted channel change and simulated channel change in the existing conditions model indicates that the models provide reasonably close predictions to channel change for Upper Penitencia Creek. The average RMSE for the SIAM models was 0.07 m/year and the GSTARS-1D average RMSE was 0.1 m/year. The predicted and observed values show greater deviation for the Berryessa Creek models, which is to be expected because the system is much more complex in terms of the hydrologic changes and the engineered sedimentation basin. The GSTARS-1D models had better agreement with the measured data, with an average RMSE of 0.18 m/yr compared to 0.43 m/yr for the SIAM models. The average RMSE for the Berryessa SIAM models is skewed by some large outliers where predictions are much greater than the observed values. These outliers include the reach immediately downstream of the upstream boundary at GCS 4, which predicts deposition of 1.1 m/yr, and the reach immediately downstream of the

sedimentation basin, where the model predicts erosion of 2.01 m/yr. The most upstream reach is quite steep (0.036 m/m) and it is likely that the amount of sediment supplied to the downstream reach is overestimated. Downstream of the sedimentation basin the bed material grain size becomes significantly smaller, with a  $D_{84}$  of 27 mm compared to 153 mm in the upstream reach. It is reasonable to expect erosion due to this change, but the amount of erosion is overestimated. The SIAM model is better suited to predict relative trends in erosion and deposition rather than specific depths of aggradation or degradation (Mooney 2007). This is particularly true in reaches were there are abrupt changes in channel hydraulics or bed material size. The SIAM model did show good agreement with the amount of sediment that would be deposited in the Berryessa sediment basin on an annual basis. Dredging records were available from the SCVWD from 1985 to 2004. Calculations made from this dataset indicate that the average amount of sediment dredged yearly is 1151 metric tonnes/yr and the median amount is 1693 metric tones/yr. The SIAM model predicts that 1303 metric tonnes of sediment will be deposited in the basin, a 13% difference from the average and a 29 % difference from the median. Given the degree of uncertainty in the dredging record, bed material mass density and porosity these estimates provide a good indicator of the amount of sediment that can be expected to deposit in this feature.

The GSTARS-1D models incorporate a time step for changes to the channel cross section as well as the bed material gradation of the active transport layer. This allows for more gradual transitions in the channel hydraulics and bed material gradations over the simulation. These are the main factors leading to better predictions simulated by the GSTARS-1D model for Berryessa Creek. The Upper Penitencia Creek dataset has more gradual transitions in channel hydraulics and stream bed material caliber. Both of the models provide reasonable simulations of the erosion and deposition processes occurring at a reach scale The average RMSE values for these models are 70 mm/yr (SIAM) and 100 mm/yr (GSTARS-1D).

Figures 6.18 (Upper Penitencia) and 6.19 (Berryessa) show the predicted and observed trends for the modeled sediment reaches. The modeled scenarios generally follow the longitudinal trends observed in the streams. There are outliers in these trends. This is expected given the uncertainty inherent in sediment transport modeling. Estimates are oftentimes only within 1 or 2 orders of magnitude when compared to measured values (Alonzo 1980, Parker et al. 1982). The simulated erosion and deposition rates are typically exaggerated when compared to the observed values. However, these are reach-averaged values and erosion/deposition trends fluctuate, with the reach-scale dampening the values of measured erosion and deposition characteristics at individual cross sections.



Figure 6.18 Modeled and observed values of erosion and deposition for Upper Penitencia Creek.



Figure 6.19 Modeled and observed values of erosion and deposition for Berryessa Creek.

#### 6.10.2 INVESTIGATION OF HYDROLOGIC CHANGES DUE TO

#### **URBANIZATION**

As stated previously and detailed in Chapter 5, hydrologic changes have occurred in both of the streams due to urbanization infill, effective catchment area changes to the drainage network, and flow diversion to groundwater percolation ponds. The relative effects of these changes were ascertained in two modeling scenarios.

1. Comparison of the sediment modeling results for the conceptual historic models without valley subsidence (one model has pre-urban hydrology and the other has post-urban hydrology).

2. Comparison of the sediment modeling results for the surveyed 2004 cross sections, including urban infrastructure (one model has pre-urban hydrology and the other has post-urban hydrology).

Comparison of these models will reveal the relative effects of urban hydrologic change on erosion and deposition processes. The historic models indicate the response of the original (circa 1939) stream to the hydrologic change. The historic cross sections with the historic flow regime represent a baseline condition for the erosion and deposition trends in an un-altered state. The current models indicate the potential for future channel change of the presently observed channels in response to the urban hydrologic regime change.

## 6.10.2.1 BERRYESSA HISTORIC MODELS WITH AND WITHOUT URBAN HYDROLOGIC CHANGE

The Berryessa historic model simulations do not include the sedimentation basin or the grade-control structure at the valley/upland interface currently in place. The results of this analysis are presented in Table 6.14. In the table, a negative number indicates erosion and a positive number indicates deposition. The results from the most upstream reach in the models (GCS 2) are not included because this was used as a supply reach to the downstream reaches; therefore stability was imposed by the boundary conditions. A negative number in the percent change column indicates the relative increase in erosion or deposition due to the hydrologic changes. The results of this analysis indicate that the hydrologic changes that have occurred on Berryessa Creek due to urbanization would be expected to induce significant channel change, particularly in the reaches downstream of the storm sewer outfalls and continuing up to the upland valley interface.

		Historic histori	geometry ic flows	Historic ( urban	geometry flows		
Historic reaches	River stationing	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
	(m)	(m/yr	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 2	2298-2192	-	-	-	-	-	-
GCS 4	2192-1996	1.00	-0.050	1.00	-0.059	0%	-18%
Upstream of Old Piedmont	1996-1813	-0.318	-0.050	-0.318	-0.071	0%	-42%
Old Piedmont to Sed basin	1813-1447	0.093	-0.025	0.093	-0.080	0%	-220%
Sed basin to Sweigert Creek	1447-1167	-0.066	-0.015	-0.066	-0.091	0%	-495%
Sweigert to footbridge	1167-609	0.040	-0.014	-0.030	-0.059	-174%	-335%
Footbridge to Crosley Creek	609-357	0.124	-0.011	0.144	-0.042	16%	-279%
Crosley to outlet	357-0	0.041	-0.012	-0.061	-0.032	-248%	-158%

Table 6.14Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the<br/>conceptual historic Berryessa Creek models.

The SIAM model indicates a change from deposition to incision downstream of both the Crosley Creek and Sweigert Creek culvert outfalls. The SIAM results indicate that the erosion rates downstream of these outfalls will increase 174% for the reach downstream of Sweigert Creek and 248% downstream of Crosley Creek. The GSTARS-1D models show a similar trend and they indicate that the incision will proceed headward into the upland reaches over the 30-year simulation period. The maximum increase in incision rate for the GSTARS-1D models is 500%. The final rate downstream of Sweigert Creek is 335% and the final rate downstream of the Crosley culvert is 158%.

The annual specific sediment yield (metric tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) was computed at the outlet for both models. The GSTARS models were 30-year simulations. The annual sediment yield for the watershed was computed by dividing the cumulative sediment load for the simulation by 30. The GSTARS models predict a 9% increase (135 to 147 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield due to the changes in the hydrologic regime. The SIAM models predict a 61% increase (75.5 to 121.3 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield as a result of the urban hydrologic changes. Both models clearly indicate that by including Sweigert Creek and Crosley Creek, both of which are historically adjacent alluvial fan systems, in the current urban drainage structure, channel instability is incurred along Berryessa Creek. The SIAM models show that areas of historic deposition are transformed into incising reaches and the GSTARS models indicate that the channel response to the drainage alterations will be system-wide.

### 6.10.2.2 BERRYESSA CURRENT GEOMETRY MODELS WITH AND

#### WITHOUT URBAN HYDROLOGIC CHANGE

The current geometry scenarios were run with and without the urban hydrologic changes to investigate the expected response of the current stream to hydrologic change. These models include the sediment basin and grade-control structure. The results are presented in Table 6.15. Results of this analysis indicate that in the present context the changes in channel stability due to the urban hydrologic changes will be smaller than those modeled in the historic models. The SIAM models indicate that the reaches downstream of the Sweigert and Crosley Creek outfalls will remain depositional. This is primarily a result of local sediment sources from failing stream banks in these reaches and the reduced gradient in the reach due to historic channel incision. The models indicate that the deposition is mitigated by the increased transport provided by the urban flow regime. The relative increases in transport downstream of the outfalls are 12% for Sweigert Creek and 27% for Crosley Creek.

The GSTARS-1D models do not simulate local sediment sources and the results are much different. The GSTARS-1D models predict incision proceeding headward in reaches that are depositional under the historic flow regimes. The reach below Crosley Creek remains depositional but the transport capacity is increased 15%. The upstream reaches transition from depositional to incising, with relative erosion rates increasing 150% to 234%. The reach downstream of the sediment basin has the highest erosion rates (0.29 m/yr), due to coarse bed material deposition in the sediment basin. However, the relative rate is only increased 29% in this reach. The presence of the sediment basin and grade-control structure prohibits the incision from moving further upstream.

		Current histori	geometry c flows	Current g urban	geometry flows		<u> </u>
2004 survey reaches	Reach stationing	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
	(m)	(m/yr	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 2	2298-2213	-	-	-	-	-	
GCS 4	2213-2020	1.109	-0.084	1.109	-0.084	0%	0%
Upstream of Old Piedmont	2020-1854	-0.341	-0.247	-0.341	-0.247	0%	0%
Old Piedmont to Cropley	1854-1521	0.105	-0.063	0.105	-0.063	0%	-1%
Sediment basin	1521-1447	0.633	0.160	0.633	0.156	0%	-3%
Sed basin to Sweigert Creek	1447-1247	-2.007	-0.226	-2.007	-0.292	0%	-29%
Sweigert to footbridge	1247-768	0.800	-0.066	0.703	-0.164	-12%	-150%
Footbridge to Crosley Creek	768-491	0.012	0.083	0.016	-0.110	39%	-234%
Crosley to headcut	491-250	0.299	0.164	0.220	0.140	-27%	-15%
Downstream of headcut	250-0	0.057	0.181	0.068	0.184	18%	1%

# Table 6.15Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the current<br/>geometry Berryessa Creek models.

The annual specific sediment yield (metric tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) was computed at the outlet for both models. The GSTARS models were 3-year simulations, therefore to estimate the annual sediment yield for the watershed the cumulative sediment load for the simulation was divided by 3. The GSTARS models predict a 4% increase (73.4 to 76.4 tonnes/yrkm<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield due to the changes in the hydrologic regime. The SIAM models predict a 59% increase (54.2 to 86.3 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield as a result of the urban hydrologic changes. The predicted relative increases in sediment yield in these simulations are comparable to the results from the historic geometry models.

#### **6.10.2.3 UPPER PENITENCIA HISTORIC MODELS WITH AND WITHOUT**

#### **URBAN HYDROLOGIC CHANGE**

Sediment transport models were run for the conceptual historic Upper Penitencia Creek watershed scenarios. These models did not include any of the grade-control structures present on the upstream portion of the watershed. The historic models were created from the historic reach discretization described previously, however data analysis was conducted in the context of the current geometry reach scenario to facilitate comparison amongst the various models. Bed material estimates were created using the existing conditions bed material measurements for the field sampling of the pavement and subpavement layers. The urban hydrologic change on Upper Penitencia differs from Berryessa Creek. The current effective catchment area is smaller than the historic topographic catchment area and a portion of flood flows are typically diverted into the off-channel percolation ponds in the upstream reaches. Both watersheds have seen drastic increases in impervious surface within the valley portion of the catchment, Upper Penitencia is 76% urban land use within the valley, while Berryessa is 85% urban within the valley. A summary of this analysis is provided in Table 6.16. The upstream reach is excluded from the analysis because it is a supply reach.

The most noteworthy point that can be deduced from these data is the degree of channel stability modeled for the historic geometry of Upper Penitencia Creek. The GSTARS-1D models simulate reach-average erosion rates ranging from -0.03 m/yr to 0.01 m/yr for the historic flow regime and -0.04 m/yr to 0.01 m/yr for the urban flow regime under historic geometric conditions. The SIAM models indicate more variability, but simulated reach-average erosion rates still indicate relative stability ranging from -0.05 m/yr to 0.12 m/yr

for the historic flow regime and 0.0 m/yr to 0.1 m/yr for the urban flow regime under historic geometric conditions. In nearly all cases the urban flow regime provides greater stability from the results of the transport models. This stability in the historic geometric configuration illustrates two important points. First, areas of instability that are witnessed currently are likely due to valley subsidence or urban encroachment, not changes due to the urban flow regime. Secondly, management of groundwater drawdown in the region by flow extraction into off-channel percolation ponds did not adversely affect channel stability and it was successful in mitigating valley subsidence in the area. The SIAM model does predict bed material deposition in the reach from river stations 5622- 4745 m, where the peak flows are extracted. The GSTARS-1D model does not predict this response.

Reach Name	Reach stationing	Historic geometry historic flows		Historic geometry urban flows			
		SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
-	(m)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 1-5	5988-5622	-	-	-	-	-	-
GCS 6-12	5622-4745	-0.049	-0.030	0.036	-0.040	173%	-32%
GCS 12-16	4745-3484	0.018	0.004	0.001	-0.001	-93%	-131%
GCS 16-I 680	3484-2523	0.084	0.010	0.063	0.009	-25%	-13%
GCS 18-19	2523-2096	0.115	-0.001	0.104	-0.002	-10%	-39%
GCS 20-22	2096-1051	0.014	-0.008	0.002	-0.006	-89%	22%
GCS 23-24	1051-542	0.033	-0.017	0.026	-0.004	-20%	78%
GCS 25-26	542-289	0.005	-0.015	0.018	-0.005	247%	67%

Table 6.16Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the<br/>conceptual historic Upper Penitencia Creek models.

The annual specific sediment yield (metric tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) was computed at the outlet for both models. The GSTARS models were 30-year simulations. The cumulative sediment
load for the simulation was divided by 30 to compute the annual sediment yield. The GSTARS models predict an 8% decrease (75.4 to 69.5 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield due to the changes in the hydrologic regime. The SIAM models predict a 4% decrease (41.7 to 39.8 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield as a result of the urban hydrologic changes.

### 6.10.2.4 UPPER PENITENCIA CURRENT GEOMETRY MODELS WITH AND WITHOUT URBAN HYDROLOGIC CHANGE

The 2004 cross section hydraulic models were run to investigate implications for flow regime change under the current geometric configuration for Upper Penitencia Creek. Results of this analysis are presented in Table 6.17. Results from the SIAM models indicate that there is a loss of transport in the reach where the diversion occurs (GCS 6-12). The SIAM model predicts increased deposition in this reach, whereas the GSTARS-1D model predicts that the reach will be degradational. The degradation predicted in the GSTARS models is a function of upstream erosion migration resulting from storm water inputs over time. Both models are in agreement with the prediction that incision should occur upstream of crossing with Upper Penitencia Creek Rd. and that deposition should occur in the vicinity of I-680, this trend is validated through field observations. Comparison of the modeling results does not indicate that the current urban flow regime is a strong driver of change in the trends of the modeling results. There is a signal in the SIAM results indicating the effect of the urban runoff flow augmentation in the downstream reaches. This can be deduced from river stations 34+84 m to 5+42 m., in these reaches reach average erosion rates show relative increases ranging from 17% to 52% as a result of the urban flow regime.

		Current geometry historic flows		Current geometry urban flows			
Reach Name	Reach stationing	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
	(m)	(m/yr	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 1-5	5988-5622	-	-	-	_	-	-
GCS 6-12	5622-4745	0.103	-0.052	0.159	-0.097	55%	-87%
GCS 12-16	4745-3484	-0.063	-0.056	-0.060	-0.081	3%	-45%
GCS 16-I 680	3484-2523	0.073	0.173	0.057	0.176	-22%	2%
GCS 18-19	2523-2096	0.093	0.125	0.078	0.121	-17%	-3%
GCS 20-22	2096-1051	0.030	-0.065	0.01 <del>9</del>	-0.054	-35%	17%
GCS 23-24	1051-542	-0.024	-0.150	-0.036	-0.162	-52%	-8%
GCS 25-26	542-289	0.073	-0.066	0.099	-0.078	36%	-18%

Table 6.17Channel change modeled due to changes in hydrology for the current<br/>geometry Upper Penitencia Creek models.

The annual specific sediment yield (metric tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) was computed at the outlet for both models. The GSTARS models were 3 year simulations. The cumulative sediment load for the simulation was divided by 3 to compute the annual sediment yield. The SIAM model results always represent an annual loading estimate. The GSTARS models predict a 1% decrease (86.5 to 85.3 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield due to the changes in the hydrologic regime. The SIAM models predict a 4% decrease (38.7 to 37.3 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>) in the annual sediment yield as a result of the urban hydrologic changes.

### 6.10.3 INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF VALLEY SUBSIDENCE ON CHANNEL STABILITY

Both streams have been subject to base-level lowering as a result of groundwater extraction and subsequent valley floor subsidence. Data from Poland and Ireland (1988) were utilized to construct valley subsidence profiles for both streams along the study

reach extents. Maximum base-level lowering has been greater for Upper Penitencia Creek (1.1 m) when compared to Berryessa Creek (0.23 m) within the surveyed study reaches. The effect of base-level lowering was simulated using the GSTARS-1D and SIAM models. The presently surveyed cross section data cannot be used to model base level lowering because subsidence was halted during the time period from the late 1960s to the early 1970s (Poland and Ireland 1988). The cross sections surveyed in 2004 have had approximately 25 years to adjust to the base-level lowering. Therefore, the geometry from conceptual historic models of the watersheds was used to simulate base-level lowering. The geometry in these models did use upstream surveyed cross sections that were outside of the zone of influence of both subsidence and urbanization. The effect of base-level lowering; therefore, the historic geometry with the historic hydrology was chosen to model this process. The models were run with and without base-level lowering to investigate stream response to this forcing variable.

The rate of base-level lowering at each cross section calculated from the subsidence profiles was amortized over a 30-year time period for the GSTARS-1D models. The SIAM models do not incorporate a time step; therefore, full base-level lowering was applied to all cross sections within the zone of subsidence influence for this model.

#### 6.10.3.1 BERRYESSA CREEK SUBSIDENCE MODELING RESULTS

Results of the sediment transport modeling of base level lowering for Berryessa Creek are provided in Table 6.18.

		Historic geometry no subsidence		Historic geometry with subsidence			
Historic reaches	River stationing	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
	(m)	(m/yr	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 2	2298-2192	-	-	-	-	-	-
GCS 4	2192-1996	0.999	-0.050	0.999	-0.051	0%	-2%
Upstream of Old Piedmont	1996-1813	-0.318	-0.050	-0.328	-0.050	-3%	0%
Old Piedmont to Sed basin	1813-1447	0.093	-0.025	0.091	-0.026	-2%	-4%
Sed basin to Sweigert Creek	1447-1167	-0.066	-0.015	-0.061	-0.016	7%	-5%
Sweigert to footbridge	1167-609	0.040	-0.014	0.035	-0.017	-12%	-25%
Footbridge to Crosley Creek	609-357	0.124	-0.011	0.162	-0.018	30%	-61%
Crosley to outlet	357-0	0.041	-0.012	0.003	-0.014	-93%	-12%

#### Table 6.18 Summary data from subsidence comparison for Berryessa Creek.

The Berryessa Creek data show that valley subsidence did have an effect on erosion trends in the lower portion of the valley. The effects are strongest in the reach upstream of the zone of maximum subsidence the GSTARS-1D models indicate a 61 % increase in erosion rates due to subsidence in the reach upstream of the Crosley culvert outfall. In this reach erosion rates increase from 0.011 to 0.018 m/yr due to the subsidence. The cumulative change in thalweg lowering due to subsidence is shown in Figure 6.20. The effect of the base-level drop proceeds and reaches a maximum of 0.27 m in the vicinity of river station 500 m, this incision is marginally larger than the overall base-level drop of 0.23 m. The incision dissipates in the upstream direction from this zone. The incision effects are minimal 1000 m upstream of the downstream boundary.

The SIAM model results indicate that the effect of base-level lowering is rather moderate; this is understandable because SIAM does not incorporate a time step and the resulting changes in channel hydraulics due to the 0.23 m base-level drop are rather moderate. The model indicates that there will be some increased transport in the most downstream reach, but SIAM models this reach as depositional and the base-level lowering actually improves channel stability in the lower reaches. Contrary to the GSTARS models the SIAM models indicate that the subsidence will result in increased deposition in the reach upstream of the Crosley culvert outfall.



Figure 6.20 Thalweg lowering due to subsidence along the Berryessa Creek longitudinal profile.

#### 6.10.3.2 UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK SUBSIDENCE MODELING RESULTS

Results of the sediment transport modeling of base level lowering for Upper Penitencia Creek are provided in Table 6.19. Rates of erosion modeled in GSTARS-1D increase from the pre-subsidence condition up to the GCS 12-16 reach near river station 4745 m, 4000 m upstream of the zone of maximum subsidence. The model results indicate that the reach GCS 18-19 that was historically stable is shown to be degradational due to the subsidence. The model results show that there is a thousand-fold increase in incision rate in this reach resulting from the subsidence over the 30-year simulation. Channel incision rates are also increased downstream of this reach, and the relative rate increases range from 69 to 224 %. The relative effect of incision due to the subsidence is shown in Figure 6.21. This figure shows the zone of maximum incision near station 1800 m, with incision due to subsidence reaching a maximum depth of 0.65 m. In the 30-year time period the zone of maximum incision has proceeded 1800 m upstream from the zone of maximum subsidence. Values for relative change in the GSTARS-1D models are skewed by the low rates of incision predicted under the no-subsidence condition.

It is important to note that maximum incision rates on Upper Penitencia Creek are smaller than the total base-level lowering depth, while the incision rates on Berryessa Creek are greater than the base-level lowering depth. This indicates the added resistance to erosion on Upper Penitencia Creek due to the coarser stream bed material and well established pavement layer. Berryessa Creek is less resilient and responds more dramatically to perturbation, in part due to the lack of streambed armoring in the lower reaches modeled.

		Historic geometry no subsidence		Historic ge subsi	ometry with dence		
Reach Name	Reach	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
	(m)	(m/yr	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 1-5	5988-5622	-	-	-	-	-	-
GCS 6-12	5622-4745	-0.049	-0.030	-0.049	-0.032	1%	-7%
GCS 12-16	4745-3484	0.018	0.004	0.013	0.000	-28%	-102%
GCS 16-I 680	3484-2523	0.084	0.010	0.082	0.000	-2%	-100%
GCS 18-19	2523-2096	0.115	-0.001	0.103	-0.016	-11%	-1330%
GCS 20-22	2096-1051	0.014	-0.008	0.020	-0.025	35%	-224%
GCS 23-24	1051-542	0.033	-0.017	0.040	-0.028	22%	-69%
GCS 25-26	542-289	0.005	-0.015	0.007	-0.029	47%	-88%

# Table 6.19Summary data from subsidence comparison for Upper Penitencia<br/>Creek.



#### Figure 6.21 Thalweg lowering due to subsidence along the Upper Penitencia Creek longitudinal profile.

Changes in the specific sediment yield at the outlet location were calculated for both streams. Results indicate that the changes in the sediment yield will be minimal due to valley subsidence. The GSTARS models predict that the sediment yield at the outlet of Upper Penitencia Creek will show a slight increase of 0.5% from 75.3 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> to 75.6 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> and the SIAM models predict a more substantial increase of 4% from 41.7 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> to 43.5 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>. In a similar fashion the GSTARS models predict a marginal increase in the sediment yield due to subsidence for Berryessa Creek. The results indicate a 0.3 % increase from 135 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> to 135.4 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>. The SIAM models for Berryessa Creek predict a more substantial increase in sediment yield of 11 % (75.5 to 83.9 tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup>).

The SIAM models for Upper Penitencia Creek indicate little morphologic response to the subsidence. This is unlikely due to the magnitude of the base-level lowering. Data from the current and historic longitudinal profiles illustrate this point (Figure 6.22). In this figure the measured stream bed elevation change extracted from archived construction drawings and the stream bed elevation change due to subsidence are plotted on the primary Y-axis. On the secondary Y-axis is the reach-average percent change in unit stream power (velocity and energy slope product) from the hydraulic modeling results. Unit stream power (Yang 1973) is a strong indicator of sediment transport capacity. This figure shows that the maximum increase in unit stream power is immediately downstream of channel degradation near river station 3000 m. Valley subsidence was halted in the late 1960s and the aggradation/degradation data shown are from 1985 to 2004. It is logical that incision would proceed upstream of the zone of maximum stream power increase

over the 37-year time period extending from the last date of recorded subsidence in 1967 (Poland and Ireland 1988) to the date of the 2004 longitudinal survey.



## Figure 6.22 Base-level, aggradation/degradation, and stream power trends due to subsidence and slope change on Upper Penitencia Creek.

Another slope perturbation was stream re-alignment that was done during the construction of Interstate 680. In the vicinity of river station 2600 m the local slope was increased 16 % due to this realignment. Both of these slope changes have caused instability in the reaches upstream. This incision is corroborated by field observations (Figure 6.23). Reaches downstream of the incised reach show aggradation since 1985. This is a logical response since sediment that is eroded from the degrading reach is deposited downstream in the zone of maximum subsidence.



Figure 6.23 Incised reach upstream of I-680 Upper Penitencia Creek (approximate river station 2800 m).

### 6.10.4 SEDIMENT TRANSPORT INVESTIGATION INTO THE EFFECTS OF URBAN INFRASTRUCTURE ON CHANNEL STABILITY

Engineered river infrastructure is present on both streams. Berryessa Creek has a large grade-control structure at the urban/valley interface (Figure 6.24) and a 3.5 m wide, 155 m long box culvert that leads into a sedimentation basin located 350 m downstream of the drop structure (Figure 6.24). The primary infrastructure present on Upper Penitencia Creek is a series of grade-control structures that are present primarily in the upstream reaches (Figure 6.25). Sediment transport models were run to investigate the effect of these elements on channel stability. Model scenarios 4 and 5 were used to investigate the

relative changes in channel stability if the structures were not present. Scenario 4 is the existing conditions model with the current survey data, current hydrology, and the infrastructure in place. Scenario 5 is exactly the same except that the structures were removed and replaced with cross sections that are similar to the adjacent cross sections in the vicinity of the structures. In the GSTARS-1D, models the grade-control structures were modeled with cross section data collected during the 2004 survey and the invert elevations were held constant during the simulations. The geometry of the sedimentation basin was also modeled using the survey data collected in 2004.



Figure 6.24 Grade control structure and sedimentation basin present on Berryessa Creek.



#### Figure 6.25 Examples of grade control structures located on Upper Penitencia Creek.

#### 6.10.4.1 BERRYESSA CREEK RESULTS

Results of the infrastructure analysis for Berryessa Creek are presented in Table 6.20.

#### Table 6.20 Summary data from infrastructure comparison for Berryessa Creek.

		With Infra	With Infrastructure		Without Infrastructure		
Reach	Reach stationing	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
	(m)	(m/yr	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 2	2298-2213	-	-	-	-	-	-
GCS 4	2213-2020	1.109	-0.084	1.150	-0.109	4%	-29%
Upstream of Old Piedmont	2020-1854	-0.341	-0.205	-0.986	-0.229	-189%	-12%
Old Piedmont to Cropley	1854-1521	0.105	-0.096	0.554	-0.049	427%	49%
Sediment basin	1521-1447	0.633	0.075	0.346	-0.006	-45%	-108%
Sed basin to Sweigert Creek	1447-1247	-2.007	-0.35	-1.773	-0.338	12%	3%
Sweigert Creek to footbridge	1247-768	0.703	-0.179	0.703	-0.082	0%	54%
Footbridge to Crosley Creek	768-491	0.016	-0.130	0.016	0.071	0%	154%
Crosley Creek to headcut	491-250	0.220	0.081	0.220	0.076	0%	-6%
Downstream of headcut	250-0	0.068	0.234	0.068	0.232	0%	-1%

Both models indicate that potential instability problems may be introduced to the upstream reaches by removing the grade-control structure present on Berryessa Creek.

The SIAM model indicates that the reach upstream of the grade-control structure (river stations 1854 to 2020 m) will have a 189% increase in degradation potential as a result of removing the grade-control structure. Incision rates increase from 0.34 m/yr to 0.99 m/yr. The GSTARS-1D model indicates that removing the grade control structure will marginally increase the likelihood of incision upstream. The percentage increase in the upstream incision rates range from 12 to 29%. These results are logical since 1.85 m of elevation is presently being held in place by the current grade-control structure. The magnitude in the difference between the SIAM and GSTARS-1D model results stems from the fact that in the GSTARS-1D model the bed material gradation of the active transport layer is updated with each time step. This enables coarse bed material to be recruited into the reach upstream of the grade control due to the increased slope in the reach. The SIAM model does not have this capability and likely over-predicts incision potential. If the grade-control structure were removed it is essential to assure bed stability, possibly by coarsening the stream bed with large boulders and implementing a step-pool channel morphology to hold the grade change.

The channel incision upstream of the grade-control location results in increased sediment supply to the immediate downstream reach located between Old Piedmont Rd. and Cropley Ave. The SIAM model indicates that deposition rates will increase in this reach from 0.105 m/yr to 0.554 m/yr and 427% increase. The rate of 0.554 m/yr is not reasonable, however the trend toward increased deposition in this reach is the most important finding. The GSTARS model predicts that this reach is degradational under existing conditions and that degradation will be mitigated by removing the structure. The degradation rate is predicted to decrease from -0.096 m/yr to -0.049 m/yr, a 49% relative

change. Both models are in agreement with regard to the relative trajectory of increased deposition in this reach as a result of removing the current infrastructure.

The SIAM model predicts that altering the geometry of the sediment basin downstream of Cropley Ave. will decrease deposition rates at this location by 45%; the annual deposition rate is predicted to decrease from 0.63 m/yr to 0.35 m/yr. Likewise the GSTARS modeling results indicate that channel stability will be improved by altering the geometry of the sediment basin. Deposition in the sediment basin is predicted to decrease from 0.075 m/yr to a slight degradational trend of -0.006 m/yr. It is unlikely that the reach would be degradational if the sediment basin was decommissioned, but once again the fundamental insight that can be gleaned from the analysis and modeling is that the current aggradation at the site could be mitigated.

Downstream of the sediment basin channel stability is predicted to improve marginally as

the SIAM models predicted incision rates drop from -2.01 m/yr to -1.77 m/yr, a 12% change. These incision rates are not realistic, however they do give a relatively indication of downstream channel response to the removal of this structure. The GSTARS models show relatively little morphologic response to the reach immediately downstream of the sediment basin, only a marginal 3% change from a degradation rate -0.35 m/yr to -0.34 m/yr. The reach downstream of the sediment basin is predicted to remain degradational,

regardless of whether the structure is there or not. This may be a function of the

parameterization of the bed material in this reach. The stream bed is much finer downstream of the sediment basin compared to the upstream reaches, because coarse bedload is currently deposited in the sediment basin. If the sediment basin was removed,

over time the existing bed material will likely coarsen as a greater amount of coarse material will be routed through the sediment basin area. This may take many years and these model runs were only 3 year simulations. The SIAM model does not take this into account because there is no time step in the model. The GSTARS model does update the bed gradation of the active transport layer, therefore longer simulations may reveal this morphologic response. Figure 6.26 illustrates the effect of the sediment basin on the transport of gravels to the downstream reaches. These results were taken from the GTSTARS modeling immediately downstream of the sediment basin and they clearly show the increase in sediment yield for gravel sized bed material that results from decommissioning the sediment basin. The model results predict a three-fold increase in gravel sediment yield from 21 metric tonnes/yr to 64 metric tonnes/yr downstream of the existing sediment basin if the sediment basin were decommissioned.



Figure 6.26 Gravel sediment yield changes downstream of the Berryessa Creek sediment basin predicted by GSTARS modeling.

Further downstream of the sediment basin (River stations 1247 to 0 m), channel stability predictions cannot be made with the SIAM modeling because there are no hydraulic alterations downstream of the sediment basin and changes in sediment supply are reflected only in the immediate downstream reach in the SIAM framework. The GSTARS modeling indicates a trend of improved stability. However, a noticeable difference in morphologic response is predicted in the reach from the pedestrian footbridge downstream to the Crosley culvert outfall location. Under existing conditions this reach is predicted to be degradational -0.13 m/yr, however if the sediment basin is removed the reach is predicted to aggradational 0.07 m/yr. This may be a result of the increased sediment supply and subsequent increase in sediment yield that would result from removing the current sediment basin. The changes in the annual specific sediment vield due to the removal of the engineered infrastructure elements were mined from the sediment transport models at the outlet location. The SIAM models do not simulate the changes in bed material load sediment yield at the outlet because the changes in reach scale sediment yield are only reflected in the immediate downstream reach of the change. The GSTARS-1D models indicate that annual specific sediment yield will increase 15% at the outlet from 76.4 to 88.0 metric tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> if the current infrastructure elements are removed. This is logical because the current sediment basin captures are significant portion of the annual sediment load downstream of Cropley Ave.

#### 6.10.4.2 UPPER PENITENCIA CREEK RESULTS

The results of the sediment transport analysis for Upper Penitencia Creek are presented in Table 6.21. The modeled infrastructure elements on Upper Penitencia Creek consist of a series of grade-control structure located between river stations 4096 to 5543 m and one

drop structure located at river station 1495 m. The drop structures range in height from 0.3 to 1.25 m. It is proposed that these drop structures aid in channel stability in the upper reaches.

		With Infra	With Infrastructure Without Infrastructure				
Reach Name	Reach stationing	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM erosion or deposition	GSTARS erosion or deposition	SIAM % change	GSTARS % change
	(m)	(m/yr	(m/yr)	(m/yr)	(m/yr)		
GCS 1-5	5988-5622	-	-0.14	-	-0.36	-	-157%
GCS 6-12	5622-4745	0.16	-0.05	0.16	-0.21	-1%	-306%
GCS 12-16	4745-3484	-0.06	-0.06	-0.05	-0.08	21%	-41%
GCS 16 - I-680	3484-2523	0.06	0.17	0.12	0.22	104%	29%
GCS 18-19	2523-2096	0.08	0.13	0.08	0.14	0%	12%
GCS 20-22	2096-1051	0.02	-0.07	0.00	-0.07	-93%	-12%
GCS 23-24	1051-542	-0.04	-0.15	-0.01	-0.16	74%	-8%
GCS 25-26	542-289	0.10	-0.07	0.10	-0.06	0%	12%

Table 6.21	Summary data from infrastructure comparison for Upper Penitencia
	Creek.

The majority of the drop structures are located in the sediment reach named GCS 6-12. GSTARS-1D model results indicate that these structures do improve channel stability within this reach. Modeled erosion rates in this reach are 0.05 m/yr with the structures and 0.21 m/yr without the structures. This is a 306% increase in modeled incision rate without the structures. The upstream reach GCS 1-5 was included in the analysis of the GSTARS-1D model to investigate upstream response to the removal of the drop structures. Model results indicate that incision would migrate upstream into this reach as well, with an annual incision rate increasing from 0.14 m/yr to 0.36 m/yr, a 157% increase within this reach. The GSTARS-1D model indicates that these structures do provide added channel stability in the upstream reaches. The model also predicts that the

increased incision will magnify downstream deposition rates. Deposition in the downstream reach (River stations 2523-3484 m) is predicted to increase from 0.17 m/yr to 0.22 m/yr, a 29% increase. Channel stability in the downstream reaches shows minimal change in the GSTARS-1D models.

The SIAM model does not indicate that channel stability will change in the GCS 6-12 reach if the grade-control structures in the upstream reaches are removed. The SIAM model utilizes reach-averaged hydraulic properties and the hydraulic effect of these structures is minimal if reach-average properties are used. The hydraulic impact of these structures is localized due to the relatively steep gradient of the stream and relatively small drop height of the structures. The stability they provide as fixed elevations along the longitudinal profile is not modeled in SIAM. SIAM does pick up the increase in downstream deposition rates in the vicinity of river stations 2523 to 3484 m. Deposition rates increase from 0.06 m/yr to 0.12 m/yr, a 104% increase, within this reach. The SIAM models indicate that channel stability would be improved by removing the downstream drop structure at river station 1495 m. Upstream sediment supply and transport capacity are in balance in the reach where the drop structure is located, GCS 20-22 (River stations 1051 to 2096 m), as well as the downstream reach (erosion rate of 0.01 m/yr), if the drop structure were not in place. However this is not feasible because the structure is currently utilized to divert flow into an offsite ground water percolation pond at the site.

The changes in the annual specific sediment yield due to the removal of the engineered infrastructure elements were mined from the sediment transport models at the outlet location. The SIAM models do not simulate the changes in bed material load sediment yield at the outlet because the changes in reach scale sediment yield are only reflected in the immediate downstream reach of the change. The GSTARS-1D models indicate that annual specific sediment yield will increase 3% at the outlet from 85.3 to 87.9 metric tonnes/yr-km<sup>2</sup> if the current infrastructure elements are removed.

#### 6.11 SUMMARY POINTS FROM THE SEDIMENT TRANSPORT ANALYSIS

A sediment transport analysis was carried out for the Berryessa and Upper Penitencia Creek watersheds. Six modeling scenarios were simulated with the GSTARS-1D and SIAM sediment transport models to investigate the effects of the following changes on channel stability and sediment yield:

- 1. Hydrologic alteration to the historic flow regime due to increased impervious land cover, drainage area manipulation and water diversion;
- 2. Urbanization infrastructure elements including grade-control structures, sedimentation basins, and instream culverts and;
- 3. Historic valley subsidence from the period of time between 1939 and 1969.

The sediment transport models were also compared to measured observations to determine the efficacy of the models to simulate existing conditions and the efficacy of sediment transport relationships to model measured cross section aggradation/degradation data from a 3-year period. A summary table of the resulting changes in the annual specific sediment yield at the outlet location for all of the modeling scenarios is presented in Table 6.22.

		Sediment (metric tonnes	yield s/yr-km2)
Berryessa Creek	Model	GSTARS	SIAM
	Historic conditions (historic geometry and historic flow regime)	135.0	75.5
	Historic geometry/historic flows with subsidence	135.4	83.9
	Historic geometry with urban flow regime	147.0	121.3
	Current surveyed geometry with historic flow regime	73.4	54.2
	Current surveyed geometry with urban flow regime	76.4	86.3
	Current surveyed geometry with urban flow regime and no infrastructure elements	88.0	86.3
	Change in sediment yield due to subsidence (historic models)	0.3%	11%
	Change in sediment yield due to urbanization and drainage area capture (historic models)	9%	61%
	Change in sediment yield due to urbanization and drainage		
	area capture (current geometry models)	4%	59%
	Change in sediment yield due to current infrastructure	-15%	0%
Upper Pen Creek	itencia		
	Historic conditions (historic geometry and historic flow regime)	75.6	41.7
	Historic geometry/historic flows with subsidence	75.3	43.5
	Historic geometry with urban flow regime	69.5	39.8
	Current surveyed geometry with historic flow regime	86.5	38.7
	Current surveyed geometry with urban flow regime	85.3	37.3
	Current surveyed geometry with urban flow regime and no	97.0	27.2
		01.9	77.5
	Change in sediment yield due to subsidence (historic models)	-0.5%	4%
	Change in sediment yield due to urbanization, drainage area		
	reduction, and flow diversion (historic models)	-8%	-4%
	Change in sediment yield due to urbanization, drainage area	40/	404
	reauction, and now diversion (current geometry models)	-1%	-4%
	Unange in sealment yield due to current infrastructure	-3%	0%

# Table 6.22Sediment yield summary for sediment transport modeling<br/>simulations.

Key findings of this analysis are:

- A combination of the Yang (1973) and Yang (1984) sand and gravel transport functions provided the most realistic prediction of the observed longitudinal erosion and deposition trends among the transport equations available in GSTARS-1D and was therefore used to model the hypothetical scenarios.
- Model results indicate that alterations to the effective catchment area and urban flow regime in Berryessa Creek have greatly increased channel instability, particularly downstream of culvert outfalls from captured drainages. Reaches that were historically depositional become incised under the current urban hydrologic regime. All of the modeling scenarios predict significant increases in specific sediment yield at the basin outlet. The predictions of increased sediment yield range from 4 to 61% depending on the modeling scenario.
- Model results indicate that the current effective catchment network and urbanized flow regime have minimal effect on channel stability in Upper Penitencia Creek. All of the modeling scenarios predict a decrease in annual sediment yield resulting from the current hydrologic regime compared to the historic hydrologic regime. The predictions range from a 1 to 8% decrease in sediment yield resulting from the current Upper Penitencia hydrologic regime.

- Valley subsidence can be expected to induce channel incision in both streams due to increases in channel slope. Berryessa Creek experienced 0.23 m of base-level drop and the GSTARS models predict channel incision will reach a maximum of 0.27 m approximately 500 m upstream of the outlet location. Upper Penitencia Creek experienced 1.11 m of base-level drop at the outlet location and the GSTARS models predict channel incision will reach a maximum of 0.64 m approximately 1800 m upstream of the outlet location. GSTARS modeling results predict minimal changes in sediment yield for both streams due to the subsidence. A 0.3% increase is predicted for Berryessa Creek and a 0.5% decrease is predicted for Upper Penitencia Creek. The SIAM models predict an 11% increase in sediment yield for Berryessa Creek and a 4% increase for Upper Penitencia Creek.
- Results of the subsidence modeling and analysis of reach scale unit stream power changes coupled with historic longitudinal profile data and field observations indicate that valley subsidence and channel straightening in the vicinity of I-680 have resulted in increased stream power upstream of I-680. The combination of the subsidence and channel re-alignment are likely the primary causes of localized channel instability observed upstream of I-680 on Upper Penitencia Creek.
- Existing infrastructure elements on Berryessa Creek include a 1.85 m grade-control structure at the upland-valley interface and an on-line

sedimentation basin downstream. Sediment transport modeling indicates that removal of the grade-control structure can result in the potential for upstream channel instability and downstream sedimentation problems. Model results also indicate that downstream channel stability can be improved if the sediment basin is re-configured to better transport gravel size bed material to downstream reaches. It is predicted that the annual sediment yield at the outlet (300 m upstream of Morrill Ave.) will be increased by 15% if the existing infrastructure elements are removed.

• Existing infrastructure present on Upper Penitencia Creek includes a series of drop structures in the upstream reaches. Modeling results indicate that these drop structures improve upstream channel stability by preventing incision in these reaches. GSTARS models predict a 4-fold increase in the channel incision rate if the structures were not present. Model results indicate that if the structures were removed the annual sediment yield at the basin outlet would be increased by 3%.

#### 7.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS.

#### 7.1 CONCLUSIONS

A detailed geomorphic assessment was conducted to investigate the comparative response of two adjacent watersheds to flow regime changes resulting from urbanization, valley subsidence, and constructed river engineering infrastructure. Components of the quantitative urban geomorphic assessment include historical analysis of the pre-urban geomorphic state, time-series morphometric analysis to gain insight into changes imposed by urbanization on the historic condition, investigation into historic data sources to quantify longitudinal profile change, field survey data to quantify the existing morphologic state and current rates of channel change, hydrologic analysis to quantify the altered urban flow regime, and sediment transport analysis to investigate channel response to the potential drivers of channel change.

Over 9 km of detailed longitudinal profile data were gathered, 128 bed material gradations were sampled and 90 permanent cross sections were monumented and surveyed on both streams, establishing a permanent network that can be monitored over many years to investigate channel change in an urban context.

The research objectives and major findings related to the objectives of the study are:

1. Perform a comparative analysis of the factors leading to channel instability and/or stability in two adjacent watersheds that have encountered vastly different morphologic response to urbanization despite similar upland watershed characteristics. This will be accomplished through historical data

### analysis, field observations and measurements, and numerical hydrologic and sediment transport modeling.

- Field observations of channel stability indicate that Berryessa Creek is an unstable stream system and Upper Penitencia Creek is generally a stable stream system with areas of localized instability.
- The ephemeral flow regime of Berryessa Creek results in sparse riparian vegetation that provides little resistance to bank erosion process, while Upper Penitencia Creek is supplied with consistent base-flow that has promoted abundant riparian vegetation that is resilient to bank erosion processes.
- Berryessa Creek has a higher rate of sediment supplied from the upstream watershed which results in a more heterogeneous bed material composition ranging from sands to cobbles. This bed material gradation is more susceptible to erosion than the primarily cobble/gravel bed of Upper Penitencia Creek.
- Three of years of cross section surveys revealed that average yearly adjustments typically range from +/- 0.05 m/yr. Patterns in erosion and deposition typically oscillate around equilibrium values with greater oscillation observed on Berryessa Creek. Berryessa Creek cross sections are also more likely to be degradational compared to Upper Penitencia Creek. Areas of deposition are typically associated with failing stream banks and lateral channel migration indicating large amounts of sediment are introduced locally within the urbanized valley.

- Historical longitudinal profiles created by the investigating author revealed a system-wide degradational trend for Berryessa Creek from 37 years of data. Quasi-equilibrium with some localized areas of erosion and deposition were observed for Upper Penitencia Creek from 20 years of data.
- Morphometric analysis results indicate that while both basins have been subject to similar urbanization trends with regard to increases in impervious area, drainage area capture by the constructed storm sewer network has increased the contributing drainage area in directly hydraulic connectivity with Berryessa Creek by 20% for the entire watershed and 122% within the low relief valley from historic conditions. The storm sewer network in Upper Penitencia Creek has resulted in a net loss of 3% of the total contributing drainage area and a 29% net loss within the valley.
- Flow diversion has also taken place on Upper Penitencia Creek as peak flow shaving is used to export water into ground water percolation ponds modifying the downstream hydrologic regime from historic conditions
- The primary infrastructure elements on Berryessa Creek are a 1.85 m gradecontrol structure, a 155 m long box culvert and an online sedimentation basin. Sediment transport results indicate that the sedimentation basin contributes to downstream incision by capturing coarse bedload; this was corroborated with field measurement of stream bed material and cross section measurements.

• A series of drop structures ranging in height from (0.3 to 1.25 m) are in place on the upstream reaches of Upper Penitencia Creek. Modeling results indicate that these structures aid in the stability of the upstream reaches.

A summary table of the comparative analysis is provided in Table 7.1.

	Berryessa Creek	Upper Penitencia Creek
Basin characteristics		
	High sediment supply	Lower sediment supply
	Ephemeral flows result in sparse vegetation Bed material consists of	Upstream reservoir and natural springs provide continous baseflow resulting in abundant riparian vegetation
	heterogeneous mix of sand, gravel, and cobbles	Bed material consists of primarily cobbles and gravels
	Generally unstable	Generally stable
Urbanization		
	Drainage area capture resulting from the storm sewer network	Drainage area reduction resulting from the storm sewer network
	Engineered structures promote local sedimentation and downstream instability	Engineered structures promote upstream channel stability
	No flow diversion	Flow diversion of runoff to off- channel percolation ponds
	Watershed urban land use 14% (85% urban in valley)	Watershed urban land use 7% (76 % urban in valley)
	48% increase in water yield from historic conditions	7 % increase in water yield from historic conditions
	Increase in sediment yield due to urban flow regime (range 9 to 61%)	Decrease in sediment yield resulting from urban flow regime (range 4 to 8 %)
	Change in historic flow regime results in channel instability	Channel stability is un-affected by urban flow regime
Subsidence		
	0.23 m base-level drop at outlet of study area	1.11 m base-level drop at outlet of study area
	Subsidence effects are small relative to urbanization effects	Isolated channel instability due to subsidence and channel re- alignment

### Table 7.1Summary of comparative watershed analysis.

- 2. Investigate the relative effects of drainage area manipulation via the storm sewer network, increased imperviousness due to urbanization infill and flow diversion on typical storm hydrographs. The effects of the urban hydrologic changes on water yield, sediment yield, and channel stability will be quantified via numerical modeling for both streams.
  - Results indicate that the hydrologic regimes Upper Penitencia and Berryessa Creek have encountered distinctly different alterations from the construction of the urban storm sewer network and off-channel percolation ponds.
  - Flood peaks (47%) and volumes (37%) have been magnified on Berryessa
     Creek due to drainage area capture alone. Flood peaks (77%) and volumes
     (66%) have been increased from historic non-urbanized conditions at the outlet location of the study site.
  - At the downstream outlet the specific water yield for a series of typical yearly storm events increased from 31.2 to 46.1 (1000m<sup>3</sup>/km<sup>2</sup>), a 48% increase, due to drainage area capture and urban land use change. If drainage area capture were not considered the net increase in water yield due to urban land use change would only be 13%.
  - Model results for Upper Penitencia Creek at the downstream outlet location (Berryessa Industrial Park) show a 23% net decrease in flood peak and a 19% net decrease in flood volume due to flow diversion and

topographic drainage area reduction. Modeling results indicate that in the current hydrologic regime the flood peak has decreased 12% and flood volume has increased 9% at the basin outlet compared to historic conditions. Without drainage area and flow diversion modification flood peaks (15%) and volumes (29%) would have increased due to watershed imperviousness.

- Specific water yield analysis indicates that the existing urban flow regime produces 7% more water than historic conditions at the gaging outlet, an increase from 64.3 to 68.6 (1000m<sup>3</sup>/km<sup>2</sup>). However if drainage area reduction and flow diversion were not present in this system, modeling results indicate that there would be a 28% increase in water yield at the outlet from historic conditions (64.3 to 82.2 1000m<sup>3</sup>/km<sup>2</sup>). This indicates that the water diversion and drainage area reduction effectively off-set the effects of urban land use change on the flow regime in Upper Penitencia Creek.
- These hydrologic changes have resulted in channel instability and increased sediment yield on Berryessa Creek validate by sediment transport modeling. Predicted increases in sediment yield range from 9 to 61%. Hydrologic changes transformed historically depositional reaches into incising reaches.
- The morphologic effects of the urban flow regime on Upper Penitencia Creek have been minimal. Sediment transport models predict a decrease in

sediment yield ranging from 1 to 8 % depending on the modeling scenario. The urban flow regime has a minimal effect on channel stability as flow diversion to the percolation ponds is off-set by increased water yield from the impervious areas.

- 3. Investigate the effect of valley subsidence on channel stability and sediment yield for both streams using numerical modeling, historic data sources and field observations.
  - Valley subsidence can be expected to induce channel incision in both streams due to increases in channel slope. Berryessa Creek experienced 0.23 m of base-level drop and the GSTARS models predict channel incision will reach a maximum of 0.27 m approximately 500 m upstream of the outlet location. Upper Penitencia Creek experienced 1.11 m of base-level drop at the outlet location and the GSTARS models predict channel incision will reach a maximum of 0.64 m approximately 1800 m upstream of the outlet location. GSTARS modeling results predict minimal changes in sediment yield for both streams due to the subsidence. A 0.3% increase is predicted for Berryessa Creek and a 0.5% decrease is predicted for Upper Penitencia Creek. The SIAM models predict an 11% increase in sediment yield for Berryessa Creek and a 4% increase for Upper Penitencia Creek.
  - Results of the subsidence modeling and analysis of reach scale unit stream power changes coupled with historic longitudinal profile data and field

observations indicate that valley subsidence and channel straightening in the vicinity of I-680 have resulted in increased stream power upstream of I-680. The combination of the subsidence and channel re-alignment are likely the primary causes of localized reach scale channel instability observed upstream of I-680 on Upper Penitencia Creek.

• Presently observed subsidence effects on Berryessa Creek are more ambiguous due to other processes affecting channel stability, namely flow and sediment regime alteration, after the subsidence drawdown period.

In summary hydrologic and river engineering infrastructure changes to Berryessa Creek have adversely affected channel stability. The instability is system-wide within the valley portion of the watershed. This instability was documented with field measurements and observations. Valley subsidence and local channel straightening have resulted in reach scale channel instability on Upper Penitencia Creek. This was documented with historic longitudinal profile data and current field measurements and channel observations. The urban hydrologic regime and river infrastructure have not negatively affected channel stability, particularly in the upstream reaches.

#### 7.2 UNIQUE CONTRIBUTIONS PROVIDED BY THIS RESEARCH

1. The hydrologic effects of watershed urbanization have been well documented in previous studies; however these studies typically document a change in impervious land cover within a fixed catchment area and the subsequent effects of this land use change on the hydrologic regime. This study is unique, in that it documents changes in the watershed structure due to drainage area capture via the constructed storm sewer network as an added component of watershed urbanization. The hydrologic and morphologic implications of the drainage area capture were quantified via numerical modeling for two adjacent watersheds with opposing tendencies with respect to this driving variable.

- 2. The effects of valley subsidence on channel form and process have been studied conceptually and in flume studies, however little research has been conducted on field documented channel response to valley subsidence. This study couples historical research, field data collection, and numerical modeling to document the effects of valley subsidence on channel stability and sediment yield.
- 3. An extensive field monitoring network and protocol for data collections, as well as a GIS based historical analysis have been established in two urban streams in the Santa Clara Valley region of California. Long-term monitoring (more than 10 years) of the monumented cross sections and longitudinal profiles will provide valuable information on channel response to urbanization, valley subsidence and river infrastructure changes.

#### 7.3 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

- The cross section resurveys should be continued by SCVWD or other research staff on an annual or at least a biennial basis to continue to document channel change over a longer time scale.
- 2. Similar data sets should be collected by SCVWD or other research staff to develop a regional database that can be used for stream restoration design; it would be useful to collect data sets from differing hydrologic and hydraulic settings to investigate channel response under a variety of scenarios.
- 3. A centralized database should be developed in the area archiving both current field measurements as well as historic data sources and that dataset be made available to the scientific and restoration design community to inform future research and restoration design in the region.

#### **8.0 REFERENCES**

- Ackers, P. and White, W.R. (1973). Sediment transport: a new approach and analysis. Journal of Hydraulic Division, ASCE, 99(11): 2041-2060.
- Alonzo, C.V. (1980). Selecting a formula to estimate sediment transport capacity in nonvegetated channels. In: CREAMS (A field scale model for Chemicals, Runoff, and Erosion from Agricultural Management System) (Knisel, W.G. Ed.), USDA, Conservation Research Report no. 26.
- Anderson, D.G. (1968). Effects of urban development on floods in northern Virginia. U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 2001-C, 22 pp.
- Annable, W.K. (1996). Morphologic relationships of rural watercourses in Southern Ontario and selected field methods in fluvial geomorphology. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, ISBN 0-7778-5113-X, 92 pp.
- Arcement, G.J. and Schneider, V.R. (1989). Guide for selecting Manning's roughness coefficients for natural channels and flood plains. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2339, 38 pp.
- Begin, Z.B., Meyer, D.F., and Schumm, S.A. (1981). Development of longitudinal profiles in response to base-level lowering. *Earth Surfaces Processes and Landforms*, 6:49-68.
- Bledsoe, B.P. and Watson, C.C. (2001). Effects of urbanization on channel instability. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 37:255-270.
- Booth, D.B. (1990). Stream channel incision following drainage basin urbanization. *Water Resources Bulletin*, 26(3):407-417.
- Booth, D.B. and Henshaw, P.C. (2000). Rates of channel erosion in small urban streams. In: <u>Influence of Urban and Forest Land Use on the Hydrologic-Geomorphic</u> <u>Responses of Watersheds</u> (Wigmosta M.S., Ed.), AGU monograph series, Water Science and Applications 2:17-38.
- Booth, D.B. and Jackson, C.R. (1997). Urbanization of aquatic systems-degradation thresholds, storm water detention, and the limits of mitigation. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 33(5):1077-1090.
- Booth, D.B., Karr, J.R., Schauman, S., Konrad, C.P., Morley, S.A., Larson, M.G., and Burges, S.J. (2004). Reviving urban streams: Land use, hydrology, biology, and human behavior. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association.*, 40(5):1351-1364.

- Brookes, A. (1988). <u>Channelized Rivers: Perspectives for Environmental Management</u>. Chichester: Wiley and Sons.
- Byrom, J.S. and Lahm, T. (2004). Assessment of the hydrological effects of urbanization on the lower Alum Creek watershed within the Delaware and Franklin counties of Ohio. *Ohio Journal of Science*, 104(1):A-37.
- Carter, R.W. (1961). Magnitude and frequency of floods in suburban areas. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 424-b.
- Chin, A. and Gregory, K.J. (2001). Urbanization and adjustment of ephemeral stream channels. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 91(4):595-608.
- Church, M., McLean, D.G., and Walcott, J.F. (1987). River bed gravels: sampling and analysis. In: <u>Sediment Transport in Gravel-Bed Rivers</u>. (Thorne, C.R., Bathurst, J.C., and Hey, R.D., Eds.), John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, pp. 43-88.
- Clark, J.J. and Wilcock, P.R. (2000). Effects of land-use on channel morphology in northeastern Puerto Rico. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 112(12):1763-1777.
- Cowan, W.L. (1956). Estimating hydraulic roughness coefficients. *Agricultural Engineering*, 37(7):473-475.
- DeWalle, D.R., Swistock, B.R., Johnson, T.E., and McGuire, K.J. (2000). Potential effects of climate change and urbanization on mean annual streamflow in the United States. *Water Resources Research*, 36(9):2655-2664.
- Diplas, P. and Fripp, J. (1992). Properties of various sediment sampling procedures. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering, 118(7):955-970.
- Doyle, M.W., Harbor, J.M., Rich, C.F., and Spacie, A. (2000). Examining the effects of urbanization on streams using indicators of geomorphic stability. *Physical Geography*. 21(2): 155-181.
- Dunne, T. and Leopold, L.B. (1978). <u>Water in Environmental Planning</u>. W.H. Freeman and Company, 818 pp.
- Engelund, F. and Hansen, E. (1972). A monograph on sediment transport in alluvial streams. Teknish Forlag, Technical Press, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Espey, W.H., Morgan, C.W., and Masch, F.D. (1966). Study of some effects of urbanization on storm runoff from a small watershed, Texas Water Development Board Report 23, 109 pp.

Exner, F.M. (1920). Zur Physik der Dunen, Sitzber. Akad. Wiss Wien, Part IIa, Bd. 129.

- Exner, F.M. (1925). Uber die Wechselwirkung zwischen Wasser und Geschiebe in Flussen, Sitzber. Akad. Wiss Wien, Part IIa, Bd. 134.
- (FISRWG). (1998). Stream Corridor Restoration: Principles, Processes, and Practices. By the Federal Interagency Stream Restoration Working Group (FISRWG)(15 Federal agencies of the U.S. government), GPO Item No. 0120-A; SuDocs No. A 57.6/2:EN 3/PT.653. ISBN-0-934213-59-3.
- Freeman, P.L. and Schorr, M.S. (2004). Influence of watershed urbanization on fine sediment and macro invertebrate assemblage characteristics in Tennessee ridge and valley streams. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 19(3):353-362.
- Galloway, D., Jones, D.R., and Ingebritsen, S.E. (1999). Land subsidence in the United States. U.S. Geological. Survey Circular 1182, 177 pp.
- Garcia, C.C. (1995). Torrential flow frequency and morphological adjustment of ephemeral channels in southeast Spain. In: <u>River Geomorphology</u> (Hickin, E.J., ed.), Chichester: Wiley and Sons, Chichester, pp. 170-192.
- Grable, J.L. and Harden, C.P. (2006). Geomorphic response of an Appalachian Valley and Ridge stream to urbanization. *Earth Surfaces Processes and Landforms*, 31:1707-1720.
- Graf, W.L. (1975). The impact of suburbanization on Fluvial Geomorphology. *Water Resources Research*, 11(5):690-692.
- Graf, W.L. (1983). Variability of sediment removal in a semiarid watershed. Water Resources Research, 19:643-652.
- Gregory, K.J., Davis, R.J., and Downs, P.J. (1992). Identification of river channel change due to urbanization. *Applied Geography*, 12:299-318.
- Gomez, B. and Church, M. (1989). An assessment of bedload sediment transport formulae for gravel bed rivers. *Water Resources Research*, 25:1161-1186.
- Hammer, T.R. (1972). Stream channel enlargement due to urbanization. *Water Resources Research*, 8(6):139-167.
- HR Wallingford (1990). Sediment transport, the Ackers and White theory revised. Report SR237, HR Wallingford, England.
- Hollis, G.E. (1975). The effect of urbanization on floods of different recurrence intervals. *Water Resources Research*, 11(3):431-435.
- Hollis, G.E. and Luckett, J.K. (1976). The response of natural river channels to urbanization: two case studies from Southeast England. *Journal of Hydrology*, 30:351-363.
- Huang, J.V. and Griemann, B. (2007). User's Manual for GSTAR-1D V 2.0 Beta 2 (Generalized Sediment Transport for Alluvial Rivers-One Dimension. Version 2.0 Beta 2). Bureau of Reclamation, Technical Service Center, Sedimentation and River Hydraulics Group, Denver, CO. 82 pp.
- Hydrologic Engineering Center (HEC) (2001). Hydrologic Model System: HEC-HMS User's manual, Version 2.1. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Davis, CA., 186 pp.
- Hydrologic Engineering Center (HEC). (2002). HEC-RAS: River Analysis System User's manual, Version 3.1. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Davis, CA. 420 pp.
- (ISO) (1977). Liquid flow measurement in open channels-bed material sampling. *(International Organization of Standardization)*, Publication ISO 4364: 1977(E): 380-392.
- Jorgensen, D.W. (1990). Adjustment of alluvial river morphology and process to localized active tectonics. Unpublished PhD dissertation, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, 240 pp.
- Julien, P. Y. (1994). Erosion and Sedimentation. Cambridge Univ. Press. 280 pp.
- Konrad, C.P. and Booth, D.B. (2005). Effects of urban development in the Puget Lowland, Washington, on interannual streamflow patterns: Consequences for channel form and streambed disturbance. *Water Resources Research*, 41(7), WY07009.
- Konrad, C.P. and Booth, D.B. (2002). Hydrologic trends associated with urban development in western Washington streams. U.S. Geological Survey Water Resources Investigation Report, 02-4040, 40 pp.
- Knighton, D.K. (1998). <u>Fluvial Forms and Processes: A New Perspective</u>. John Wiley and Sons, New York, 383 pp.
- Lane, E.W. (1955). The importance of fluvial geomorphology in hydraulic engineering, *Proceedings of the ASCE*, 81:1-17.
- Langbein, W.B. and Leopold, L.B. (1966). River meanders-theory of minimum variance. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 422-H, 15 pp.
- Laursen, E.M. (1958). The total sediment load of streams. *Journal of Hydraulic Division*, *ASCE*, 84(1):1531-1536.

- Leopold, L.B. (1968). Hydrology for Urban Planning-A guidebook on the hydrologic effects of urban land use. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 554, 18 pp.
- Leopold, L.B. (1973). River channel change with time: An example. Bull. Geol. Soc. of America, 84: 845-860.
- Leopold, L.B. (1994). <u>A View of the River.</u> Harvard University Press, Cambridge, 298 pp.
- Leopold, L.B. and Miller, J.P. (1956). Ephemeral streams-Hydraulic factors and their relation to the drainage net. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 282-A, 36 pp.
- Leopold, L.B., Wolman, M.G., and Miller, J.P. (1964). <u>Fluvial Processes in</u> <u>Geomorphology</u>. Freeman, San Francisco, CA. 522 pp.
- Lerner, D.N. (1986). Leaking pipes recharge groundwater. Ground Water, 24(5):654-662.
- Lerner, D.N. (2002). Identifying and quantifying urban recharge: A review. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 10:143-152.
- Mackin, J.H. (1948). Concept of the graded river. Bulletin of the Geological Society of America, 59: 463-512.
- Martens, L.A. (1966). Flood inundation and effects of urbanization in metropolitan Charlotte North Carolina, U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, 54 pp.
- Meyer, S.C. (2005). Analysis of base flow trends in urban streams, northeastern Illinois, USA. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 13:871-885.
- Meyer-Peter, E. and Muller, R. (1948). Formula for bed-load transport. Proceedings of the International Association for Hydraulic Research, 2<sup>nd</sup> meeting, Stockholm, pp. 39-64.
- Mooney, D.M. (2006). SIAM, Sediment impact analysis methods, for evaluating sedimentation causes and effects. *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> Federal Interagency Sedimentation Conference*, ISBN 0-09779007-1-1.
- Mooney, D. (2007). SIAM-Sediment Impact Analysis Methods. Unpublished PhD dissertation, Colorado State University. Fort Collins, CO.
- Morgan, A., Branfireun, B., Csillag, F. (2004) An evaluation of the contributions of urbanization and climatic change to runoff characteristics in the Laurel Creek watershed, Ontario. *Canadian Water Resources Journal*, 29(3): 171-182

- Morisawa, M. and Laflure, E. (1979). Hydraulic geometry, stream equilibrium and urbanization. In: <u>Adjustments of the Fluvial System</u> (Rhodes, D.D., and Williams, G.P., Eds.), Kendall-Hunt, Dubuque, IA, pp. 330-350.
- Morley, S.A. and Karr, J.R. (2002). Assessing and restoring the health of urban streams in the Puget Sound Basin. *Conservation Biology*, 16(6):1498-1509.
- Neller, R.J. (1988). A comparison of channel erosion in small urban and rural catchments, Armidale, New South Wales. *Earth Surfaces Processes and Landforms*, 13:1-7.
- Nelson, E.J. and Booth, D.B. (2002). Sediment sources in an urbanizing, mixed land-use watershed. *Journal of Hydrology*, 264:51-68.
- Ouchi, S. (1983). Response of alluvial rivers to slow active tectonic movement. Unpublished PhD dissertation, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, 205 pp.
- Ouchi, S. (1985). Response of alluvial rivers to slow active tectonic movement. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 96:504-515.
- Ourso, R.T. and Frenzel, S.A. (2003). Identification of linear and threshold responses in streams along a gradient of urbanization in Anchorage, Alaska, *Hydrobiologia*, 501(1-3):117-131.
- Parker, G. (1990). Surface based bedload transport for gravel rivers. *Journal of Hydraulic Research*, 28(4):417-436.
- Parker, G.P., Klingeman, P.C. McLlea, D.G. (1982). Bedload and size distribution in paved gravel-bed streams. *Journal of the Hydaulic Division, ASCE*, 108:544-571.
- Paul, M.J. and Meyer, J.L. (2001). Streams in the urban landscape. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 32:333-365.
- Pizzuto, J.E., Hession, W.C., and McBride, M. (2000). Comparing gravel-bed rivers in paired urban and rural catchments of southeastern Pennsylvania. *Geology*, 28(1):79-82.
- Poland, J.F. (1976). Land subsidence stopped by artesian head recovery. *Int.Assoc.Hydrol. Sci.*,121:124-132.
- Poland, J.F. and Ireland, R.L. (1988). Land subsidence in the Santa Clara Valley, California as of 1982. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 497-F. 61 pp.
- Rawls, W.J., Brakensiek, D.L., and Saxton, K.E. (1982). Estimation of soil water properties. Transactions American Society of Agricultural Engineers, 25(5):1316-1320.

- Rhoads, B.L. (1988). Mutual adjustments between process and form in a desert mountain fluvial system. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 78:271-287.
- Roberts, C.R. (1989). Flood frequency and urban-induced channel change: some British examples. In: <u>Floods: hydrological, sedimentological and geomorphological</u> <u>implications.</u> (Beven, K.J. and Carling, P.A., Eds.), Wiley, Chichester, pp. 57-82.
- Rose, S. and Peters, N.E. (2001). Effects of urbanization on streamflow in the Atlanta area (Georgia, USA): A comparative hydrological approach. *Hydrological Processes*, 15: 1441-1457.
- Rosgen, D.L. (2001). A practical method of computing stream bank erosion rate. Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> Federal Interagency Sedimentation Conference, March 24-29, Reno Nevada.
- Santa Clara County Flood Control and Water District (SCCFCWD). (1967). Report on Channel Improvements on Berryessa and Tularcitos Creeks, Zone E-1, Projects 40017 and 40040.
- Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD) (2004). http://www.valleywater.org/.
- Sawyer, R.M. (1963). Effect of urbanization on storm discharge and ground-water recharge in Nassau County, New York. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 475-C, pp. 185-187.
- Schick, A.P., Grodek, T., and Wolman, M.G. (1999). Hydrologic processes and geomorphic constraints of alluvial fan slopes. *Geomorphology*. 31:325-335.
- Schueler, T. (1994). The importance of imperviousness. *Watershed Protection Techniques*, 1(3): 100-111.
- Schueler, T. and Galli, J. (1992). Environmental impacts of stormwater ponds. In: <u>Watershed Restoration Source Book</u>, Anacostia Restoration Team, Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC, 242 pp.
- Schumm, S. A., Harvey, M.D., and Watson, C.C. (1984). <u>Incised Channels Morphology</u> <u>Dynamics and Control</u>. Water Resources Publications.
- Schumm, S.A. and Galay, V.J. (1994). The River Nile in Egypt. In Schumm, S.A. and Winkley, B.R.(eds.) *The variability of large alluvial rivers*. ASCE Press, NY, pp 75-100.
- Schumm, S.A., Dumont, J.F., and Holbrook, J.M. (2000). <u>Active Tectonics and Alluvial</u> <u>Rivers.</u> Cambridge Univ. Press, 276 pp.

- Shields, F.D., Copeland, R.C., Klingeman, P.C., Doyle, M.W., and Simon, A. (2003). Design for stream restoration. *Journal of Hydraulic Engineering*, 129(8):575-583.
- Simmons, D.L. and Reynolds, R.J. (1982). Effects of urbanization on base flow of selected south-shore streams, Long Island, New York. *Water Resources Bulletin*, 18:797-805.
- Steedman, R.J. (1988). Modification and assessment of an index of biotic integrity to quantify stream quality in southern Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 45:492-501.
- Tolman, C.F. and Poland, J.F. (1940). Ground-water, salt-water infiltration, and groundsurface recession in Santa Clara Valley, Santa Clara County, CA. *American Geophysical Union Transactions*, 25:23-35.
- Trimble, S.W. (1981). Changes in sediment storage in the Coon Creek basin, driftless area, Wisconsin, 1853 to 1975, *Science, 214*:181-183.
- Trimble, S.W. (1997). Contribution of stream channel erosion to sediment yield from an urbanizing watershed. *Science*, 278:1442-1444.
- United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). (1993). Coyote and Berryessa Creeks, California Berryessa Creek General Design Memorandum.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) (1974). <u>Soil Survey of Eastern Santa</u> <u>Clara Area, California.</u> Soil Conservation Service, USDA, Washington, DC, 90 pp.
- United States Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service (USDA-SCS) (1985). Floodplain Management Study Upper Penitencia Creek Watershed Santa Clara County, CA.
- Wang, L.Z. and Kanehl, P. (2003). Influences of watershed urbanization and instream habitat on macroinvertebrates in cold water streams, *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 39:1181-1196.
- Wang, L.Z., Lyons, J., Kanehl P., Bannerman, R., and Emmons, E. (2000). Watershed urbanization and changes in fish communities in southeastern Wisconsin streams, *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 36:1173-1189.
- Wang, L.Z., Lyons J., Kanehl, P., and Bannerman, R. (2001). Impacts of urbanization on stream habitat and fish across multiple spatial scales. *Environmental Management*, 28(2):255-266.
- White, M.D. and Greer, K.A. (2006). The effects of watershed urbanization on the stream hydrology and riparian vegetation of Los Penasquitos Creek, California. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 74(2):125-138.

- Wilcock, P.R. and Crowe, J.C. (2003). Surface-based transport model for mixed-size sediment. *Journal of Hydraulic Engineering, ASCE*, 129(2):120-128.
- Whitlow, J.R. and Gregory, K.J. (1989). Changes in urban stream channels in Zimbabwe. *Regulated Rivers: Research and Management*, 4:27-42.
- Wiitala, S.W. (1961). Some aspects of the effect of urban and suburban development upon runoff, U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, 28 pp.
- Williams, G.P. (1986). River meanders and channel size. *Journal of Hydrology*, 88: 147-164.
- Williams, G.P. (1978). Bank-full discharge of rivers. *Water Resources Research*, 14(6):1141-1154.
- Wilson, K.V. (1966). Flood frequency of streams in Jackson, MS., U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, 6 pp.
- Wolman, M.G. (1954). A method of sampling coarse-river bed material, *Transactions of the AGU*, 35(6): 951-956.
- Wolman, M.G. (1967). A cycle of sedimentation and erosion in urban river channels. *Geografiska Annaler*, 49A:385-395.
- Wolman, M.G. and Gerson, R. (1978). Relative scales of time and effectiveness of climate in watershed geomorphology. *Earth Surface Processes*, 3:189-208.
- Wu, W., Wang, S.S.Y., and Jia, Y. (2000). Nonuniform sediment transport in alluvial rivers. Journal of Hydraulic Research, 38(6):427-434.
- Yang, C.T. (1973). Incipient motion and sediment transport. *Journal of the Hydraulic Division ASCE*, 99(10): 1679-1704.
- Yang, C.T. (1976). Minimum unit stream power and fluvial hydraulics. *Journal of the Hydraulic Division ASCE*, 108(HY7): 919-934.
- Yang, C.T. (1984). Unit stream power for gravel. Journal of the Hydraulic Division ASCE, 110(12):1783-1797.

## APPENDIX A

Bankfull cross section data

XS ID	XS Type	Local slope	Station	BF area	BF stage	BF width	Max BF depth	Avg. BF depth	Width/depth
		(m/m)	(m)	(m²)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	
2	Riffle	0.065	2298	1.61	77.19	4.50	0.52	0.36	12.62
4	Riffle	0.078	2192	1.83	72.76	4.28	0.64	0.42	10.10
5a	Bend	0.033	1997	2.84	68.36	6.28	0.69	0.44	14.50
5b	Bend	0.033	1988	2.45	67.97	6.19	0.72	0.38	16.53
5c	Bend	0.033	1982	2.54	67.69	5.22	0.76	0.46	12.06
6a	Bend	0.029	1948	1.49	66.64	4.06	0.56	0.35	11.72
6b	Bend	0.029	1940	2.04	66.60	4.31	0.78	0.45	9.98
6c	Bend	0.029	1932	2.48	66.37	4.84	0.78	0.48	10.86
7	Riffle	0.019	1912	1.53	65.68	4.11	0.61	0.35	11.62
8	Headcut_US	0.028	1808	2.07	61.17	4.18	0.76	0.47	9.36
9	Headcut_DS	0.007	1798	1.71	60.93	3.59	0.75	0.46	8.55
10	Headcut_US	0.007	1778	1.85	60.59	4.76	0.68	0.37	13.90
11	Headcut_DS	0.006	1768	1.61	60.22	4.47	0.60	0.36	12.61
12a	Bend	0.013	1447	1.29	55.51	4.25	0.43	0.29	14.51
12b	Bend	0.013	1436	1.20	55.39	4.73	0.40	0.24	22.04
12c	Bend	0.013	1431	1.43	55.43	5.52	0.51	0.25	22.57
14	Riffle	0.005	1321	1.10	53.50	3.97	0.47	0.27	14.99
15a	Bend	0.016	1265	1.18	52.49	3.80	0.58	0.31	12.24
15b	Bend	0.016	1254	1.97	52.42	5.47	0.56	0.36	15.42
15c	Bend	0.016	1247	1.81	52.24	5.05	0.53	0.36	14.12
16a	Bend	0.005	1168	1.09	50.54	2.87	0.58	0.37	7.92
16b	Bend	0.005	1157	0.98	50.48	2.48	0.73	0.38	6.59
16c	Bend	0.005	1153	1.39	50.56	2.68	0.92	0.49	5.50
16-2a	Bend	0.008	1108	1.54	49.69	3.88	0.74	0.39	9.98
16-2b	Bend	0.008	1103	2.25	49.76	4.28	0.87	0.52	8.32
16-2c	Bend	0.008	1099	1.85	49.68	3.41	0.89	0.54	6.30
17a	Bend	0.014	1095	1.62	49.56	3.71	0.71	0.43	8.87
17b	Bend	0.014	1091	1.40	49.37	3.69	0.52	0.37	10.77
17c	Bend	0.014	1087	1.45	49.38	3.35	0.67	0.43	8.00
19	Riffle	0.016	1039	1.42	48.53	4.10	0.51	0.34	12.33
20	Riffle	0.015	924	0.99	46.62	2.77	0.51	0.34	8.39

Berryessa Creek 3 year average ban	kfull channel characteristics.
------------------------------------	--------------------------------

XS ID	XS Type	Local slope	Station	BF area	BF stage	BF width	Max BF depth	Avg. BF depth	Width/depth
		(m/m)	(m)	(m²)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	
21a	Bend	0.015	776	1.19	44.37	2.60	0.58	0.45	6.30
21b	Bend	0.015	773	1.22	44.28	2.38	0.69	0.49	5.56
21c	Bend	0.015	769	1.13	44.21	2.78	0.57	0.40	7.21
23	Riffle	0.010	610	2.15	42.29	4.18	0.66	0.46	9.20
24a	Bend	0.014	583	1.65	41.83	3.63	0.59	0.44	9.00
24b	Bend	0.014	577	1. <b>45</b>	41.70	3.59	0.52	0.38	10.05
24c	Bend	0.014	570	1.69	41.63	4.46	0.57	0.36	12.78
25	Riffle	0.006	526	1.41	41.15	3.20	0.58	0.43	8.05
26a	Bend	0.010	504	1.51	40.89	4.53	0.49	0.33	14.46
26b	Bend	0.010	498	1.51	40.90	4.03	0.60	0.38	11.35
26c	Bend	0.010	492	1.51	40.79	4.33	0.51	0.35	12.78
27a	Bend	0.011	357	3.15	39.11	7.48	0.63	0.40	20.84
27b	Bend	0.011	353	3.56	39.22	6.52	0.89	0.54	12.13
27c	Bend	0.011	349	2.37	39.06	5.96	0.80	0.38	18.77
28	Headcut_US	0.005	263	2.28	38.31	6.13	0.64	0.36	17.07
29	Headcut_DS	0.004	243	2.47	37.61	3.46	1.13	0.65	4.99

\*BF=bankfull stage values

XS ID	XS Type	Local slope	Station	BF area	BF stage	BF width	Max BF depth	Avg. BF depth	Width/depth
		(m/m)	(m)	(m²)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	
1	Headcut US	0.027	5988	4.76	82.20	10.44	0.45	0.74	22.97
2	Headcut DS	0.010	5973	3.68	82.00	7.23	0.49	0.87	14.70
3	Riffle	0.010	5919	4.17	80.88	9.14	0.45	0.63	20.78
4-a	Bend	0.007	5797	3.85	78.99	7.21	0.52	0.90	14.61
4-b	Bend	0.007	5792	4.10	78.92	7.91	0.50	0.68	17.31
4-c	Bend	0.007	5787	4.59	78.78	9.18	0.48	0.70	20.08
5	Riffle	0.009	5699	3.43	77.61	5.46	0.61	0.93	9.71
6	Riffle	0.002	5394	4.93	72.25	7.66	0.64	0.98	14.19
7	Riffle	0.004	5348	5.96	71.77	11.01	0.54	0.7 <b>2</b>	20.82
8-a	Bend	0.006	5203	7.18	70.10	11.51	0.60	0.96	19.66
8-b	Bend	0.006	5198	6.16	70.06	10.13	0.59	1.00	17.38
8-c	Bend	0.006	5191	8.42	70.09	12.18	0.68	1.09	19.49
9-a	Bend	0.004	5054	5.75	68.21	8.81	0.65	1.15	13.69
9-b	Bend	0.004	5051	5.32	68.21	7.30	0.72	1.38	10.54
9-c	Bend	0.004	5048	5.82	68.14	8.58	0.67	1.19	13.31
10	Bend	0.018	4874	4.94	66.27	7.89	0.60	0.89	13.85
12-a	Bend	0.006	4758	3.74	64.73	8.87	0.43	0.79	21.15
12-b	Bend	0.006	4751	4.12	64.78	8.25	0.49	0.73	16.77
12-c	Bend	0.006	4745	3.69	64.63	8.00	0.46	0.71	18.91
13	Riffle	0.016	4284	4.03	58.69	6.61	0.60	0.85	11.26
14	Riffle	0.017	4048	4.52	56.06	7.51	0.59	0.93	12.98
15	Riffle	0.015	3733	3.64	53.33	7.35	0.48	0.66	16.80
16-a	Bend	0.028	3598	3.60	52.12	8.67	0.41	0.80	21.77
16-b	Bend	0.028	3590	4.73	52.17	8.64	0.54	0.89	16.19
16-c	Bend	0.028	3577	4.66	51.94	7.33	0.60	0.93	12.13
17-a	Bend	0.005	3112	4.47	46.80	6.81	0.64	0.85	11.03
17-b	Bend	0.005	3105	4.23	46.74	6.48	0.62	0.81	11.82
17-c	Bend	0.005	3102	5.29	46.80	6.96	0.73	1.01	11.22
18-a	Bend	0.010	2448	4.78	41.66	15.61	0.31	0.70	52.08
18-b	Bend	0.010	2437	5.27	41.57	10.83	0.46	0.93	23.76
18-c	Bend	0.010	2430	5.04	41.55	8.26	0.59	1.22	13.91

Upper Penitencia Creek bank	full channel characteristics.
-----------------------------	-------------------------------

XS ID	XS Type	Local slope	Station	BF area	BF stage	BF width	Max BF depth	Avg. BF depth	Width/depth
		(m/m)	(m)	(m²)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	
19	Riffle	0.010	2166	4.47	39.41	8.63	0.51	0.94	17.12
20	Riffle	0.009	1958	4.80	38.16	10.99	0.43	0.65	26.15
21-a	Bend	0.011	1346	5.05	33.24	7.55	0.65	0.88	11.73
21-b	Bend	0.011	1338	4.84	33.21	6.47	0.71	1.16	9.20
21-c	Bend	0.011	1325	6.32	33.29	9.93	0.62	0.96	16.85
22	Riffle	0.006	1141	3.52	31.83	6.22	0.57	0.87	11.18
23	Riffle	0.007	873	4.31	30.10	8.11	0.53	0.76	15.44
24-a	Bend	0.003	650	3.49	28.56	6.66	0.52	0.98	12.92
24-b	Bend	0.003	645	3.69	28.53	6.92	0.52	1.07	13.10
24-c	Bend	0.003	640	5.31	28.51	8.67	0.58	1.04	14.73
25	Riffle	0.010	445	3.21	26.77	6.41	0.50	0.75	13.05
26	Riffle	0.002	290	5.37	26.07	6.78	0.79	1.00	8.55

\*BF=bankfull stage values

.

## **APPENDIX B**

## 2004-2006 Cross Section Data





**B4** 

























**B10** 







B11































Station (m)









**B19** 



































B26c




















































































P17c





P18b









P21a



284

























## APPENDIX C Bed Material Summary Data

Aberbalon     Normal State     Second State     Bankbull     Dis     Dis <thdis< th="">     Dis     <thdis< th="">     D</thdis<></thdis<>			·			Pe	bble co	unt	1	Pavemen	t	Sub-pavement			
(m)     (m) <th>GCS</th> <th>Morphology</th> <th>Station</th> <th>Local slope</th> <th>Bankfull slope</th> <th>D16</th> <th>D50</th> <th>D84</th> <th>D16</th> <th>D50</th> <th>D84</th> <th>D16</th> <th>D50</th> <th>D84</th>	GCS	Morphology	Station	Local slope	Bankfull slope	D16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84	
2     Riffle     2288     0.065     0.028     0.2     5     45     17     64     109     1     10     42       4     Riffle     2192     0.078     0.028     0.6     25     64     24     144     305     1     5     15       5a     Bend     1997     0.033     0.028     X			(m)	(m/m)	(m/m)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	
4Riffle21920.0780.0280.625842414430515155aBend19970.0330.028xxx <td< td=""><td>2</td><td>Riffle</td><td>2298</td><td>0.065</td><td>0.028</td><td>0.2</td><td>5</td><td>45</td><td>17</td><td>64</td><td>109</td><td>1</td><td>10</td><td>42</td></td<>	2	Riffle	2298	0.065	0.028	0.2	5	45	17	64	109	1	10	42	
5aBend19970.0330.028xxx <td>4</td> <td>Riffle</td> <td>2192</td> <td>0.078</td> <td>0.028</td> <td>0.6</td> <td>25</td> <td>84</td> <td>24</td> <td>144</td> <td>305</td> <td>1</td> <td>5</td> <td>15</td>	4	Riffle	2192	0.078	0.028	0.6	25	84	24	144	305	1	5	15	
bb     Bend     1988     0.033     0.028     4.7     26     126     x	5a	Bend	1997	0.033	0.028	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
ScBend19820.0330.028xxx <td>5b</td> <td>Bend</td> <td>1988</td> <td>0.033</td> <td>0.028</td> <td>4.7</td> <td>26</td> <td>126</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td>	5b	Bend	1988	0.033	0.028	4.7	26	126	x	x	x	x	x	x	
Band19480.0290.028xx	5c	Bend	1982	0.033	0.028	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
Bend     1940     0.029     0.028     0.2     34     164     x	6a	Bend	1948	0.029	0.028	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
6c Bend 1932 0.029 0.028 x <td>6b</td> <td>Bend</td> <td>1940</td> <td>0.029</td> <td>0.028</td> <td>0.2</td> <td>34</td> <td>164</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td>	6b	Bend	1940	0.029	0.028	0.2	34	164	x	x	x	x	x	x	
7     Riffle Headcut Headcut     1912     0.019     0.028     0.2     20     142     5     45     136     1     4     191       8     US Headcut     1798     0.026     0.22     0.2     10     68     3     36     80     0.5     6     35       9     DS Headcut     1798     0.007     0.266     0.2     3     85     x	6c	Bend	1932	0.029	0.028	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
Headcut     Headcut     Headcut     Headcut     Headcut     Headcut     Ingg     0.026     0.2     10     68     3     36     80     0.5     6     35       10     US Headcut     1778     0.007     0.026     0.2     3     85     x	7	Riffle	1 <b>912</b>	0.019	0.028	0.2	20	142	5	45	136	1	4	19	
9     DS Headcut US Headcut     1798     0.007     0.026     0.2     21     88     x	8	Headcut_ US Headcut	1808	0.028	0.026	0.2	10	68	3	36	80	0.5	6	35	
Instruction     ITT8     0.007     0.026     0.2     3     85     x     x     x     x     x     x     x       11     DS     1768     0.006     0.026     0.2     9     61     17     80     165     1     8     25       12a     Bend     1447     0.013     0.015     x	9	DS	1798	0.007	0.026	0.2	21	88	x	x	x	x	x	x	
11     DS     1788     0.006     0.026     0.2     9     61     17     80     165     1     8     25       12a     Bend     1447     0.013     0.015     x	10	Headcut US Headcut	1778	0.007	0.026	0.2	3	85	x	x	x	x	x	x	
12aBend14470.0130.015xxx <td>11</td> <td>DS</td> <td>1768</td> <td>0.006</td> <td>0.026</td> <td>0.2</td> <td>9</td> <td>61</td> <td>17</td> <td>80</td> <td>165</td> <td>1</td> <td>8</td> <td>25</td>	11	DS	1768	0.006	0.026	0.2	9	61	17	80	165	1	8	25	
12bBend14360.0130.0150.2418xx	12a	Bend	1447	0.013	0.015	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	
12cBend14310.0130.015xxx <td>12b</td> <td>Bend</td> <td>1436</td> <td>0.013</td> <td>0.015</td> <td>0.2</td> <td>4</td> <td>18</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>x</td> <td>х</td>	12b	Bend	1436	0.013	0.015	0.2	4	18	x	x	x	x	x	х	
14Riffie13210.0050.0170.2112811127182315aBend12650.0160.017xx	12c	Bend	1431	0.013	0.015	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
15aBend12650.0160.017xxx </td <td>14</td> <td>Riffle</td> <td>1321</td> <td>0.005</td> <td>0.017</td> <td>0.2</td> <td>11</td> <td>28</td> <td>1</td> <td>11</td> <td>27</td> <td>1</td> <td>8</td> <td>23</td>	14	Riffle	1321	0.005	0.017	0.2	11	28	1	11	27	1	8	23	
15b   Bend   1254   0.016   0.017   0.1   6   26   x	1 <b>5a</b>	Bend	1265	0.016	0.017	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
15c   Bend   1247   0.016   0.017   x	15b	Bend	1254	0.016	0.017	0.1	6	26	x	x	x	x	x	x	
16a   Bend   1168   0.005   0.017   x	15c	Bend	1247	0.016	0.017	х	x	x	×	х	x	x	x	х	
16b   Bend   1157   0.005   0.017   0.1   1   18   x	16a	Bend	1168	0.005	0.017	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
16c   Bend   1153   0.005   0.017   x	16b	Bend	1157	0.005	0.017	0.1	1	18	x	x	x	x	x	x	
17a   Bend   1095   0.014   0.017   x	16c	Bend	1153	0.005	0.017	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
17b   Bend   1091   0.014   0.017   0.2   14   50   x	17a	Bend	1095	0.014	0.017	x	х	x	x	х	x	x	x	x	
17c   Bend   1087   0.014   0.017   x	1 <b>7b</b>	Bend	1091	0.014	0.017	0.2	14	50	x	x	×	x	x	x	
19   Riffle   1039   0.016   0.017   0.2   13   52   2   21   89   2   16   41     20   Riffle   924   0.015   0.017   0.2   9   56   x   <	17c	Bend	1087	0.014	0.017	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
20   Riffle   924   0.015   0.017   0.2   9   56   x	19	Riffle	1039	0.016	0.017	0.2	13	52	2	21	89	2	16	41	
21a   Bend   776   0.015   0.017   x	20	Riffle	924	0.015	0.017	0.2	9	56	x	x	x	x	x	x	
21b   Bend   773   0.015   0.017   0.1   10   29   x	21a	Bend	776	0.015	0.017	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
21c   Bend   769   0.015   0.017   x	21b	Bend	773	0.015	0.017	0.1	10	29	x	x	x	x	x	x	
23   Riffle   610   0.010   0.012   0.6   12   48   x	210	Bend	769	0.015	0.017	x	X	x	x	х	x	x	x	x	
24a   Bend   583   0.014   0.012   x	23	Riffle	610	0.010	0.012	0.6	12	48	x	x	x	x	x	x	
240   Bend   577   0.014   0.012   0.1   6   20   x	24a	Bend	583	0.014	0.012	x	x	x	×	x	x	×	x	X	
24c   Bend   570   0.014   0.012   x	240	Bend	5//	0.014	0.012	0.1	6	20	x	x	x	x	x	×	
25 Kille 526 0.000 0.012 0.1 9 21 4 41 148 1 9 38   26a Bend 504 0.010 0.012 x <	240	Bend	5/0	0.014	0.012	X	×	X 21	×	X 41	X 140	X 4	x	X	
Zoa     Dend     504     0.010     0.012     x	20 26-	Rime	526	0.006	0.012	0.1	у	21	4	41	148	1	9	38	
200 Deniu 498 U.U.U U.U.Z U.Z IO 33 X X X X X X X X	20a 26⊨	Bend	504	0.010	0.012	x	X 15	x	x	x	x	x	×	X	
	200	Bend	498	0.010	0.012	0.2	15	33	x	x	x	x	X	X	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	200	Bend	492	0.010	0.012	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	х 	×	
27b Bend 353 0.011 0.012 0.1 10 24 Y Y Y Y Y	27a 27h	Bend	353	0.011	0.012	0 1	10	^ 24	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	×	

## Berryessa Creek Bed Material Data

•

					Pe	bble cou	unt	F	Pavemen	t	Sub-pavement		
GCS	Morphology	Station	Local slope	Bankfull slope	D16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84
27c	Bend Headcut	349	0.011	0.012	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
28	US Headout	263	0.005	0.012	0.1	6	19	×	x	×	x	x	x
29	DS	243	0.004	0.012	0.1	8	18	2	12	47	3	32	88

	Morphology	River station	Local slope	Bankfull Slope	Pebble count			Pave	ment sa	mples	Sub-pavement samples		
GCS					<u>D</u> 16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84
		(m)	(m/m)	(m/m)	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm
1	Headcut_US	5988	0.027	0.014	0.1	14	45	153	275	395	3	27	81
2	Headcut_DS	5973	0.010	0.014	0.1	1	91	153	275	395	3	27	81
3	RIFFLE	5919	0.010	0.014	0.1	1	41	15	81	177	3	40	225
4-A	BEND	5797	0.007	0.014	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
4-B	BEND	5792	0.007	0.014	0.4	11	62	x	x	x	х	x	x
4-C	BEND	5787	0,007	0.014	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x
5	RIFFLE	5699	0.009	0.014	0.1	9	90	27	131	268	2	11	40
6	RIFFLE	5394	0.002	0.014	0.1	1	92						
7	RIFFLE	5348	0.004	0.014	0.1	8	64	21	101	215	3	31	136
8-A	BEND	5203	0.006	0.014	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	x
8-B	BEND	5198	0.006	0.014	0.1	10	41	x	x	x	x	x	x
8-C	BEND	5191	0.006	0.014	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x
9-A	BEND	5054	0.004	0.014	x	x	x	х	x	x	x	х	x
9-B	BEND	5051	0.004	0.014	0.1	1	55	х	x	х	x	х	x
9-C	BEND	5048	0.004	0.014	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
10	RIFFLE	4874	0.018	0.014	1.2	34	144	x	x	x	x	х	x
12-A	BEND	4758	0.006	0.014	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	х	x
12-B	BEND	4751	0.006	0.014	0.2	10	110	х	x	x	x	x	x
12-C	BEND	4745	0.006	0.014	x	x	x	х	x	x	x	x	x
13	RIFFLE	4284	0.016	0.014	0.1	11	133	х	x	х	x	х	х
14	RIFFLE	4048	0.017	0.014	0.1	10	135	14	74	137	3	23	92
15	RIFFLE	3733	0.015	0.011	0.2	28	83	х	х	х	x	х	x
16-A	BEND	3598	0.028	0.011	x	x	x	х	х	x	x	х	x
16-B	BEND	3590	0.028	0.011	0.2	18	92	х	x	x	x	х	x
16-C	BEND	3577	0.028	0.011	x	x	x	х	x	х	x	x	x
17-A	BEND	3112	0.005	0.011	х	x	x	x	х	х	x	х	х
17-B	BEND	3105	0.005	0.011	0.1	18	87	x	х	x	x	x	х
17-C	BEND	3102	0.005	0.011	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x
18-A	BEND	2448	0.010	0.0074	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	x	х
18- <b>B</b>	BEND	2437	0.010	0.0074	0.1	7	40	x	x	x	x	x	х
18-C	BEND	2430	0.010	0.0074	х	x	x	x	х	х	x	x	х
19	RIFFLE	2166	0.010	0.0074	0.1	1	51	10	70	130	2	14	52
20	RIFFLE	1958	0.009	0.0074	0.1	16	50	15	71	138	2	17	48
21-A	BEND	1346	0.011	0.0068	x	x	x	x	х	x	x	x	х
21-B	BEND	1338	0.011	0.0068	0.1	17	70	x	x	x	x	x	x
21-C	BEND	1325	0.011	0.0068	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
22	RIFFLE	1141	0.006	0.0068	0.1	16	60	x	x	×	x	x	x
23	RIFFLE	873	0.007	0.0068	0.1	22	60	10	59	109	2	13	44
24-A	BEND	650	0.003	0.0068	х	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	x
24-B	BEND	645	0.003	0.0068	0.1	11	64	x	x	x	x	x	x
24-C	BEND	640	0.003	0.0068	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
25	RIFFLE	445	0.010	0.0068	0.2	21	66	18	66	109	3	21	52

## Upper Penitencia Creek Bed Material Summary Data

	Morphology			Bankfull Slope	Pebble count_			Pavement samples			Sub-pavement samples		
GCS		River station	Local slope		D16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84	D16	D50	D84
		(m)	(m/m)	(m/m)	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm	mm	m	mm
26	RIFFLE	290	0.002	0.0068	0.1	13	40	x	x	x	x	x	x

•